The University of Maine DigitalCommons@UMaine

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Fogler Library

Summer 8-19-2022

Genetic Determinants of Primary Nociceptor Sensitivity in Drosophila melanogaster

Christine Hale University of Maine, cmhale@outlook.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/etd

Part of the Behavioral Neurobiology Commons, Genetics Commons, and the Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience Commons

Recommended Citation

Hale, Christine, "Genetic Determinants of Primary Nociceptor Sensitivity in Drosophila melanogaster" (2022). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 3655. https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/etd/3655

This Open-Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@UMaine. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UMaine. For more information, please contact um.library.technical.services@maine.edu.

GENETIC DETERMINANTS OF PRIMARY NOCICEPTOR SENSITIVITY

IN DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER

By

Christine Hale

A.S. Jackson State Community College, 2015

B.S. University of Tennessee at Chattanooga, 2017

A DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

(in Biomedical Science)

The Graduate School

The University of Maine

August 2022

Advisory Committee:

Geoffrey Ganter, University of New England, Advisor

Ian Meng, University of New England, Committee Chair

Kristy Townsend, The Ohio State University

Vicki Losick, Boston College

Robert Burgess, The Jackson Laboratory

Copyright 2022 Christine Hale All Rights Reserved

GENETIC DETERMINANTS OF PRIMARY NOCICEPTOR SENSITIVITY IN DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER

By Christine Hale Dissertation Advisor: Dr. Geoffrey Ganter

An Abstract of the Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (in Biomedical Science) August 2022

Abnormal pain affects ~50 million adults nationwide. With many of the current treatment options for chronic pain, such as opioid analgesics, carrying side effects such as the threat for addiction, research into safer and more effective options for chronic pain relief is crucial. Abnormal alterations in nociceptive sensitivity, which is the sensitivity of peripheral sensory neurons that detect noxious stimuli, can underlie and perpetuate chronic pain. However, much is still unknown about the mechanism of how these abnormal alterations in sensitivity occur. To help elucidate genetic components controlling nociceptive sensitivity, the Drosophila melanogaster larval nociception model has been used to characterize well-conserved pathways through the use of genetic modification and/or ultraviolet (UV) irradiation injury to alter the sensitivity of experimental animals. We have continued to build upon this knowledge to reveal a more complete system for how nociceptive sensitivity can be altered, even without injury, by investigation into the potential roles of other novel genes/signaling pathways including, Arm, a component within the Wnt/Wg signaling pathway. Our findings indicate Arm to be a facilitator in controlling nociceptive sensitivity in the absence of injury, by maintaining baseline sensitivity. In an effort to also explore the mechanisms of the primary nociceptors (nociceptors which directly detect noxious stimuli), we conducted bioinformatic analysis of RNA transcripts derived specifically from the nociceptors of larvae after UV injury. Results from this effort led to the discovery of a downregulation in serine proteases during peak allodynia (when something not normally noxious

becomes so) development. Results also led to the hypothesis that upregulated *Rgk1* and *AnxB11* were involved in recovery of the nociceptor from hyperalgesia. This was supported by the knockdown of Rgk1 and AnxB11 having led to nociceptor hypersensitivity in larvae. And in an effort to move the methodology of our field forward, and because the larval stages of fruit fly development are relatively brief, we developed a methodology that allows longer term experimentation of nociceptive sensitization after injury in adult fruit flies. Ultimately, our research uncovered components involved in nociceptive sensitivity, which will hopefully lead to uncovering better treatment options for abnormal pain in the future.

DEDICATION

In loving memory of my father, R.P. Hale.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the GI lab team first and foremost, both past and present, for all of their help, support, and contributions to this research. I would like to thank the University of Maine GSBSE program for giving me the opportunity to pursue my dream of earning a doctoral degree and I would also like to thank our colleagues at the University of New England who helped largely contribute to my growth and overall experience as a PhD student. I would like to thank each of my dissertation committee members: Dr. Ganter, Dr. Meng, Dr. Townsend, Dr. Losick, and Dr. Burgess, for their guidance and advice in the pursuit of shaping me into a better scientist. I also want to particularly thank my mentor, Dr. Geoffrey Ganter, for taking a chance on me and welcoming me into their lab and my committee chair, Dr. Ian Meng, who helped make that chance possible. I am very grateful to have had this experience. And in my personal life, I would like to thank my family who have believed in me and emotionally supported me in so many ways.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
LIST OF TABLES xi
LIST OF FIGURES xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxiv
Chapter
1. INTRODUCTION TO CHRONIC PAIN, NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIZATION, AND THE DROSOPHILA
MELANOGASTER MODEL FOR CHRONIC PAIN INVESTIGATION
1.1 Introduction and statement of significance1
1.2 Chronic pain definition and terminology2
1.2.1 Chronic pain definition2
1.2.2 Chronic pain etiology and sub-classifications3
1.2.3 Nociplastic pain5
1.3 Mental health impacts of chronic pain6
1.4 Pain pathways in humans7
1.4.1 Overview of the pain pathway in humans7
1.4.2 Peripheral nervous system sensitization10
1.4.3 Descending system of endogenous pain modulation12
1.5 Treatment options for pain relief14
1.5.1 Overview of pain relief treatment options14

1.5.2 Opioid side effects and addiction crisis	15
1.6 Drosophila melanogaster as a research model in pain research	17
1.6.1 <i>Drosophila melanogaster</i> pain research contribution	17
1.6.1.1 Drosophila melanogaster cellular signaling pathways uncovered in regulation of	
nociceptive sensitivity	19
1.6.2 Drosophila melanogaster nociceptive signaling neuroanatomy and sensitization	25
1.6.3 "Do fruit flies feel pain?" and Drosophila melanogaster neuropharmacology	
1.7 Gaps in knowledge and purpose of research	32
2. INVESTIGATION OF THE REGULATION OF NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIVITY WITHOUT INJURY:	
ARMADILLO REGULATES NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIVITY IN THE ABSENCE OF INJURY	40
2.1 Abstract	40
2.2 Introduction/Relevant Background	41
2.2.1 Chronic pain and the Drosophila melanogaster nociceptive sensitization model	41
2.2.2 Wnt/Wg β -catenin/Armadillo signaling and mammalian pain models	44
2.2.3 Aims of this study	46
2.3 Methods	47
2.3.1 Fly husbandry	47
2.3.2 Ultraviolet-C irradiation injury	48
2.3.3 Thermal nociception assays	49
2.3.4 Immunohistochemistry	49
2.3.5 Imaging and CTCF Analysis	50

2.3.6 Neuromorphometry	52
2.3.7 Statistics	53
2.4 Results	54
2.4.1 Arm underexpression within nociceptors	54
2.4.2 Arm overexpression via arm.S2	56
2.4.3 Arm overexpression via arm.S10	57
2.4.4 Arm influence on nociceptor morphology	57
2.4.5 Gro underexpression within nociceptors	58
2.4.6 Gish over- and under- expression in the nociceptors	58
2.5 Discussion	59
2.6 Acknowledgements	65
2.6.1 General acknowledgements	65
2.6.2 Acknowledgements in contribution of data acquisition and writing	66
3. INVESTIGATION OF NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIZATION AND ITS RECOVERY AFTER UV INJURY:	
BIOINFORMATIC ANALYSIS OF NOCICEPTOR SPECIFIC RNA SEQUENCING DATA FROM A VALIDATED	
DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER LARVAL UV INJURY MODEL	87
3.1 Introduction/Relevant Background	87
3.1.1 Aims of this study	90
3.2 Methods	91
3.2.1 Fly husbandry	91
3.2.2 Preparation of larvae for ribotag immunoprecipitation and RNA isolation	91

3.2.3 Ribotag immunoprecipitation and isolation of nociceptor RNA followed by	
TRAP-sequencing	92
3.2.4 Differential expression and pathway analysis of TRAP-seq counts files	93
3.2.5 Larval thermal nociception assay using computer-controlled infrared diode laser	96
3.1.6 Nociception assay statistics	96
3.3 Results	97
3.3.1 TRAP-sequencing of larval nociceptors after UV injury results in differential expression of	
genes	97
3.3.2. Gene ontology and pathway enrichment analysis of nociceptor differentially expressed	
genes	99
3.3.3 Knockdown of Rgk1 or AnxB11 results in behavioral hypersensitivity	. 101
3.4 Discussion	. 102
3.4.1 Bioinformatic Analysis of nociceptor mRNA from UV injured larvae	. 102
3.4.1.1 Significantly downregulated genes 24 hrs. after UV injury indicate a downregulation	
in proteolysis within the nociceptors	. 102
3.4.1.2 Significantly upregulated genes 24 hours after UV injury indicate an increase in	
nociceptor plasma membrane ion channel activity	. 104
3.4.2 Rgk1 or AnxB11 knockdown results in genetic induced thermal hyperalgesia in	
Drosophila larvae	107
3.5 Conclusion	. 108
3.6 Acknowledgements in contribution to data acquisition and writing	. 108

4. INVESTIGATION OF NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIZATION AFTER UV INJURY IN AN ADULT DROSOPHILA
MELANOGASTER MODEL: ADULT DROSOPHILA INFRARED THERMONOCICEPTION ASSAY AND UV
INJURY-INDUCED NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIZATION
4.1 Abstract
4.2 Introduction
4.3 Materials and methods126
4.3.1 Fly husbandry126
4.3.2 Ultraviolet C (UVC) irradiation injury127
4.3.3 Infrared thermonociception assay128
4.3.4 Optogenetic blue light stimulation assay128
4.3.5 Fluorescent immunohistochemistry129
4.3.6 Statistics
4.4 Results
4.5 Discussion131
4.6 Acknowledgements134
4.6.1 General acknowledgements134
4.6.2 Acknowledgements in contribution of data acquisition and writing
5. OVERALL DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS
5.1 Brief summary of overall findings140
5.2 Future directions and closing statement143
BIBLIOGRAPHY

APPENDICES	
APPENDIX 1	
APPENDIX 2	
APPENDIX 3	
BIOGRAPHY OF THE AUTHOR	

LIST OF TABLES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Nociceptive sensitization is the first step in the pain signaling pathway	35
Figure 1.2 Drosophila larvae and adult escape response to a noxious thermal stimulus	36
Figure 1.3 Schematic of Gal4/UAS system for tissue specific expression of transgene	37
Figure 1.4 Cellular signaling pathways known or hypothesized to be involved in Drosophila	
nociceptive sensitivity regulation	38
Figure 1.5 Purpose of research	39
Figure 2.1 Cellular Roles of Armadillo	67
Figure 2.2 Larval thermal nociception assay and MiMIC imaging.	68
Figure 2.3 Knockdown of Arm within the nociceptors results in behavioral hyposensitivity	69
Figure 2.4 Overexpression of Arm via arm.S2 within nociceptors results in behavioral	
hypersensitivity	72
Figure 2.5 Overexpression of Arm via arm.S10 within nociceptors results in behavioral	
hypersensitivity	75
Figure 2.6 Neuromorphometric analysis of nociceptors with Arm knockdown shows no effect on	
dendritic morphology	77
Figure 2.7 Neuromorphometric analysis of nociceptors expressing arm.S10 shows no effect on	
dendritic morphology	79
Figure 2.8 Gro (Groucho) is a transcriptional repressor in the Wnt/Wg pathway, downstream	
of Arm	81
Figure 2.9 Knockdown of Gro within nociceptors does not alter behavioral sensitivity	82
Figure 2.10 Gish overexpression results in behavioral hypersensitivity and Gish underexpression	
leads to mixed results	85
Figure 3.1 Hypersensitivity timeline after UV injury for third instar Drosophila larvae.	109

Figure 3.2 Translating Ribosomal Affinity Purification (TRAP)- isolation of nociceptor	
RNA workflow.	110
Figure 3.3 Pairwise scatterplots reveal intra/inter sample relationships	111
Figure 3.4 Dispersion and histogram plots before and after thresholding of low counts for noise	
reduction	112
Figure 3.5 Analysis of normalization of gene count data across all samples and Principal	
Component Analysis (PCA) of sample relationship post DESeq2 normalization in R	113
Figure 3.6 Nociceptor translatome 24 hours after UV injury results in differentially	
expressed genes	114
Figure 3.7 Gene Ontology (GO) terms and pathways found for the genes significantly	
downregulated in the nociceptor RNA sequencing dataset 24 hours after UV injury	116
Figure 3.8 ShinyGO interaction network between Gene Ontology (GO) terms and pathways	
enrichment terms for the genes significantly downregulated in the nociceptor RNA	
sequencing dataset 24 hours after UV injury	117
Figure 3.9 DESeq2 output for upregulated genes of interest	118
Figure 3.10 Illustration of Rgk1 and AnxB11 hypothetical mechanism of recovery from nociceptive	
sensitization.	120
Figure 3.11 Knockdown of Rgk1 and AnxB11 with larval nociceptors results in thermal	
hypersensitivity	121
Figure 4.1 Acute thermal nociception assay	136
Figure 4.2 Jump response can be inhibited by tetanus toxin.	137
Figure 4.3 Jump response can be activated by Channelrhodopsin.	138
Figure 4.4 Demonstration of injury-induced sensitization	139
Figure 5.1 Alternative roles for Arm in nociceptive sensitivity regulation	146

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

1°Ab = Primary antibody

ANKTM1= Ankyrin-like with transmembrane domains protein 1

AnxB11= Annexin B11

Arm= Armadillo

Arr= Arrow

ASIC1= Acid-Sensing Ion Channel 1

 $A\delta = A$ -Delta fibers

BMP= Bone Morphogenetic Protein

BP= Biological Process

Brk= Brinker

- BSA= Bovine Serum Albumin
- C2da= Class II Dendrite Arborization Neurons
- C4da/CIVda= Class IV Dendrite Arborization Neurons
- CB₁= Cannabinoid Receptor Type 1
- CB₂= Cannabinoid Receptor Type 2
- CC= Cellular Component
- CGRP= Calcitonin Gene Related Peptide
- ChR2= Channelrhodopsin-2
- CK1γ1= Casein Kinase 1 Gamma 1
- CIC-3 = Chloride Voltage-gated Channel 3

CIC-c= Chloride Channel-C

CNS= Central Nervous System

COX= Cyclooxygenase

CTCF= Corrected Total Cell Fluorescence
DAPI= 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DAVID= The Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery
DEG= Differentially Expressed Genes
DEG/ENaC= Degenerin Epithelial Sodium Channel
DP-ilp7= Dorsal Pair Insulin Peptide 7 Neurons
Dpp= Decapentaplegic
DRG= Dorsal Root Ganglia
DSHB= Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank
dTk= <i>Drosophila</i> Tachykinin
DTKR= Drosophila Tachykinin Receptor
dTrpA1= Drosophila Transient Receptor Cation Channel A1
EcRA= Ecdysone Receptor A
Eip63E= Ecdysone-induced Protein 63E
FDR= False-Discovery Rate
GABA= γ-aminobutyric acid
GEM= GTP binding protein overexpressed in skeletal muscle
GFP= Green Fluorescent Protein
Gish= Gilgamesh
GO= Gene Ontology
GOrilla= Gene Ontology Enrichment Analysis and Visualization Tool
GPCR= G-protein coupled receptor
Gro= Groucho
GTP= Guanosine Triphosphate

Hh= Hedgehog

HyD= Hybrid Detector

IASP= International Association for the Study of Pain

ICD-11= International Classification of Diseases 11

IR= Inverted Repeat transgene (RNA interference technology)

KEGG= Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes

LRP 5/6= Lipoprotein Receptor-related Protein 5 and 6

Mad= Mothers Against Dpp

mCSIs= Class IV Dendritic Arborization Second Order Interneurons

Md= Multidendritic

Med= Medea

MF= Molecular Function

MiMIC= Minos Mediated Integration Cassette

mRNA= Messenger RNA

NA= Numerical Aperture

NGF= Nerve Growth Factor

NGS= Normal Goat Serum

NIGMS= National Institute of General Medicine Sciences

NIH= National Institutes of Health

NMJ= Neuromuscular Junction

ns= Not Significant

NSAIDs= Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs

OE= Overexpression

OTC= Over The Counter

p adj= Adjusted p value PAG= Periaqueductal Grey Pain= Painless PAR2= Proteinase-Activated Receptor 2 PBS= Phosphate Buffered Saline PBST= Phosphate Buffered Saline and Triton-X PCA= Principal Components Analysis Plot PNS= Peripheral Nervous System Ppk= Pickpocket Rem= RRAD and Gem Like GTPase RGK= Rad, Gem/Kir family proteins Rgk1= Rad, Gem/Kir family member 1 RNAi= RNA interference technology RNA= ribonucleic acid **ROI=** Region of Interest RpL10Ab= Ribosomal Protein L10Ab **RT= Room Temperature** Seq= sequencing (high-throughput sequencing of RNA) Shn= Schnurri Sna= Segmental Nerve A tdTomato= Tandem Dimer Tomato TeTxLC= Tetanus Toxin Light Chain TG= Trigeminal Ganglia

TGF- β = Transforming Growth Factor Beta

TNF= Tumor Necrosis Factor TNF-α= Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha TNT= Tetanus Toxin TRAP= Translating Ribosome Affinity Purification TRiP= Transgenic RNAi Project **TRP=** Transient Receptor Potential TRPA1= Transient Receptor Potential Cation Channel A1 TRPM8= Transient Receptor Potential Cation Channel Subfamily M Member 8 TRPV1= Transient Receptor Potential Cation Subfamily V Member 1 UAS= Upstream Activation Sequence UV= Ultraviolet *v* = Vermilion VNC= Ventral Nerve Cord w = White Wg= Wingless y = yellow

CHAPTER 1

1. INTRODUCTION TO CHRONIC PAIN, NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIZATION, AND THE *DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER* MODEL FOR CHRONIC PAIN INVESTIGATION

1.1 Introduction and statement of significance

Chronic pain has been estimated to affect ~50 million adults nationwide (Dahlhamer et al., 2018; Yong et al., 2021, 2022; Zelaya et al., 2020), and while we have effective drugs for treating acute pain (such as opioids) these drugs can come with dangerous side effects (including addiction) which has led to the opioid addiction crisis we are currently battling in the US (Benyamin et al., 2008; Buntin-Mushock et al., 2005; Christie, 2008; Eddy et al., 1959; Groenewald et al., 2019; Hay et al., 2009; Vowles et al., 2015). This crisis is also acutely felt here in Maine, where a recent annual report from the Office of the Attorney General in Maine indicated a record increase in overdose deaths in 2020 with 23% of those overdose deaths due to pharmaceutical opioids (Sorg, 2021). Given the scope of this problem, investigation into better drug targets for treating pain is crucial. Despite this need, successful drug development for chronic pain has been laborious, mostly due to a lack of understanding of the multifaceted mechanisms of chronic pain development and the numerous different pathological manifestations that can result (Kosek et al., 2016; Price et al., 2018; Treede et al., 2019). Included in this lack of understanding are the mechanisms involved in nociceptor sensitization, the sensitivity of peripheral sensory neurons known to detect noxious stimuli, which is involved in the pain signaling pathway and known to underlie and perpetuate chronic pain development (Reichling & Levine, 2009). In an effort to combat the opioid crisis with the discovery of new drug targets, the Drosophila melanogaster nociception behavioral model has proven for almost two decades to be both beneficial and translatable in the discovery of genetic components involved in nociceptor sensitivity (Im & Galko, 2012; Khuong & Neely, 2013; Tracey Jr et al., 2003). However, even with the previous discoveries made,

there is still a lack of understanding of the mechanisms involved in all aspects of nociceptive sensitivity: baseline regulation of nociceptive sensitivity, nociceptive sensitization after injury, and recovery of the primary nociceptor from sensitization after injury. By building upon prior research, we believe that further investigation into each of these processes regulating nociceptive sensitivity in different conditions will provide a better understanding of nociceptive sensitivity and provide new drug targets for chronic pain drug formulation in the future. In particular, we hypothesize that by focusing on investigating genetic targets translatable to humans, we may uncover a foundational basis for which further mammalian investigation may be beneficial for pain drug development.

1.2 Chronic pain definition and terminology

1.2.1 Chronic pain definition

Pain after injury is a beneficial biological process to the body of an organism, as it aids in protection. Pain alerts us to the potential threat of danger and guides us in protecting and seeking treatment for our injuries so that they may heal. However, when pain persists or recurs after normal healing, a period of time equal to or greater than three months, the pain is then considered "chronic" (Treede et al., 2015, 2019). This is the part of the definition of chronic pain that was outlined within the recent International Classification of Diseases-11 (ICD-11) in partnership with the classifications that were also described through thorough analysis from the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) (Treede et al., 2015, 2019). Once considered only a symptom of disease and injury, some chronic pain disorders, such as those categorized as chronic primary pain, have now been proposed to be seen as physical disorders that stand on their own (Kosek et al., 2021; Nicholas et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2019). For many forms of chronic pain, a known disease or injury can be pinpointed as the trigger for development, but sometimes the trigger is unknown (Kosek et al., 2021; Nicholas et al., 2019). Also included within the definition for pain, and thus chronic pain, is the detail that pain can also be a source of great emotional distress, and this can negatively affect the quality of life for those burdened by it (Costanza et al., 2021; Rao et al., 2022). Not included in the definition, however, is the reality that chronic pain is also a huge economic burden on the individual, their families, employer, and community (Gaskin & Richard, 2012). As stated previously, chronic pain has been estimated to affect ~50 million adults nationwide (Dahlhamer et al., 2018; Yong et al., 2021, 2022; Zelaya et al., 2020). In regard to financial impact, a recent analysis carried out on the prevalence of chronic pain within the United States suggested the loss in wages due to chronic pain to be ~\$79.9 billion when using 2019 average hourly wage data (Yong et al., 2022). Taken together, chronic pain is not just defined by medical terminology for physiological attributes but also by this multilayered social and economic burden that includes concerns of physical, mental, and financial well-being affecting not just the individual but also their surrounding community.

1.2.2 Chronic pain etiology and sub-classifications

As our knowledge of chronic pain and its differences to acute pain have grown, the definition and classification of the term has evolved in hopes of better representing the clinical manifestations of chronic pain so that those afflicted may be better diagnosed and treated properly (Treede et al., 2019). Though all chronic pain is now defined as pain which occurs/recurs for at least 3 months, the ICD-11 has subcategorized seven groups for chronic pain: chronic primary pain, chronic cancer pain, chronic postsurgical and posttraumatic pain, chronic neuropathic pain, chronic secondary headache and orofacial pain, chronic secondary visceral pain, and chronic secondary musculoskeletal pain (Aziz et al., 2019; Bennett et al., 2019; Benoliel et al., 2019; Nicholas et al., 2019; Perrot et al., 2019; Scholz et al., 2019; Schug et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2015). In providing a brief description of these subcategories, primary pain is perhaps the vaguest. Primary pain is described as pain that occurs in at least one bodily

region and that it cannot be better explained by another known chronic pain condition (Nicholas et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2015). Primary pain, like other pain categories can cause disability or distress and examples include conditions with elusive etiology such as fibromyalgia and unexplained back pain (Nicholas et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2015). For the benefit of describing different treatment guidelines, chronic cancer pain has been recently introduced as a subcategory to the ICD-11 and is defined as pain caused by cancer or its subsequent treatment (Bennett et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2015). Chronic postsurgical and posttraumatic pain is detailed as persistent pain occurring after either surgery, such as mastectomy, or bodily trauma, such as severe burn injuries, and can also not be better classified by another chronic pain subclassification (Schug et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2015). For the diagnosis of chronic neuropathic pain, the pain must be caused by an abnormality within the somatosensory nervous system and for definitive diagnosis, involve clarification of the nervous system abnormality through diagnostic measures (e.g., imaging, biopsy, sensory tests) (Scholz et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2015). Chronic neuropathic pain is also known to cause the classic chronic pain symptoms of allodynia and/or hyperalgesia, which are an abnormally painful response to a normally non-noxious stimulus and the heightened response to an already known noxious stimulus, respectively (Scholz et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2015). Chronic secondary headache and orofacial pain that is not better classified under chronic primary pain is described as persistent headaches and orofacial pain stemming from known factors, such as pharmacological withdrawal or dental decay (Benoliel et al., 2019). Chronic secondary headache and orofacial pain also occurs for at least half of the days, for a duration of 2 hours or more a day, during a three-month time frame (Benoliel et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2015). Chronic secondary visceral pain, that is not better classified under chronic primary pain, has been defined by the ICD-11 as pain stemming from the internal organs with mostly known cause, such as ulcerative colitis, and mostly presents as referred somatic pain of known patterns (Aziz et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2015). And finally, chronic secondary musculoskeletal pain that is not better categorized as primary pain is defined as pain that

originates within the musculoskeletal tissues due to known underlying disease and is characterized strictly as nociceptive pain and not referred visceral or neuropathic pain (Perrot et al., 2019; Treede et al., 2015). Some examples of chronic secondary musculoskeletal pain are musculoskeletal pain stemming from autoimmune disorders, spondylosis, or osteoarthritis (Perrot et al., 2019).

1.2.3 Nociplastic pain

A new term used in the description of primary pain in the ICD-11, one which could eventually become important to those investigating nociceptor sensitivity and its involvement in the development and perpetuation of chronic pain in the absence of injury, is nociplastic pain (Kosek et al., 2021; Kosek et al., 2016; Nicholas et al., 2019). The new term arose from the observation that though nociceptive and neuropathic pain are typically regarded as separate, there is some overlap between the two and that overlap may warrant use of its own terminology due to potential differences in treatment (Kosek et al., 2016). In detail, neuropathic pain originates out of injury or disease to the nervous system itself, and nociceptive pain originates from injury to the body outside of the nervous system, which in turn activates the nociceptors (sensory neurons that detect noxious stimuli) (Kosek et al., 2016; Scholz et al., 2019). In comparison, the description of nociplastic pain has been proposed to be used when there is pain originating from abnormal alteration in the sensitivity mechanism of the nociceptors, resulting in symptoms such as hyperalgesia and allodynia, yet there is not an identifiable injury or disease of the somatosensory system or bodily tissue (Kosek et al., 2021; Kosek et al., 2016; Nicholas et al., 2019). Examples of diseases in which the nociplastic pain descriptor are thought to be applicable and beneficial include primary pain syndromes such as: chronic widespread pain, fibromyalgia, and complex regional pain syndrome (type 1) (Kosek et al., 2021; Kosek et al., 2016; Nicholas et al., 2019). It is important to note, however, that the use of this new descriptor is still relatively new and there is still some confusion by the research community as to where and if it can be used as a descriptor of pain (Cohen, 2022; Kosek

et al., 2021; Nijs et al., 2021). For example, the criteria outlined does not account for hyposensitivity, which can also be a dysregulation seen in the nociceptors with some pathologies (Clark et al., 2019; Fairburn et al., 2022; Kosek et al., 2021; Nijs et al., 2021). Nonetheless, the term nociplastic pain, once fine-tuned, may serve to become a central descriptor for some distinct types of pain involving abnormal nociceptor sensitivity in the future.

1.3 Mental health impacts of chronic pain

As stated previously, pain is a beneficial mechanism for the survival of organisms that experience it, yet its psychological effect on the individual can be quite distressing and disabling. The emotional distress from the perception of pain becomes prolonged for an individual in chronic pain conditions. Secondary emotional and psychological effects such as depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation have been known to increase in manifestation in chronic pain patients when compared to the general population or have been known to be observed concomitantly (Costanza et al., 2021; Gallagher et al., 1995; Narita et al., 2006; Okifuji & Benham, 2011; Racine, 2018). Risk of attempt for suicide and completed death by suicide was also found in one review as being at least doubled for those suffering from chronic pain conditions when compared to the general population (Hitchcock et al., 1994; Magni et al., 1998; Tang & Crane, 2006). A recent study (Costanza et al., 2021) involving a cohort of chronic pain patients within a pain center in Switzerland found that a described psychological construct used in assessing risk for suicide, known as "meaning in life (MiL)" (Frankl, 1985; Heisel & Flett, 2016), may be eroded in individuals experiencing chronic pain. Other epidemiological studies have found that even after factoring in affecting variables such as sociodemographic characteristics or previously diagnosed psychiatric disorders, that there is a substantial increase in those suffering from chronic pain conditions and their risk of suicidal ideation or attempt (Braden & Sullivan, 2008; Racine, 2018; Ratcliffe et al., 2008). Apart from the distress stemming from the perception of continuous pain itself, distress in the

form of anxiety or depression may also arise due to factors surrounding chronic pain. These factors can include financial burden of continuous healthcare costs in treating chronic pain and/or loss of work, the burden of undesirable side effects from chronic pain treatment such as addiction, and societal aspects such as cultural stigmatization and/or the burden taken on by loved ones and the surrounding community (Christie, 2008; Costanza et al., 2021; Gaskin & Richard, 2012; Goldberg & McGee, 2011; Hay et al., 2009; Rao et al., 2022; Treede et al., 2019; Vowles et al., 2015; Yong et al., 2022).

1.4 Pain pathways in humans

1.4.1 Overview of the pain pathway in humans

A critical step in understanding the best way to treat chronic pain, which could be described as irregular or abnormal pain, is to first understand the anatomy and physiology of the pain pathway when it is functioning under normal conditions in humans. The first step in the pain processing pathway begins with the detection of a noxious stimulus by primary nociceptors which are found in the peripheral nervous system (PNS) and are specialized sensory neurons with free nerve endings extended into the periphery (Bessou & Perl, 1969; Burgess & Perl, 1967; Sherrington, 1903; Woolf & Ma, 2007). Cell bodies of the nociceptors are found in the dorsal root ganglia (DRG) or the trigeminal root ganglia (TG) (Woolf & Ma, 2007). Nociceptors are comprised of three key classes: those activated by either thermal or mechanical stimuli, which are two different classes but both comprised as the endings of myelinated Aδ axons, and those which are polymodal, meaning they are activated by thermal, mechanical, and/or chemical, and they are the ends of unmyelinated C-fiber axons (Bessou & Perl, 1969; Burgess & Perl, 1967; Cain et al., 2001; Kandel, 2013; Koltzenburg et al., 1997; Smith & Lewin, 2009; Woolf & Ma, 2007). There is also a fourth, more puzzling class of nociceptors found mostly within the viscera and deep bodily tissues which are activated by inflammation and chemical stimuli and are called the silent or sleeping nociceptors (Häbler et al., 1990; Kandel, 2013; Prato et al., 2017; Schmidt et al., 1995). The

stimuli that activate the nociceptors do so by stimulating associated ion channels found on the nociceptor cell membrane (Cesare & McNaughton, 1996; Giniatullin, 2020; Kandel, 2013). Examples of the ion channels include the large family of transient receptor potential (TRP) ion channels which can individually detect noxious heat, cold, or chemical stimuli, and potentially mechanosensitive ion channels such as the Piezo channels (Bandell et al., 2004; Caterina et al., 2000; Coste et al., 2010; Davis et al., 2000; Dhaka et al., 2007; Giniatullin, 2020; Kandel, 2013; Woolf & Ma, 2007). With enough activation of these ion channels leading to production of a sufficient depolarizing current, an action potential results and travels down the length of the nociceptive sensory neuron axon, ending with neurotransmitter release, such as glutamate (the primary neurotransmitter of the primary sensory neurons of humans) or neuropeptides such as substance P and calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP), in the axon's terminating region (Figure 1.1) (Basbaum et al., 2009; Kandel, 2013; Liu et al., 1997; Y. Liu et al., 2010; Nagy & Hunt, 1983; Woolf & Ma, 2007; Zhang et al., 2001). For those nociceptors whose cell bodies are found within the DRG, their axons terminate within the dorsal horn of the spinal cord and synapse onto second order neurons in a highly specific manner based on the type of axon fiber (Aδ or C) (Bridgestock & Rae, 2013; Christensen & Perl, 1970; Joseph et al., 2010; Kandel, 2013; Light et al., 1979; Nagy & Hunt, 1983; Réthelyi et al., 1982; Woolf & Ma, 2007). For Aδ fibers, these axons terminate in lamina I, II, and V, and for C fibers, these axons terminate in lamina I and II of the spinal cord dorsal horn (Basbaum et al., 2009; Bridgestock & Rae, 2013; Christensen & Perl, 1970; Dhaka et al., 2008; Hunt & Rossi, 1985; Kandel, 2013; Light et al., 1979; Nagy & Hunt, 1983; Ritz & Greenspan, 1985; Réthelyi et al., 1982; Sugiura et al., 1986; Woolf et al., 1992). Neurons whose cell bodies are found within the laminae of the spinal cord and which respond to and communicate nociceptive information include neurons found within laminae I, II, V, VII, and VIII (Braz et al., 2005; Cervero, 1984; Fernandes et al., 2016; Fields et al., 1995; Fields et al., 1975; Kandel, 2013; Molinari, 1982; Nagy & Hunt, 1983; Ritz & Greenspan, 1985; Réthelyi et al., 1982; Sandkühler et al., 1993; Todd, 2010; Toyooka et al., 1978).

Nociceptive information received in the spinal cord is then transmitted for further processing in the central nervous system (CNS) via five different ascending pathways: the spinoreticular, spinomesencephalic, cervicothalamic, spinohypothalamic, and the spinothalamic tract, which is a primary focus within the pain pathway (Braz et al., 2009; Burstein et al., 1990; Chen & Pan, 2002; Dado et al., 1994; Diaz & Morales, 2016; Giesler et al., 1994; Kajander & Giesler Jr, 1987; Kandel, 2013; Menétrey et al., 1980; Menétrey et al., 1982; Svendsen et al., 2010). In regard to processing of nociceptive signals in the forebrain, there are two networks which are emphasized, the lateral and medial networks, which are included in some of these ascending tracts which relay information to the cerebral cortex (Albe-Fessar et al., 1985; Kandel, 2013; Nicholls et al., 2001; Spreafico et al., 1981; Tracey, 2005). The lateral network includes lateral thalamic nuclei and primary and secondary somatosensory cortices and receives information mainly from laminae I and V of the dorsal horn (Ab Aziz & Ahmad, 2006; Albe-Fessar et al., 1985; Andersson et al., 1997; Casey et al., 1994; Kandel, 2013; Kenshalo et al., 1980; Kenshalo Jr & Isensee, 1983; Mazzola et al., 2006; Nicholls et al., 2001; Stevens et al., 1993; Talbot et al., 1991; Willis et al., 1979). The medial network includes nuclei within the medial thalamus and insular, anterior cingulate, and prefrontal cortices and receives information within dorsal horn mainly from laminae VII and VIII (Ab Aziz & Ahmad, 2006; Casey et al., 1994; Dougherty et al., 2008; Kandel, 2013; Nicholls et al., 2001; Peyron et al., 1999; Rainville et al., 1997; Talbot et al., 1991; Willis et al., 1979). The lateral network is generally regarded as being responsible in tracing the nociceptive stimulus back to a specific location within the body, along with processing other discriminatory characteristics such as intensity (Ab Aziz & Ahmad, 2006; Andersson et al., 1997; Kandel, 2013; Kenshalo et al., 1988; Nicholls et al., 2001; Yam et al., 2018). The medial network is known to be involved in the affective-motivational aspect of pain, which includes the perception of its "unpleasantness" (Ab Aziz & Ahmad, 2006; Desbois & Villanueva, 2001; Kandel, 2013; Nicholls et al., 2001; Peyron et al., 1999; Rainville et al., 1997; Talbot et al., 1991; Wang et al., 2009).

1.4.2 Peripheral nervous system sensitization

Primary nociceptors can activate the pain pathway when responding to a temporary stimulus, however, sensitization of the primary nociceptors can also occur due to the natural inflammatory response to injury or unknown circumstances (Fischer et al., 2010; Kosek et al., 2016; Millan, 1999; Nicholas et al., 2019). This sensitization of the primary nociceptors lowers their threshold for eliciting a response that in turn initiates the signaling mechanism which propagates through the pain pathway of the body (Basbaum et al., 2009; Bessou & Perl, 1969; Fischer et al., 2010; Kandel, 2013). So, the pain is felt more consistently and is prolonged (Millan, 1999). As mentioned previously, evolutionarily this can be an important mechanism, as sensitization of the nociceptors after injury helps to immobilize the injured area so healing can occur (Millan, 1999).

After injury occurs, an "inflammatory soup" of chemicals is released by the damaged cells, by the nociceptors, and by immune cells (Basbaum et al., 2009; Bland-Ward & Humphrey, 1997; Fischer et al., 2010; Kandel, 2013; Kessler et al., 1992; Lang et al., 1990; Liu et al., 1997; Parnavelas et al., 1985; Steen et al., 1995; Wang et al., 2004; Xie et al., 2003). Specifically, the damage caused to cells after injury results in the release of prostaglandins and chemicals such as ATP (adenosine triphosphate), acetylcholine, H+, and serotonin (5-HT), which can stimulate peripheral cells into producing bradykinin and more prostaglandins, well known inflammatory agents that lead to nociceptor sensitivity (Figure 1.1) (Ashton et al., 1986; Basbaum et al., 2009; Bland-Ward & Humphrey, 1997; Dray & Perkins, 1993; Hanada et al., 2012; Kandel, 2013; Kessler et al., 1992; Lang et al., 1990; Millan, 1999; Needleman et al., 1974; Oliveira et al., 2006; Parnavelas et al., 1985; Steen et al., 1992; Steen et al., 1995; Vasko et al., 1994; Wang et al., 2004; Xie et al., 2003). Contributing to the localized inflammatory response at the site of injury also includes the release of neuropeptide substance P and CGRP by the nociceptors of C-fibers, which results in heat and swelling through dilation of blood vessels and post-capillary venules (Figure 1.1) (Gibson et al., 1988; Gold & Gebhart, 2010; Kandel, 2013; Kellstein et al., 1990; Masanori & Mitsuhiko, 1987; McEwan et al., 1986; Mullins et al., 1993; Richardson & Vasko, 2002; Vasko et al., 1994). Due to sensory neuron involvement in the cycle of inflammation and nociceptor sensitization, the process has been called neurogenic inflammation and once started can continue to spread to other healthier parts of bodily tissue and cause sensitization away from the original injury site (Jancsó et al., 1967; Kandel, 2013; Matsuda et al., 2018; Richardson & Vasko, 2002). Substance P release from the sensory neurons also results in histamine release from mast cells, which in turn directly activates sensory neurons (Figure 1.1) (Erjavec et al., 1981; Kandel, 2013). Other chemicals released from the immune system response, in addition to histamine from mast cells, includes nerve growth factor (NGF), triggered by cytokines such as interleukin-1 (IL-1) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) (Kandel, 2013; Leon et al., 1994; McMahon, 1996; Safieh-Garabedian et al., 1995; Wagner & Myers, 1996).

Along with the effect of histamine directly on nociceptors, bradykinin release in particular from peripheral cells is known to be powerful in its ability to produce sensitization and pain due to its ability to directly activate both Aδ and C fiber nociceptors (Figure 1.1) (Dray & Perkins, 1993; Kandel, 2013; Koltzenburg et al., 1992; Martin et al., 1987; Vasko et al., 1994). Prostaglandins, lipid mediators that are a product of COX (cyclooxygenase) enzymes which cleave arachidonic acid, are also well-known instigators of peripheral sensitization (Figure 1.1) (Kandel, 2013; Martin et al., 1987; Smith et al., 2000). These COX enzymes are targets for pain relief therapy with drugs such non-steroidal inflammatory analgesics (NSAIDS) which will be described more in the following pain therapy subsection of this background (Section 1.5) (Futaki et al., 1994; Kandel, 2013; Martin et al., 1987; Masferrer et al., 1994; Roth et al., 1975; Seibert et al., 1994). This inflammatory soup of chemicals can stimulate secondary messenger systems via metabotropic receptors, such as G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), on the nociceptors (Schaible et al., 2011; Russell et al., 2010; Salzer et al., 2019). These metabotropic receptors then can in turn activate and modulate the activity of ion channels (such as the TRP family) responsible

for propagating action potentials and ascending signaling through the pain pathway, leading to nociceptive sensitization (Gold & Gebhart, 2010; Hucho & Levine, 2007; Russell et al., 2010; Salzer et al., 2019; Schaible et al., 2011; Sugiuar et al., 2004).

Peripheral sensitization is known to frequently lead to and perpetuate central sensitization through proposed mechanisms such as: a reorganization of central terminals in the lamina after peripheral nerve injury, a loss of GABAergic interneurons in the dorsal horn after nerve injury, or through an increase in excitability of central neurons such as dorsal neurons in a process known as "wind-up" (Inquimbert et al., 2018; Kandel, 2013; Koltzenburg et al., 1994; Li et al., 1999; Mendell, 1966; Schaible et al., 2011; Woolf et al., 1992; Yam et al., 2018). Though components upstream and downstream of secondary signaling pathways involved in nociceptor sensitization have been uncovered, the full mechanism of how this sensitization occurs is still unclear, including why nociceptive sensitization continues after an injury has healed or why it occurs in the absence of injury (Hucho & Levine, 2007).

1.4.3 Descending system of endogenous pain modulation

Within mammals there are descending systems of endogenous pain regulation that help to dampen the excitatory signaling stemming from the ascending pain pathways and provide analgesia (Kandel, 2013; Necker & Hellon, 1977). Two main sites in the CNS involved in this descending system of regulation include the periaqueductal grey (PAG) in the midbrain and connections made to the rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) in the brainstem (Bourne et al., 2014; Bridgestock & Rae, 2013; Kandel, 2013; Mayer & Liebeskind, 1974; McCarberg & Peppin, 2019; Pertovaara et al., 1996; Young & Chambi, 1987). Two major monoaminergic descending pathways for pain modulation associated with these regions include the serotonergic pathway, which involves the activation of serotonergic neurons found in areas of the medulla that inhibit and project to neurons in laminae I, II, and V, and the noradrenergic

pathway originating in areas of the pons and medulla and inhibiting neurons found in laminae I and V (Costa et al., 1994; de Kort et al., 2021; Hagihira et al., 1990; Kandel, 2013; Marlier et al., 1992; McCarberg & Peppin, 2019; Olave and Maxwell, 2004; Yoshimura & Furue, 2006). The CNS produces endogenous peptides called opioids as a method of pain modulation and their receptors, comprised of the four classes: mu, delta, kappa, and orphanin FQ (nociceptin), which are distributed throughout the PNS and CNS, with high concentrations found in the PAG, the medulla, and the dorsal horn of the spinal cord (Anton et al., 1996; Gilbert & Martin, 1976; Henderson & McKnight, 1997; Hughes, 1975; Hughes et al., 1975; Kandel, 2013; Martin et al., 1976; Minami & Satoh, 1995; Mollereau et al., 1994; Pert & Snyder, 1973; Simon et al., 1973). There are four major classes of endogenous opioids involved in analgesia: enkephalins and dynorphins, primarily produced in the spinal cord dorsal horn; β -endorphins, which are produced in the hypothalamus; and orphanin FQ/nociceptin which is distributed within several areas of the CNS (Anton et al., 1996; Bloom et al., 1978; Botticelli et al., 1981; Henderson & McKnight, 1997; Houtani et al., 1996; Kandel, 2013; Merchenthaler et al., 1986; Minami & Satoh, 1995; Nothacker et al., 1996; Reinscheid et al., 2000; Sar et al., 1978). Along with the opioid signaling pathway, another endogenous signaling system that has been shown to have an inhibitory effect in response to pain sensitization mechanisms is the endocannabinoid signaling pathway (Agarwal et al., 2007; Meng et al., 1998; Nicholls et al., 2001; Ogawa & Meng, 2009). Endocannabinoids, such as anandamide and 2-AG (1-arachidonoyl glycerol) are known to target the G-protein coupled cannabinoid receptors, CB₁, one of the most plentiful GPCRs in the brain, and CB₂ (Devane et al 1992; Jansen et al., 1992; Malek et al., 2015; Nicholls et al., 2001; Sugiura et al., 1995; Schatz et al., 1997). Targeting of the cannabinoid receptors, primarily CB₁, via a cannabinoid agonist, results in an antinociceptive effect, shown to occur at least in part through modulation of neuronal transmission within the rostral ventromedial medulla, the medullary dorsal horn, as well as the peripheral nociceptors (Agarwal et al., 2007; Meng et al., 1998; Ogawa & Meng, 2009).

1.5 Treatment options for pain relief

1.5.1 Overview of pain relief treatment options

Due to the unpleasant emotional sensation of pain and the physical and mental disability that chronic pain can inflict on a body, treatment options for pain are sought after fervently by those experiencing it acutely and chronically. Though there are a variety of non-pharmaceutical options for managing pain that can sometimes be effective for mild to moderate pain such as massage therapy, acupuncture, tens unit stimulation, exercise, meditation, herbs and supplements, and cognitive behavioral therapy, the vast majority of pain sufferers turn to pharmaceutical drugs for more potent, reliable, and quick acting pain relief (Buvanendran et al., 2021; Field, 2016; Field et al., 2011; Grover et al., 2018; Henriksen et al., 2014; Loh & Gulati, 2015; Maroon et al., 2010; Molsberger et al., 2002; Nahman-Averbuch et al., 2021; Rudrappa et al., 2020; Zeidan et al., 2011). The majority of pain medications most readily used by pain sufferers over the counter (OTC) in the United States are those which target prostaglandin synthesis by blocking cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes and include drugs such as aspirin and other such non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDS) that help to relieve inflammation, as well as acetaminophen which also acts on COX enzymes, but does not relieve inflammation (Argoff, 2011; Graham et al., 2013; Graham et al., 2001; Mitchell et al., 1993; Moncada et al., 1975; Patrignani & Patrono, 2015; Przybyła et al., 2021; Roth et al., 1975). Though used for both acute and chronic pain alike, medications targeting COX enzymes are considered insufficient on their own for the management of severe pain and also can carry side effects such as liver damage and the development of stomach ulcers when used chronically (Argoff, 2011; Boyd & Bereczky, 1966; Collier & Pain, 1985; Rodríguez & Hernández-Díaz, 2001). Some local anesthetics such as lidocaine, which are partially known to work through blocking voltage-gated sodium channels on sensory neurons, are available both in OTC topical forms and through prescription, though the evidence for significant pain

relief with topical lidocaine is weak (Argoff, 2011; Finnerup et al., 2015; Hermanns et al., 2019; Ho et al., 2008; Scholz et al., 1998).

Commonly prescribed systemic pain medications include drugs such as antidepressants, which work by blocking the reuptake of serotonin and noradrenaline, antiarrhythmics which work by blocking sodium channels, anticonvulsants which work by blocking either neuronal voltage-gated sodium channels or calcium channels, and opiates that mostly target the mu endogenous opioid receptor within the CNS and PNS and increase membrane potassium conductance (Argoff, 2011; Bridgestock & Rae, 2013; Corrodi & Fuxe, 1969; Dogra et al., 2005; Fricker et al., 2020; Gilron et al., 2015; Hoshino et al., 2015; Jensen, 2002; Kandel, 2013; Lees & Leach, 1993; Meuser et al., 2003; North et al., 1987; Pasternak & Pan, 2013; Pert & Snyder, 1973; Ständer et al., 2002; Werz & Macdonald, 1983). Opioids are known to be abundantly prescribed for nociceptive pain (Argoff, 2011; Cavalli et al., 2019; Owusu Obeng et al., 2017). As with most medications, prescribed medications for treating pain come with their own levels of efficacy depending on how the pain is classified and characterized (Section 1.2) as well as a possible host of side effects that can be magnified when applied chronically (Argoff, 2011; Benyamin et al., 2008; Bridgestock & Rae, 2013; Cavalli et al., 2019; Oousu Obeng et al., 2007).

1.5.2 Opioid side effects and addiction crisis

Though the effectiveness of opioid administration in short term acute pain relief is very good, the side effects and efficacy of these drugs when applied long-term can include the severe threats of tolerance, physical dependence, and addiction in individuals, which has led to the opioid addiction epidemic in the United States (Benyamin et al., 2008; Groenewald et al., 2019; Imtiaz et al., 2020; Kandel, 2013; Noori et al., 2019; Vearrier & Grundmann, 2021; Vowles et al., 2015). Physiological tolerance to opioid use occurs when dosage must consistently increase over time in order to achieve the
same therapeutic analgesic relief from the drug, leading to a state where relief becomes progressively harder to achieve (Bagley et al., 2005; Kandel, 2013; Lueptow et al., 2018). The proposed mechanisms of opioid tolerance have included: decoupling of mu opioid receptors from G-protein signaling transduction as well as varying cellular changes to both neuronal and non-neuronal cell populations (Bagley et al., 2005; Eidson & Murphy, 2013; Kandel, 2013; Lueptow et al., 2018; Mao et al., 2002; Meuser et al., 2003). Physical dependence from opioid administration is evident by withdrawal symptoms which develop after cessation of opioid use and can include symptoms such as irritability, anxiety, aches, sweating, tremor, and gastrointestinal discomfort (Bradley et al., 1987; Kosten & Baxter, 2019; Vernon et al., 2016; Wesson & Ling, 2003). It has also been shown that opioid use involves associative learning mechanisms and is physiologically rooted in the reward system of the brain which includes mechanisms such as mu opioid receptor effects on dopamine release (Cai et al., 2013; Dai et al., 2016; Garland et al., 2018; Kandel, 2013; Le Merrer et al., 2009; Zarrindast et al., 2002).

Opioid addiction within the United has resulted in a nationwide epidemic with recent provisional data released by the CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention) in July 2021 showing 69,710 opioid overdose deaths in the United States in 2020 alone, an increase from opioid overdose deaths reported at 50,963 for the previous year (Knopf, 2021). Due in part to record increases in prescriptions for opioid analgesics over the years, opioid addiction rates in the United States have resulted in stricter regulations on who receives opioid prescriptions in an effort to curtail the epidemic (Meadowcroft & Whitacre, 2021; Sites et al., 2014). Sadly, though not the intention, drug monitoring programs have also left many turning to non-pharmacological opiates such as heroin (Kim, 2021; Meadowcroft & Whitacre, 2021). In addition, the stricter regulations for prescribing opioids within the United States has also led to many chronic pain sufferers being unable to obtain their rightfully indicated opiate prescription from their doctor for ongoing pain relief which has led some to the costly suffering of severely under-treated pain (Kliuk-Ben Bassat et al., 2019; Pergolizzi et al., 2019). With the current

treatment for chronic pain management not ideal due to side effects and efficacy, researchers are investigating into the still unknown mechanisms surrounding pain and chronic pain development in hopes of uncovering new drug treatment options.

1.6 Drosophila melanogaster as a research model in pain research

1.6.1 Drosophila melanogaster pain research contribution

At present, investigating the mechanics of pain development, including abnormal pain, is best formulated to an in vivo model so that behavior can be observed. However, ethical concerns can sometimes arise with the use of in vivo mammalian systems in pain research when there is a need to obtain large sample sizes for screening or to tease out small differences and still achieve a suitable statistical power (Lee et al., 2018; Racine et al., 2012). Fortunately, a Drosophila melanogaster, also known as the fruit fly, model circumvents most of the ethical concerns that commonly plague in vivo mammalian systems modeling pain. Research using Drosophila is also an increasingly attractive model for more broad research into neuropharmacology, as the fruit fly is readily able for high throughput in vivo drug experimentation without the same governmental oversight that vertebrate models are under (such as with the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC)), as well as lower cost in comparison to mammalian models (Nichols, 2006). And though humans have 23 pairs of chromosomes, and the fruit fly only has four, the fruit fly still shares over 75% of the genes connected to disease in humans, lending to its role as a useful model for biomedical research (Reiter et al., 2001). The fruit fly also has a life cycle from embryo to adult of only 10-12 days and females can generate upwards of 100 eggs per day, both traits which allow for extremely fast generation time of genetic mutants and transgenic animals for experimentation (Nichols, 2006; Ong et al., 2015). Owing to this ability for translation and ease of experimentation, Drosophila have at times been on the very forefront of discoveries later translated to humans (e.g., factors controlling embryonic development or circadian

rhythm) and have garnered six Nobel prizes in Physiology or Medicine involving use of the fruit fly model (Axel, 2004; Baptista et al., 2021; Bargiello et al., 1984; Hardin et al., 1990; Hoffmann, 2011; Huang, 2018; Lewis, 1998; Liu et al., 1992; Morgan, 1916; Muller, 1928; Nichols, 2006; Price et al., 1998; Siwicki et al., 1988; Tolwinski, 2017; Vosshall et al., 1994; Zehring et al., 1984).

In recent years, *Drosophila melanogaster* has also proven to be an exceptional *in vivo* model organism for the investigation of multiple neurological diseases, such as Parkinson's and chemotherapyinduced peripheral neuropathy, made possible due to its relative organismal simplicity and powerful genetic toolkit available (Boiko et al., 2017; del Valle Rodríguez et al., 2011; Feany & Bender, 2000). Examples of some behaviors in which fruit flies have been found to be an excellent model of study include sleep and social behaviors such as: mimicry, courtship, and aggression (Dankert et al., 2009; Dukas, 2020; Klibaite & Shaevitz, 2020; Manoli et al., 2005; Mundiyanapurath et al., 2007; Simões et al., 2021; Szuperak et al., 2018; Versteven et al., 2017). Owing to this outstanding ease of genetic manipulation, fast generation time, and observable behavior phenotypes, discoveries into pathways underlying nociceptive sensitization have also already made considerable progress within the *Drosophila melanogaster* model (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im et al., 2015; McParland et al., 2021).

Fruit flies make desirable *in vivo* models for nociceptor sensitivity and its involvement in pain signaling for many reasons, including: nociceptors of the fruit fly have been shown to have similar function and morphology to that of vertebrate counterparts, many genes underlying the perception of pain have been found to be conserved across species, and there is an abundance of evidence that fruit flies, both larvae and adult, respond to noxious stimuli with characteristic escape behaviors (Figure 1.2) (Hwang et al., 2007; Im & Galko, 2012; Khuong & Neely, 2013; Reiter et al., 2001; Sulkowski et al., 2011; Xu et al., 2006). Among some of the important pain discoveries made with this model are the roles of Painless (suggested to be homologous to mammalian ANKTM1 and analogous in function to TRPV1 (Al-

Anzi et al., 2006; Tracey Jr et al., 2003; Xu et al., 2006)), and identification of the *Drosophila* DEG/ENaC channel, Pickpocket (Ppk: similar to vertebrate epithelial sodium channel molecules), which is known for sensing and reacting to harsh mechanical stimulation within the fly (Adams et al., 1998; Zhong et al., 2010). Because of these discoveries, attributes (ex: generation time, nociceptor morphology similar to vertebrates, etc.), and the genetic tools available (described in the following section), using a *Drosophila* model is both relevant and beneficial for investigating genetic mechanisms contributing to pain and chronic pain development stemming from nociceptor sensitivity and/or sensitization.

1.6.1.1 *Drosophila melanogaster* cellular signaling pathways uncovered in regulation of nociceptive sensitivity

Over the past decade or more, a nociceptive sensitization model has been developed using *Drosophila* larvae in which UV injured and/or genetically modified animals become hyper- or hyposensitive (Babcock et al., 2009). Fruit flies, like their human counterparts, can develop nociceptive sensitization after injury, allowing for translatable modeling of allodynia and hyperalgesia, both known as possible symptoms in chronic pain (Babcock & Galko, 2009; Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011). And though the use of the post-injury behavioral assays within the fruit fly is relatively new compared to post-injury behavioral assays in mammals, it has already become quite successful in the rapid identification of genes associated with the nociceptive sensitization process after injury (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2015; Jang et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im et al., 2015; Jang et al., 2018; Khuong, Hamoudi, et al., 2019; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; McParland et al., 2021). Investigation of genetic components involved in nociceptor sensitivity has also become quite easy through genetic manipulation with the GAL4/UAS system (Brand & Perrimon, 1993). The GAL4/UAS is a system found within yeast, where the transcription factor GAL4 locks onto binding sites, optimized and known as Upstream Activation Sequences (UAS) in its designed use for genetic engineering, which once

bound, leads to transcription of target genes downstream the binding sites (Brand & Perrimon, 1993). This yeast transcriptional enhancer, GAL4, and its binding target sequence are not found within *Drosophila melanogaster*, making it an excellent system for cell/tissue specific gene expression in the fruit fly (Brand & Perrimon, 1993; Fischer et al., 1988). By mating a fruit fly carrying GAL4 downstream a cell specific promoter to another fruit fly carrying the gene/transgene of interest that is designed to be downstream the optimized (for high GAL4 binding affinity) UAS binding site, resultant progeny carries both the cell specific promoter-GAL4 construct as well as the UAS-gene of interest construct, with resultant cell/tissue specific expression of the gene/transgene of interest (Figure 1.3) (Brand & Perrimon, 1993; Fischer et al., 1988; Webster et al., 1988).

Using the Gal4/UAS system, one of the first cellular signaling mechanisms that was uncovered to regulate nociceptive sensitivity after UV injury in *Drosophila* larvae was the TNF signaling system by the *Drosophila* TNF homolog ligand, Eiger (Egr), which activates the TNF receptor, Wengen (Wgn), on the nociceptors and was found to be required for allodynia after UV injury (Figure 1.4) (Babcock et al., 2009; Im & Galko, 2012). Shortly after these findings on the requirement of the TNF signaling pathway in UV injury induced allodynia, the requirement for the Hedgehog (Hh) signaling pathway was also uncovered to be required for injury-induced allodynia and hyperalgesia to occur (Figure 1.4) (Babcock et al., 2011). Components within the Hh signaling pathway found to be involved in the regulation of nociceptor sensitivity included: the Hh receptor Patched (Ptc), the transmembrane protein Patched suppresses: Smoothened (Smo), and downstream of Smo the Hh transcription factor Cubitus interruptus (Ci) and its transcriptional targets: Engrailed (En) and Decapentaplegic (Dpp) (Figure 1.4) (Babcock et al., 2011).

When investigating *Drosophila* Tachykinin signaling, similar to mammalian tachykinin signaling in pain such as substance P (part of the tachykinin neuropeptide family) signaling in mammals, it was found that Tachykinin signaling (Tachykinin (dTk) and the *Drosophila* Tachykinin Receptor (DTKR)) is also required for UV injury induced allodynia in third instar *Drosophila* larvae (Figure 1.4) (Im et al., 2015;

Siviter et al., 2000). *Drosophila* Tachykinin signaling was found to work upstream of Hh signaling and is connected in the nociceptive sensitivity pathway through downstream Hh autocrine signaling via activation of the transmembrane protein Dispatched (Disp), which releases Hh extracellularly from the nociceptor (Figure 1.4) (Im et al., 2015). dTk was found to be necessary pan-neuronally (broadly among neurons) but not specifically within the nociceptors (Im et al., 2015). In contrast, its receptor, DTKR, was found to be necessary specifically in the nociceptors for UV injury induced thermal allodynia to occur and it affects neuronal firing properties (Im et al., 2015). Overexpression of DTKR also resulted in genetically induced allodynia and affected firing properties even in the absence of injury (Im et al., 2015). Through the investigation of several G protein subunits (CG117760, Gβ5 (G protein subunit beta 5), and Gγ1 (G protein gamma 1)) within this same study, it was also found that these G protein subunits bind to DTKR and affect thermal allodynia as well, downstream of DTKR activation (Im et al., 2015).

Building upon the findings by Babcock and colleagues on the Hh pathway and nociceptive sensitization, downstream transcriptional targets such as Dpp, found within the study (Babcock et al., 2011) to be involved in nociceptive sensitization, led to a more thorough investigation into Dpp and multiple other Bone Morphogenetic Protein (BMP) signaling pathway components (part of the Transforming Growth Factor Beta (TGF-β) superfamily of proteins) (Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; McParland et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2014). These investigations were important due to the highly conserved nature of the BMP signaling pathway among mammals and *Drosophila melanogaster*, which could lead to promising new drug targets in humans (Wang et al., 2014). Within these studies, behavioral assays carried out post UV injury with third-instar larvae determined that the BMP signaling ligands, Dpp and Glass Bottom Boat (Gbb), their main receptors, Punt (Put) and Wishful Thinking (Wit) respectively, along with the receptors activated by Punt: Saxaphone (Sax) and Thickveins (Tkv), and two other components known to be transmembrane regulators of BMP signaling, Dally (Dly) and Dally-like (Dlp), are all involved in injury-induced allodynia

(Figure 1.4) (Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018). It was also found that the overexpression of the BMP signaling ligand, Dpp, results in genetically induced allodynia even in the absence of injury, suggesting a mechanism in which Dpp can affect baseline nociception (Follansbee et al., 2017). With regard to other BMP signaling components involved canonically (apart from the components investigated at the nociceptor cell membrane), phosphorylated Mothers Against Dpp (Mad) (known to be phosphorylated by Thickveins and Saxophone) and Medea (Med), which Mad forms a complex with, were also investigated (Follansbee et al., 2017). These SMAD components (named so for being signaling transducers for receptors found within TGF- β superfamily) are known to translocate to the nucleus to activate transcription of BMP signaling target genes and were found to also be required for nociceptive sensitization after injury (Figure 1.4) (Attisano & Tuen Lee-Hoeflich, 2001; Campbell & Tomlinson, 1999; Follansbee et al., 2017).

Through following this canonical known chain of events within the BMP signaling pathway, the investigation then led very recently to uncover nuclear components associated with BMP target gene transcription involved in nociceptive sensitivity regulation (McParland et al., 2021). Transcriptional regulators examined included the transcriptional enhancer, Schnurri (Shn), known to form a complex with Mad-Med, and the transcriptional repressor, Brinker (Brk), whose repression is relieved by the Mad-Med complex (Campbell & Tomlinson, 1999; Jazwinska et al., 1999; McParland et al., 2021). It was found within this study by McParland and colleagues that knockdown of Brk resulted in genetically induced allodynia and hyperalgesia of the nociceptor, in the absence of injury (McParland et al., 2021). It was also found within this study that knockdown of Shn resulted in a failure to develop allodynia after UV injury (McParland et al., 2021). In summary, investigation of these signaling pathways within the *Drosophila* nociceptors has resulted in increased knowledge about the development of nociceptive sensitization, however, a full understanding of this process, including any other cellular signaling

pathways involved in regulating this sensitivity or the recovery of the nociceptor after injury, is still elusive.

Toward this effort, recent investigations included within this dissertation (chapter two) have focused on investigating components within the canonical Wnt/Wg (Wnt in mammals, and Wingless (Wg) in Drosophila) signaling pathway since the canonical Wnt/Wg signaling pathway is known to have cross talk with both Hh and BMP signaling pathways. In particular, of the numerous BMP signaling gene candidates previously identified as controlling nociceptive sensitivity in fruit flies, the glypican, Dly, is known to be both a potentiator of both BMP and Wnt/Wg signaling and was shown to be required in the nociceptor for nociceptive sensitization after injury (Tsuda et al., 1999, Brann et al., 2019). Also, the transcription factor, Brk, a negative regulator of BMP signaling in the fly and shown to suppress nociceptive sensitivity, is also known to antagonize Wg/Wnt signaling in the fruit fly (McParland et al., 2021; Saller et al., 2002). These findings on Dly and Brk and their involvement in the regulation of nociceptive sensitivity and contribution to signaling mechanisms in both the BMP and Wnt/Wg signaling pathways contributes foundational support for the hypothesis that the canonical Wnt/Wg signaling pathway possibly also affects nociceptive sensitivity in the fly. To that end, findings from our investigation into canonical Wnt/Wg signaling components, Gilgamesh (Gish), and our published findings on Arm and the transcriptional repressor of canonical Wnt/Wg signaling, Groucho (Gro) (Hale, Moulton, et al., 2022), are shared in chapter 2 of this dissertation. Within the published findings also shared in chapter 2, it was found that Arm does play a role in regulating nociceptive sensitivity in the absence of injury, however, it was unknown if its role in regulating nociceptive sensitivity was directly linked to its function within the canonical Wnt/Wg signaling pathway or if by other functions within the cell (explained further in chapter 2 of this dissertation) (Hale, Moulton, et al., 2022). Within this introduction, however, a summary of the components and mechanism by which canonical Wnt/Wg signaling is activated or inactivated in *Drosophila* is also given as background below.

A main component in the Drosophila canonical Wnt/Wg signaling pathway, Arm, is the intracellular transducer of canonical Wnt/Wg signaling when the pathway is activated, whereby its nuclear translocation results in transcriptional activation of Wnt/Wg target genes (Figure 1.4) (Komiya & Habas, 2008; Peifer, Sweeton, et al., 1994; Van de Wetering et al., 1997). In the absence of the Wnt/Wg ligand, Arm protein levels are reduced within the cytoplasm by a two-step kinase-destruction complex, which phosphorylates Arm for subsequent ubiquitination and proteosome degradation (Amit et al., 2002; Komiya & Habas, 2008; Liu et al., 2002; Peifer, Pai, et al., 1994; Stamos & Weis, 2013; Yanagawa et al., 2002). Though homologs also exist in mammals, in Drosophila, this Arm destruction complex is made up of the inhibitory binding proteins: Axin (Axn), APC-like (Apc) and Adenomatous polyposis coli 2(Apc2), which form a binding scaffold with the kinases: Casein Kinase I alpha ($Ckl\alpha$), a serine/threonine kinase which phosphorylates Arm initially, and then the glycogen synthase kinase 3, Shaggy (Sgg), which phosphorylates Arm a second time, setting Arm up for ubiquitination and subsequent proteasome degradation when canonical Wg signaling is turned off (Figure 1.4) (Ahmed et al., 1998; Bejsovec, 2013; Hamada et al., 1999; Komiya & Habas, 2008; Peifer, Pai, et al., 1994; Peifer, Sweeton, et al., 1994; Perrimon, 1994; Stamos & Weis, 2013; Waghmare & Page-McCaw, 2018; Welsh et al., 1996; Yanagawa et al., 2000; Yanagawa et al., 2002; Yu et al., 1999). When canonical Wg signaling is turned on by the binding of a Wnt/Wg ligand (Wg) to the Frizzled (Fz) and/or Frizzled 2 (Fz2) cell-surface receptor (not shown), Dishevelled (Dsh) is activated and binds to components within the destruction complex at the same time that Axin within the destruction complex also binds to the LDL receptor-related protein, Arrow (Arr) (which functions as an obligate Wg co-receptor) (Figure 1.4) (Bejsovec, 2013; Cadigan & Nusse, 1997; Doumpas et al., 2013; Kennerdell & Carthew, 1998; Komiya & Habas, 2008; Llimargas & Lawrence, 2001; Noordermeer et al., 1994; Schaefer et al., 2018; Stamos & Weis, 2013; Tolwinski et al., 2003). Gilgamesh (Gish), a plasma membrane associated kinase orthologous to mammalian CK1y1 and found to positively regulate Hh signaling, also regulates Wnt/Wg signaling by assisting in the inactivation

of the Arm destruction complex through phosphorylation of Arrow (Figure 1.4) (Davidson et al., 2005; Hummel et al., 2002; Li et al., 2016; Verheyen & Gottardi, 2010; Zhang et al., 2006). This inactivation of the destruction complex at the membrane is what allows Arm protein levels to increase in the cytoplasm and then enter the nucleus to displace the transcriptional repressor, Gro (also known to be a transcriptional repressor to BMP target genes), and activate transcription of Wnt/Wg target genes (Figure 1.4) (Cavallo et al., 1998; Hasson et al., 2001; Hsu et al., 1998; Huber et al., 1996; Städeli et al., 2006).

1.6.2 Drosophila melanogaster nociceptive signaling neuroanatomy and sensitization

Much like their differences in chromosomes when compared to their human counterparts (to recap *Drosophila melanogaster* only carry four pairs of chromosomes), *Drosophila melanogaster* have a nervous system which is comprised of fewer elements than the human or mammalian mouse model nervous systems (Nichols, 2006). However, its simplicity has been known to help lend to the discovery of complete physiological mechanisms, such as the beforementioned discoveries comprising the mechanism of circadian rhythm that led to the Nobel prize in Physiology or Medicine in 2017 (Bargiello et al., 1984; Callaway & Ledford, 2017; Hardin et al., 1990; Huang, 2018; Liu et al., 1992; Price et al., 1998; Siwicki et al., 1988; Vosshall et al., 1994; Zehring et al., 1984). Fruit flies do have complexity and striking similarities within their PNS and CNS when compared to vertebrates and these similarities facilitate a range of diverse neural molecular mechanisms as well as survival and social behaviors that can be observed in both the larval and adult stages of the fruit fly (Dukas, 2020; Hwang et al., 2007; Nichols, 2006; Wu et al., 2003; Xu et al., 2008).

The CNS of the fruit fly is composed of a brain and a ventral nerve cord (VNC) which connects both to the brain and to the neuromuscular junctions (NMJ) and sensory neurons of the PNS outside of the CNS (Daniels et al., 2008; Freeman, 2015; Hughes & Thomas, 2007; Miyares & Lee, 2019;

Venkatasubramanian & Mann, 2019). The brain of the adult fruit fly is comprised of important structures such as: the optic lobes, the antennal lobes, the protocerebrum, the mushroom bodies, the central body complex containing the fan-shaped body and ellipsoid body, and the suboesophageal ganglia (Nichols, 2006). The VNC is functionally similar to the spinal cord within vertebrates in that information is relayed from the peripheral nervous system to the brain (such as sensory information) and *vice versa* (such as motor output) (Venkatasubramanian & Mann, 2019). The fruit fly VNC also contains its own functional form of a blood nerve barrier, much like the blood brain barrier in vertebrates, by which glial cells ensheath the VNC neuropil and protect the nerves against ions found within the hemolymph, a circulating fluid much like blood in invertebrates (Auld et al., 1995; Limmer et al., 2014; Nichols, 2006).

Like their mammalian counterparts, fruit fly primary nociceptor sensory neurons in the PNS feature sensory nerve endings for detecting noxious stimuli within epithelial tissue (Bessou & Perl, 1969; Gao et al., 1999; Grueber et al., 2002; Im & Galko, 2012, Jiang et al., 2019). Fruit fly nociceptors differ from mammals however, in that the cell bodies of the nociceptors are typically found away from the VNC, out in the periphery, unlike mammalian nociceptor cell bodies which are typically found in ganglia such as the DRG or TG closer anatomically in location to the CNS (Gao et al., 1999; Grueber et al., 2002; Han et al., 2012; Woolf & Ma, 2007). Fruit fly nociceptors also have branch like patterning of dendrites which project off the soma into the periphery and an axon which projects centrally from the soma for afferent signaling to the CNS (Grueber et al., 2002; Im & Galko, 2012; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Shimono et al., 2009; Xu et al., 2006). In contrast, mammalian nociceptors consist of axons which extend both peripherally from the soma to detect noxious stimuli and centrally toward the CNS for afferent signaling (Woolf & Ma, 2007). The nociceptors of fruit fly larvae are also known as class IV multidendritic (Md) sensory neurons, which are a part of a class system of sensory neurons in the fly grouped by diversity in branching and are known to respond to different stimuli for different sensations such as mechanosensation (class II, III, IV), thermosensation (class III and IV), chemosensation (class IV and

possibly I,II,III), and proprioception (class I) (Babcock et al., 2011; Hughes & Thomas, 2007; Hwang et al., 2007; Im & Galko, 2012; Kim et al., 2012; Lopez-Bellido et al., 2019; Neely et al., 2010; Tsubouchi et al., 2012; Zhong et al., 2010). The class IV multidendritic sensory neurons are the most elaborate in dendritic complexity of the classes and are known to be activated by noxious mechanical, chemical, and thermal stimuli (Babcock et al., 2011; Hwang et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2012; Lopez-Bellido et al., 2019; Zhong et al., 2012; Zhong et al., 2010). In fruit fly larvae these class IV multidendritic (cIV md) sensory neurons also are known to form a tiling pattern around the entire body wall of the animal as they innervate between and within all the cells of the epidermis without overlapping each other (Grueber et al., 2002; Im & Galko, 2012). While mostly free or naked, the sensory neurites of fly larvae occasionally are ensheathed by epidermal cells (Han et al., 2012; Jiang et al., 2019; Mauthner et al., 2021; Tenenbaum et al., 2017), as has been reported similarly in mammals (Cauna, 1973; Munger, 1965, Talagas et al., 2020). In regard to what is known about neurotransmitter release of the nociceptors, the excitatory neurotransmitter, acetylcholine, has been shown to be largely involved within synapses of both the CNS and PNS of the fly and can be found in particularly high amounts in sensory neurons (Burgos et al., 2018; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Lee & O'dowd, 1999; Salvaterra & Kitamoto, 2001; Shin et al., 2018). Evidence for acetylcholine requirement in nociceptive signaling of the adult fly has been shown through suppression of fruit fly nociceptive response after inhibition of nociceptor acetylcholine synthesis (Burgos et al., 2018; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Lee & O'dowd, 1999; Salvaterra & Kitamoto, 2001).

In response to a sufficient noxious stimulus (chemical, mechanical, or thermal), receptors responding to these various stimuli are activated on fruit fly larval and adult nociceptors, which leads to an action potential. Once activated and an action potential achieved, these nociceptor axons have been found to release neurotransmitter onto second order interneurons found within the VNC of the fruit fly CNS (Burgos et al., 2018; Chin & Tracey Jr, 2017; Grueber et al., 2007; Hu et al., 2017; Kaneko et al.,

2017; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Lopez-Bellido et al., 2019; Ohyama et al., 2015; Yoshino et al., 2017). In studies with larvae in particular, these interneurons found within the VNC to be in conversation with the axons of the cIV md neurons include: the medial clusters of class IV dendritic arborization secondorder (mCSIs) interneurons, A08n neurons, dorsal pair insulin-like peptide 7 neurons (DP-ilp7), Downand-Back (DnB) interneurons, A05q and A23g interneurons, Basin neurons, and Goro neurons (Burgos et al., 2018; Chin & Tracey Jr, 2017; Grueber et al., 2007; Hu et al., 2017; Kaneko et al., 2017; Lopez-Bellido et al., 2019; Ohyama et al., 2015; Yoshino et al., 2017). Along with nociceptive input, some of these interneurons, like the Basin cells and DP-ilp7, integrate information from other inputs in addition to the cIV neurons, such as mechanosensory chordotonal neurons (Basin cells) or C2da neurons (DP-ilp7) (Hu et al., 2017; Ohyama et al., 2015). This integration of inputs can lead to an enhancement in stimulus response or can become part of a higher order pathway activation in the brain, as is seen with the Basin-Goro brain pathway (Hu et al., 2017; Ohyama et al., 2015). It has also been shown that DP-ilp7 dorsal axons project to a region in the larvae brain as well, specifically a region within the brain lobes called the pars intercerebralis (Hu et al., 2017). Though the complexities of the CNS signaling pathways in nociception have yet to be completely uncovered, the goal of this nociception signaling activity from the class IV neurons to the CNS is ultimately to trigger downstream motor neurons for a "nocifensive escape" response of the animal from a threatening stimulus (Figure 1.2) (Burgos et al., 2018; Hwang et al., 2007; Tracey Jr et al., 2003). This nocifensive response in larvae, which is hypothesized to have evolved as a way to avoid parasitoid wasps, is primarily a 360-degree corkscrew roll along the longitudinal axis of the larva body, but also can include other behaviors such as fast crawling (Figure 1.2 A) (Burgos et al., 2018; Hwang et al., 2007; Tracey Jr et al., 2003). The exact mechanism for how a single motor neuron is activated and the muscle fiber within the larvae body responds is still unknown but some headway has been made recently with the clVda-mCSIs signaling pathway where it has been shown that mCSIs in the VNC synapse onto segmental nerve a (SNa) motor neurons (Clark et al., 2018;

Gowda et al., 2021; Yoshino et al., 2017). With the various uncovered interneurons and their pathways, such as the cIVda-mCSIs-SNA and Basin-Goro, shown to be involved in the nocifensive response of rolling, there seems to be multiple neuronal circuits producing this response (Chin & Tracey Jr, 2017; Hu et al., 2017; Yoshino et al., 2017).

As stated previously in the above section (1.6.1), it has been found that Drosophila melanogaster nociceptors can sensitize after injury, in a way similar to human nociceptors, resulting in a reduced threshold of response to varying stimuli such as thermal, mechanical, cold, and chemical (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Lopez-Bellido & Galko, 2020; Lopez-Bellido et al., 2019; Massingham et al., 2021; Turner et al., 2018). There also appears to be an element of plasticity found in these sensory neurons and their circuit that can result in a failure to respond to noxious stimuli in mature larvae that have undergone prolonged noxious stimulation during development (Dason et al., 2020; Kaneko et al., 2017). Hyperalgesia, allodynia, or both, have also been characterized in fruit flies via recording response latency to various stimuli after injury (Figure 1.2) (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Lopez-Bellido & Galko, 2020; Lopez-Bellido et al., 2019). Most of this published research in fruit fly larvae has involved use of an ultraviolet (UV) injury on Drosophila third instar larvae but has also included puncture wounding (Babcock et al., 2009; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Lopez-Bellido et al., 2019). It has also been shown that adult *Drosophila* possess a CNS sensory inhibition system similar to that found in mammals where when disruption occurs within centrally located GABAergic neurons (by either silencing GABA receptors or triggered by a peripheral amputation injury), a state of chronic sensitization of the nociceptors (even those not involved in injury) follows that is akin to neuropathic pain (Khuong et al., 2019; Moore et al., 2002; Sivilotti & Woolf, 1994). To this end, various cellular signaling pathways and channels (reviewed in section 1.6.1 and 1.6.1.1) have been identified within the nociceptor as contributing to the state of nociceptor hypersensitivity after injury, as well as GABAergic signaling within the CNS of the adult fly, but the complete mechanism has yet to be

fully identified (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann, 2018; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im et al., 2015; Jang et al., 2018; Jo et al., 2017; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Lopez-Bellido et al., 2019; McParland et al., 2021). And though important studies have uncovered genetic components such as Arm, and channels such as, Painless, dTrpA1, and the Anoctamin Family channel, Subdued, for maintenance in baseline nociceptor sensitivity, even without injury, there are potentially many components of baseline nociceptor sensitivity that are also still elusive and could contribute to chronic pain conditions that result in the absence of any known injury (Hale, Moulton, et al., 2022; Jang et al., 2015; Kosek et al., 2021; Neely et al., 2011; Tracey Jr et al., 2003; Viswanath et al., 2003; Xu et al., 2006).

1.6.3 "Do fruit flies feel pain?" and Drosophila melanogaster neuropharmacology

Pain is described by the IASP as an "unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that associated with, actual or potential tissue damage" (Raja et al., 2020) that is subjective to each person based on their own experiences surrounding the idea of pain and also "influenced by varying degrees of biological, psychological, and social factors" (Raja et al., 2020). The IASP 2020 revised definition of pain also indicates that "pain and nociception are two different phenomena" (Raja et al., 2020) with the stimulation of nociceptors in response to noxious stimuli not enough on its own to constitute as pain itself. *Drosophila melanogaster* is not known to possess a complex neural network which combines the awareness of noxious nociceptive stimuli to neural areas within the CNS linking into emotional processing and the subjective distressing experience of pain (Adamo, 2019; Bastuji et al., 2018; Garcia-Larrea & Bastuji, 2018; Nicholls et al., 2001; Raja et al., 2020). Fruit flies are, however, known to exhibit nociception and it has been shown that they can learn from exposure to a repeated noxious stimulus by developing a memory of the stimulus or other sensory cues coupled to the noxious stimulus such as odor coupled with electric shock (Hu et al., 2018; Quinn et al., 1974). This leads to a motivation to avoid the noxious stimulus and this avoidance can be recreated

through stimulation of fan-shaped body neurons in the adult fruit fly brain (Hu et al., 2018). A memory gene found in *Drosophila*, *amnesiac*, has even been found to play a role in thermal nociception in larval and adult *Drosophila* (Aldrich et al., 2010). Notably, memory has been hypothesized to play a part in the development of chronic pain in humans through activation of the hippocampus (Tajerian et al., 2018). So, even though it has not been shown that fruit flies are consciously aware and able to experience pain, there are still aspects of the pain signaling pathway and its dysregulation in humans, such as nociception, hyperalgesia, allodynia, neuropathic sensitization, and the ability to learn and form memories surrounding noxious stimuli/nociceptive input, that constitute fruit flies as a valuable research tool for investigating mechanisms contributing to pain and its relief (Adamo, 2019; Babcock et al., 2011; Hu et al., 2018; Kandel, 2013; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Tajerian et al., 2018; Waddell & Quinn, 2001).

Along with a lack of evidence that fruit flies consciously experience pain, however, is the lack of any known descending system of endogenous pain modulation found in *Drosophila melanogaster* such as an opiate system. However, although *Drosophila* do not seemingly possess a highly conserved opiate system, they do seem to carry resemblance to a reward system which is involved in addiction (Koyyada et al., 2018). In detail, adult fruit flies have been shown to seek out and prefer alcohol consumption and odor after repeated exposure (Gilpin & Koob, 2008; Hendershot et al., 2017; Koyyada et al., 2018; Peru et al., 2014). In a study carried out in 2018, it was found that when fruit flies were subjected to naltrexone, a drug used in human alcohol use disorder and which is also an opiate antagonist, they lose that preference for alcohol (Gilpin & Koob, 2008; Hendershot et al., 2017; Koyyada et al., 2018; Peru et al., 2014). Though the exact mechanism of naltrexone and alcohol preference in fruit flies was not uncovered within that experiment, the authors did raise the question of a possible unknown opioid-like system playing a role in the fly (Koyyada et al., 2018).

Fruit flies have also been found to be a translatable and useful model in testing

neuropharmacological compounds affecting nociception. For example, it has been found that fruit flies respond to administration of the GABA_B agonist, 3-APMPA (3-aminopropyl(methyl)phosphinic acid), in an antinociceptive manner similar to results found in mammals (Manev & Dimitrijevic, 2004; Thomas et al., 1996). Also, in a study investigating the necessity of the $\alpha 2\delta$ calcium channel subunit, Straightjacket (stj) (orthologous to human CACNA2D3 and 4 (calcium voltage-gated channel auxiliary subunit alpha 2 delta 3)), in the nociceptors of fruit fly larvae and adult for thermosensitivity, it was uncovered that gabapentin and pregabalin, drugs used in treatment of neuropathic pain, were able to relieve thermal nociceptor hypersensitivity after injury in adult fruit flies (Dworkin et al., 2007; Field et al., 2006; Freynhagen et al., 2005; Gee et al., 1996; Khuong, Hamoudi, et al., 2019; Moore et al., 2018; Neely et al., 2010; Wiffen et al., 2017). Uncovered Drosophila nociceptor sensitivity signaling pathway components have also inspired mammalian pain pharmacology research. For example, the Hedgehog (Hh) signaling pathway (reviewed in section 1.6.1.1) has been found to be critical for nociceptive sensitization to occur after injury in the fruit fly, a finding that was expanded toward investigation also into morphine tolerance in rats (Babcock et al., 2011). It was found in a study published in 2011 that blocking Sonic Hedgehog (Shh) signaling could induce a synergistic effect with morphine administration in treating inflammatory/neuropathic pain in mammals (Babcock et al., 2011; Milinkeviciute et al., 2012).

1.7 Gaps in knowledge and purpose of research

With the publication of the new ICD-11 listing multiple descriptive terminology for categorizing and addressing different types of chronic pain, which suggests chronic pain to be more of a multifaceted condition with multiple branches, it has become clear that finding better treatment options for pain includes developing a better understanding of what mechanisms underlie and distinguish each of the different pain types (Treede et al., 2015, 2019). Mechanisms underlying chronic pain that involve

nociceptor sensitivity specifically, are still very much elusive. With an expanded and unbiased effort, novel genetic/molecular components involved in the regulation of nociceptor sensitivity can lead to more diverse opportunities for drug development for these chronic pain conditions where underlying nociceptor sensitivity is a main factor in development and progression.

Over the years, *Drosophila melanogaster* has proven to be a fruitful model for pain investigation through modeling of nociceptive sensitivity mechanisms and investigation of molecular components involved in this sensitivity (Figures 1.2 & 1.4) (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Follansbee et al., 2017; Im et al., 2015; Neely et al., 2011; Tracey Jr et al., 2003). However, the complete molecular processes underlying nociceptive sensitivity, which include nociceptive sensitivity before injury, nociceptive sensitivity after injury, and recovery of nociceptive sensitivity after injury, are still largely unknown within the fly and within mammals. Also, most of the nociceptor sensitivity work carried out in the fruit fly has taken place in its immature, larval form (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im et al., 2015; McParland et al., 2021; Tracey Jr et al., 2003). This has left little room for chronic experimentation to take place within the fruit fly for pain investigation. And though some adult *Drosophila* thermonociception assays have already been developed, there are various drawbacks to these methods and many improvements that could be made to connect the research progressed in larvae thus far to that which can be carried out chronically in adults (Aldrich et al., 2010; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Manev & Dimitrijevic, 2004; Massingham et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2006).

Therefore, within this dissertation work I carried out a continued investigation into uncovering molecular signaling pathways and genetic components involved in the regulation of nociceptive sensitivity, in varying conditional states, in the ongoing effort to uncover potential drug targets for treating irregular (chronic) pain in humans (Figure 1.5). To do this, in chapter two I investigated molecular components involved in the regulation of nociceptive sensitivity, without the condition of

injury, by using a validated *Drosophila* larval thermonociception model and focusing on the Wnt/Wg signaling pathway. In contrast to chapter two, in chapter three I then investigated the molecular components involved in both nociceptive sensitization after injury (allodynia) and nociceptive sensitization recovery (from hyperalgesia) by bioinformatic analysis of nociceptor-specific RNA sequencing data of a validated *Drosophila* larval UV injury model. Finally, also within this dissertation work we proposed to further the field of pain research using the fruit fly model by contributing to the development of an improved adult *Drosophila* model of injury-induced nociceptive sensitization in chapter four. We proposed that this adult fruit fly model will allow for more chronic experiments to take place in the future and also lead to the investigation and discovery of drug targets to be used in the treatment of chronic pain.





The primary nociceptors detect noxious stimuli from peripheral injury and local inflammation. Some of the inflammatory mediators found in vertebrate peripheral tissue after injury include bradykinin, prostaglandin, histamine, ATP, H+, 5-HT, NGF, and acetylcholine, which can activate the nociceptors and lead to primary nociceptor sensitization. Mammalian primary nociceptors are also known to release substance P and CGRP into peripheral tissue during primary nociceptor sensitization, contributing to neurogenic inflammation within peripheral tissues. The primary nociceptors synapse onto sensory transmission neurons found within the dorsal horn of the spinal cord by neurotransmitter (ex: glutamate, substance P, CGRP) release, resulting in afferent pain signaling through the central nervous system. Graphic by C. Hale.



Figure 1.2 Drosophila larvae and adult escape response to a noxious thermal stimulus

A. Drosophila larvae carry out a 360-degree corkscrew roll when encountering a noxious stimulus.
Example shown is a thermal tipped heat probe set to 45 degrees Celsius with latency recorded. B.
Example of an adult *Drosophila* escape response to a noxious thermal stimulus in the form of a jump when encountering a noxiously heated surface with latency recorded. Graphic by C. Hale.



Figure 1.3 Schematic of Gal4/UAS system for tissue specific expression of gene/transgene Mating of an adult fly carrying the yeast Gal4 (activator) construct driven by a tissue specific promoter to another fly carrying the UAS (Upstream Activating Sequence) (responder) construct upstream a gene/transgene of interest results in F1 progeny having tissue specific expression of the gene/transgene of interest. Graphic by C. Hale.



Figure 1.4 Cellular signaling pathways known or hypothesized to be involved in *Drosophila* nociceptive sensitivity regulation

Genetic components found to be involved in the regulation of *Drosophila* nociceptive sensitivity are within the TNF (Tumor Necrosis Factor) signaling pathway (orange), HH (Hedgehog) signaling pathway (green) (except for the component Gish), Tk (Tachykinin) signaling pathway (maroon) and the BMP (Bone Morphogenetic Protein) signaling pathway (light grey) (except for the component, Groucho (Gro)). The BMP pathway components, Dly and Brk (light grey), are also known to also interact with the canonical Wnt/Wg (Wingless) signaling pathway (teal). Due to this crosstalk between the BMP and Wnt/Wg signaling pathways, it is hypothesized that components within the Wnt/Wg signaling pathway may also be involved in nociceptive sensitivity regulation and investigation into this pathway has been included within this dissertation. Components investigated include the canonical Wnt/Wg signaling

Figure 1.4, continued

transcriptional activator, Arm (found to positively regulate sensitivity in the absence of injury), the known BMP and Wnt/Wg signaling repressor, Gro, and the Hh and Wnt/Wg signaling facilitator, Gish. Graphic by C. Hale.



Figure 1.5 Purpose of research

Abnormal nociceptive sensitivity can lead to the heightened perception of pain, but questions remain of

the process of this development and its recovery. Graphic by C. Hale.

CHAPTER 2

2. INVESTIGATION OF THE REGULATION OF NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIVITY WITHOUT INJURY: ARMADILLO REGULATES NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIVITY IN THE ABSENCE OF INJURY

* The following chapter includes data and text included in the publication of a primary research article in the Journal of Molecular Pain (Hale, Moulton, et al., 2022). The text has been slightly modified along with the appendage of additional data and text included for the completeness of this dissertation. Corresponding authors with their affiliations and contributions are described within the Acknowledgements section of this chapter and referenced within figure legends.

2.1 Abstract

Abnormal pain has recently been estimated to affect ~50 million adults each year within the United States. With many treatment options for abnormal pain, such as opioid analgesics, carrying numerous deleterious side effects, research into safer and more effective treatment options is crucial. To help elucidate the mechanisms controlling nociceptive sensitivity, the *Drosophila melanogaster* larval nociception model has been used to characterize well-conserved pathways through the use of genetic modification and/or injury to alter the sensitivity of experimental animals. Mammalian models have provided evidence of β -catenin signaling involvement in neuropathic pain development. By capitalizing on the conserved nature of β -catenin functions in the fruit fly, here we describe a role for Armadillo, the fly homolog to mammalian β -catenin, in regulating baseline sensitivity in the primary nociceptor of the fly, in the absence of injury, using under- and over-expression of Armadillo in a cell-specific manner. Underexpression of Armadillo resulted in hyposensitivity, while overexpression of wild-type Armadillo or expression of a degradation-resistant Armadillo resulted in hypersensitivity. Neither underexpression nor overexpression of Armadillo resulted in dendritic morphological changes that could contribute to behavioral phenotypes observed. A significant behavioral response was also not found in knockdown of the Wnt/Wg and BMP signaling transcriptional repressor, Gro. Overexpression of the Wnt/Wg signaling pathway facilitator, Gish, however, resulted in hypersensitivity, while underexpression had mixed results. In summary, these results showed that focused manipulation of Armadillo expression within the nociceptors is sufficient to modulate baseline response in the nociceptors to a noxious stimulus and that these changes are not shown to be associated with a morphogenetic effect.

2.2 Introduction/Relevant Background

2.2.1 Chronic pain and the Drosophila melanogaster nociceptive sensitization model

Abnormal pain has recently been estimated to affect approximately 50 million adults each year within the United States (Dahlhamer et al., 2018; Yong et al., 2022; Zelaya et al., 2020). With many treatment options for abnormal pain, such as opioid analgesics, carrying numerous deleterious side effects (Benyamin et al., 2008), research into safer and more effective treatment options is crucial. Despite this need, new, successful drug development for abnormal pain has been laborious, mostly due to a lack of understanding into the mechanisms that control pain sensitivity (Reichling & Levine, 2009). Specialized peripheral sensory neurons, referred to here as nociceptors, which detect noxious stimuli, are the first responders to the threat of injury in the pain signaling pathway (Bessou & Perl, 1969; Gold & Gebhart, 2010). Sensitivity of the nociceptors can be increased, for example after injury, by reducing the threshold of activation required to trigger a response. However, if such nociceptive sensitization persists after the injury has healed, symptoms of hyperalgesia and allodynia can take root and give way to abnormal pain (Gold & Gebhart, 2010; Kosek et al., 2021; Nicholas et al., 2019; Scholz et al., 2019). When this type of pain persists/reoccurs for typically three to six months or more, it is commonly referred to as chronic, and can lead to a substantial decrease in quality of life and an increased threat for opioid addiction in these patients (Costanza et al., 2021; Groenewald et al., 2019; International Association for the Study of Pain Task Force on Taxonomy, 1994; Treede et al., 2015; Vowles et al.,

2015). The mechanisms by which nociceptive sensitivity is controlled warrant further study in order to reveal improved treatments for abnormal pain.

In recent years, Drosophila melanogaster has proven to be an exceptional in vivo model organism for the investigation of mechanisms of neurological diseases, such as Parkinson's or chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy, due to its relative organismal simplicity and powerful genetic toolkit (Boiko et al., 2017; del Valle Rodríguez et al., 2011; Feany & Bender, 2000). Fruit flies, like their human counterparts, exhibit a behavioral nociceptive response to noxious stimuli and can also develop nociceptive sensitization after injury, allowing for translatable modeling of allodynia and hyperalgesia, both known as possible symptoms of chronic pain (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im & Galko, 2012; Im et al., 2015; McParland et al., 2021). The nociceptors of the fruit fly have similar function and morphology to that of vertebrate counterparts; many genes underlying the perception of pain are conserved across species (Im & Galko, 2012; Khuong & Neely, 2013; Reiter et al., 2001). Additionally, there is an abundance of evidence demonstrating that fruit flies exhibit a variety of responses to encountered noxious stimuli, mostly centered around escape behaviors (Hwang et al., 2007; Sulkowski et al., 2011). Important pain discoveries made with this model are the roles of Painless (suggested to homologous to mammalian ANKTM1 and analogous in function to mammalian TRPV1 (Al-Anzi et al., 2006; Tracey Jr et al., 2003; Xu et al., 2006)), and identification of the Drosophila DEG/ENaC channel, Pickpocket (Ppk: similar to vertebrate epithelial sodium channels), which is known for sensing and reacting to harsh mechanical stimulation in the fly (Adams et al., 1998; Zhong et al., 2010). Studies have also shown that adult fruit flies possess a GABA-ergic mechanism of central pain regulation, similar to humans (Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019).

A nociceptive sensitization model has been developed utilizing *Drosophila* larvae, in which UVinjured and/or genetically modified animals become hyper or hypo-sensitive (Babcock et al., 2009).

Timepoints for increased sensitivity after UV injury were found to be at 8 hours for the larval hyperalgesia model, where animals were tested at the known noxious temperature of 45°C (Babcock et al., 2009). This peak hyperalgesia was then found to end by 24 hours, however, simultaneously, peak sensitivity for allodynia, where animals were tested at the threshold stimulus of 38°C (or 41°C in similar models), also occurred at the 24-hour mark and ended around 48 hours post UV injury (Babcock et al., 2009; Follansbee et al., 2017).

Using this model, the necessity and sufficiency of several biochemical signaling pathways such as Hedgehog (Hh), TNF-α (named Eiger in *Drosophila*), and BMP signaling pathways, functioning in the nociceptors, were revealed (Figure 1.4) (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im et al., 2015; McParland et al., 2021). Of the signaling pathways identified to be involved in nociceptive sensitivity in recent years (Figure 1.4), similarities, and connections standout between the Hh and BMP signaling pathways, beyond the results found for nociceptive sensitivity. The Hh and the BMP signaling pathway are both known to be deeply involved in embryogenesis, development, and cell homeostasis, and form morphogen gradients that help define tissue patterning and cell fate determination (Abe & Tanaka, 2017; Lu et al., 2015; Nakamura et al., 1997; Rahman et al., 2012; Rahman et al., 2014). This happens in part by signaling crosstalk with each other, sometimes synergistically and sometimes antagonistically (Abe & Tanaka, 2017; Nakamura et al., 1997; Papathanasiou et al., 2012; Rahman et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2006). In summary, discovery of each of these pathways has increased knowledge relating to the development of nociceptive sensitization (Figure 1.4). However, a full understanding of this mechanism, including the control of baseline nociceptor sensitivity, meaning the level of sensitivity in the absence of injury, is still elusive.

2.2.2 Wnt/Wg β-catenin/Armadillo signaling and mammalian pain models

Wnt/β-catenin, a highly conserved signaling pathway (Cadigan & Nusse, 1997; Komiya & Habas, 2008) described functionally as much by mammalian research as by research studying its Drosophila counterpart, Wg/Armadillo signaling, has been historically investigated for its roles in embryogenesis (Riggleman et al., 1990; van Amerongen et al., 2012) and cancer development (Khramtsov et al., 2010; Kobayashi et al., 2000). A main component in the Wnt/Wg signaling pathway, β -catenin, homolog to Drosophila Armadillo (Arm), is the intracellular transducer of canonical Wnt/Wg signaling, whereby its nuclear translocation results in transcriptional activation of Wnt/Wg target genes (Figure 2.1) (Komiya & Habas, 2008; Peifer, Sweeton, et al., 1994; Van de Wetering et al., 1997). In the absence of the Wnt/Wg ligand, β -catenin/Arm protein levels are reduced within the cytoplasm by a two-step kinase-destruction complex, which phosphorylates β -catenin/Arm for subsequent ubiquitination and proteosome degradation (Figure 2.1) (Amit et al., 2002; Komiya & Habas, 2008; Liu et al., 2002; Peifer, Pai, et al., 1994; Stamos & Weis, 2013; Yanagawa et al., 2002). In Drosophila, this Arm destruction complex is made up of the inhibitory binding proteins: Axin (Axn), APC-like (Apc) and Adenomatous polyposis coli 2(Apc2), which form a binding scaffold with the kinases: Casein Kinase I alpha ($Ckl\alpha$), a serine/threonine kinase which phosphorylates Arm initially, and then the glycogen synthase kinase 3, Shaggy (Sgg), which phosphorylates Arm a second time, setting Arm up for ubiguitination and subsequent proteasome degradation when canonical Wg signaling is turned off (Figures 1.4 & 2.1) (Ahmed et al., 1998; Bejsovec, 2013; Hamada et al., 1999; Komiya & Habas, 2008; Peifer, Pai, et al., 1994; Peifer, Sweeton, et al., 1994; Perrimon, 1994; Stamos & Weis, 2013; Waghmare & Page-McCaw, 2018; Welsh et al., 1996; Yanagawa et al., 2000; Yanagawa et al., 2002; Yu et al., 1999). When canonical Wg signaling is turned on by the binding of a Wnt/Wg ligand (either Wingless (Wg), Wnt2, or Wnt6) to the Frizzled (Fz) and/or Frizzled 2 (Fz2) cell-surface receptor, Dishevelled (Dsh) is activated and binds to components within the destruction complex at the same time that Axin within the destruction complex also binds to the LDL

receptor-related protein, Arrow (Arr), (which functions as an obligate Wg co-receptor) (Figure 1.4) (Bejsovec, 2013; Cadigan & Nusse, 1997; Doumpas et al., 2013; Kennerdell & Carthew, 1998; Komiya & Habas, 2008; Llimargas & Lawrence, 2001; Noordermeer et al., 1994; Schaefer et al., 2018; Stamos & Weis, 2013; Tolwinski et al., 2003). Gilgamesh (Gish), a plasma membrane associated kinase orthologous to mammalian CK1γ1, has also been found to positively regulate Wnt/Wg signaling and assist in the inactivation of the Arm destruction complex through phosphorylation of Arrow (Figure 1.4) (Davidson et al., 2005; Hummel et al., 2002; Verheyen & Gottardi, 2010; Zhang et al., 2006). This inactivation of the destruction complex at the membrane all allows Arm protein levels to increase in the cytoplasm and then enter the nucleus to regulate transcription (Figures 1.4 & 2.1) (Hsu et al., 1998; Huber et al., 1996; Städeli et al., 2006).

In the rodent, β -catenin expression is upregulated in the spinal cord/ dorsal horn (Itokazu et al., 2014; Yuan et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2020), and dorsal root ganglia (DRG) (Zhang et al., 2021; Zhao & Yang, 2018) in neuropathic pain states. In a study including a mouse model of bone cancer (tumor implantation) pain and rat sciatic nerve injury (chronic constriction injury), Wnt/ β -catenin signaling was found to be upregulated in the spinal cord and superficial spinal cord dorsal horn (Zhang et al., 2013). Within this same study, complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) injection (to induce peripheral inflammation) was found to increase β -catenin expression within the rat spinal cord one day after the onset of mechanical allodynia (Zhang et al., 2013). In mouse model studies using either a partial sciatic nerve ligation (PSL), spared nerve injury (SNI), or multiple sclerosis model of chronic pain (subjects are inflicted with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE)), β -catenin was also found to also be significantly upregulated in its expression in the spinal cord/spinal cord dorsal horn (Itokazu et al., 2014; Yuan et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2020). When studies focused on the dorsal root ganglia (DRG) specifically, within rat nerve injury models of either a chronic compression of dorsal root ganglia (DRG) specifically.

constriction injury, β -catenin was also found to be significantly upregulated (Zhang et al., 2021; Zhao & Yang, 2018).

In these studies where neuropathic injury has been shown to lead to increased mechanical (Itokazu et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2021; Yuan et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2020) and thermal/cold (Zhao & Yang, 2018) sensitivity in behavioral assays, attenuation of this hypersensitivity was also achieved through local administration of pharmacological Wnt/ β -catenin signaling inhibitors. This points toward a therapeutic role for local Wnt/ β -catenin pathway blockade in the management of neuropathic pain. Paradoxically, when β -catenin was knocked out in a subset of DRG sensory neurons, the nociceptors, no changes in baseline nociceptive sensitivity were observed (Simonetti et al., 2014).

2.2.3 Aims of this study

The Hh, BMP, and Wnt/Wg signaling pathway are known to carry out extensive crosstalk through their various genetic components in mechanisms such as those involved in development and also those contributing to disease progression, such as cartilage degradation in osteoarthritis and gastrointestinal cancers (Katoh & Katoh, 2006; Okamoto et al., 2014; Papathanasiou et al., 2012; Rahman et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2006). Given this known crosstalk, the involvement of several components within the Hh and BMP signaling pathways shown to be involved in injury-induced nociceptive sensitization in the fly (Babcock et al., 2011; Brann, 2018; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; McParland et al., 2021), and prior mammalian investigations implicating Wnt/β-catenin involvement in neuropathic pain (Itokazu et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2021; Yuan et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2020; Zhao & Yang, 2018), investigation into to the role of Wg/Arm signaling in the fly is warranted.

By capitalizing on the conserved nature of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in the fruit fly (White et al., 1998) and the previously validated fruit fly model for investigating nociception (Babcock et al., 2009;

Babcock et al., 2011; Tracey Jr et al., 2003), this study sought to determine the role of Arm in regulating sensitivity in a specific neuron, the primary nociceptor of the fly, in the absence of injury, using experimental under- and over-expression of Arm in a cell-specific manner. Validation of both BMP and Wg signaling involvement in controlling nociceptor sensitivity was also further investigated through under-expression of their common transcriptional repressor, Groucho (Gro), in the absence of injury (Figure 1.4) (Cavallo et al., 1998; Hasson et al., 2001). Investigation was also conducted in the absence of injury through under- and over- expression of the known Wnt/Wg facilitator, Gish, which is also a known positive facilitator of Hh signaling (Figure 1.4) (Davidson et al., 2005; Hummel et al., 2002; Li et al., 2016; Verheyen & Gottardi, 2010; Zhang et al., 2006).

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Fly husbandry

Flies were obtained from the Bloomington *Drosophila* Stock Center (BDSC) in Bloomington, Indiana and maintained in 6 oz stock bottles containing sucrose-cornmeal-yeast medium. Bottles were stored at ambient room temperature and kept between 45-60% humidity. Apart from lines used for MiMIC analysis, genotypes used in experiments were prepared using the Gal4/UAS (Brand & Perrimon, 1993; Duffy, 2002) system with the following Gal4 driver lines featuring the *pickpocket* (Adams et al., 1998; Ainsley et al., 2003; Zhong et al., 2010) promoter: *ppk1.9-GAL4* (in *w*¹¹¹⁸) for thermal nociception assays and *ppk1.9-Gal4*, *UAS-mCD8-GFP* (in *yw*) for neuromorphometric analysis, immunohistochemistry, CTCF and Integrated Density analysis. Transgenic lines included: *UAS-arm.S10* (Pai et al., 1996; Pai et al., 1997) (in *y*¹*w*¹¹¹⁸) (BDSC_4782), *UAS-arm.S2* (Orsulic & Peifer, 1996; Pai et al., 1997) (in *y*^{1*w*¹¹¹⁸) (BDSC_4783; for behavior experiments, we swapped the balancer within our lab to TM6b for its Tb marker visible in larvae), *UAS-arm-IR-1* (Perkins et al., 2015) (in *y*^{1*v*¹}) (BDSC_31304), *MiMICarm^{M08675}* (Nagarkar-Jaiswal et al., 2015)}

(BDSC_44994), *UAS-gro-IR-1* (Perkins et al., 2015) (in y^1v^1) (BDSC_35759), *UAS-gro-IR-2* (Zirin et al., 2020) (in y^1v^1) (BDSC_91407), *UAS-gish-IR-1* (in y^1v^1) (Perkins et al., 2015) (BDSC_28066), *UAS-gish-IR-2* (in y^1v^1) (Perkins et al., 2015) (BDSC_35138), *UAS-gish-myc* (Gish-OE) (in w^{*}) (Gault et al., 2012) (BDSC_41764), and *ppk1.9-tdTomato*. Wild-type fly lines and control lines for TRiP (Perkins et al., 2015; Zirin et al., 2020) RNAi lines used were: w^{1118} (BDSC_3605), y^1v^1 (BDSC_36303), and y^1w^{1118} (BDSC_6598). Each Gal4/UAS genotype used in thermal nociception assays was compared to two controls: one with the genetic background (w^{1118}) of the Gal4 driver crossed with the UAS transgenic line (No Gal4 control) and one with the Gal4 driver line crossed to the genetic background (either y^1v^1 , w^{1118} , or y^1w^{1118}) of the UAS transgenic line (No UAS control). The Gal4/UAS system allows over- or under- expression of a given target gene in a specific cell type, determined by the Gal4 driver (Figure 1.3) (Brand & Perrimon, 1993). In these experiments, the Gal4 driver used was *ppk1.9-Gal4*, which selects the dendritic arborization neurons known as Class IV multidendritic neurons, well characterized as primary nociceptors (Hwang et al., 2007; Im & Galko, 2012).

2.3.2 Ultraviolet-C irradiation injury

Ultraviolet-C irradiation injury was conducted on foraging, 3rd instar *Drosophila* larvae. Around 10-20 larvae at a time were rinsed in water and anesthetized within a wire-mesh bottomed container, placed within a glass Coplin jar with a cotton ball that had been saturated in ~ 1.5 mL of diethyl ether. Animals were kept within the anesthetization chamber ≤ 4 minutes. Anesthetized larvae were then place dorsal side up on a microscope slide (moving larvae were removed before irradiation) and exposed to 14-21 mJ/cm2 of UV-C irradiation using a Spectronics Corporation Spectrolinker XL-1000 ultraviolet crosslinker. UV dosage was measured for each round of irradiation using a Spectronics Corporation Spectroline XS-254 UV-C photometer. After UV exposure, larvae were gently rinsed with water in a petri

dish, collected, and placed in a glass vial containing approximately 1 mL of fly food. Vials were then stored in an incubator for 24 hours at 25°C before the 41°C behavioral assay for allodynia.

2.3.3 Thermal nociception assays

Foraging third instar larvae were assayed by methods validated previously (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann, 2018; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Tracey Jr et al., 2003). In these nociception assays, the dorsal side of the larval epidermis (midline between abdominal segments A4-A6) was lightly touched by a thermal tipped heat probe (ProDev Engineering, Missouri City, Texas) set to the previously determined noxious temperature of 45°C (Babcock et al., 2009) to assess normal nociception (or 41°C for injury-induced allodynia). The operator was blind to genotype and behavior was evaluated within a 20 s (Babcock et al., 2009) timeframe for latency of larval nocifensive escape behavior, characterized as a corkscrew rolling response, with time of response or no response recorded (Hwang et al., 2007).

2.3.4 Immunohistochemistry

Third instar larvae expressing GFP within their nociceptors (via *ppk-Gal4, UAS-mCD8-GFP*), were filleted as previously described (Follansbee et al., 2017) and immediately fixed by 30-min incubation at room temperature (RT) with ice-cold 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate buffered saline solution (PBS). Fixation was followed by washes in 0.3%-1.0% PBT (1% Triton X-100 in PBS for anti-c-MYC and anti-Gro experiments and 0.3% Triton X-100 in PBS for anti-Arm experiments), which included two 1-min washes, one 10-min wash, and one 1-hr wash at RT. Washed fillets were then blocked using PBT-B (0.3% Triton X-100 + 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) + PBS) for at least 1 hr at RT. After initial blocking, fillets were incubated overnight at 4°C using gentle rotation with either mouse anti-Arm (DSHB Hybridoma Product N2 7A1 Armadillo) (Riggleman et al., 1990) for *arm.S2* and *arm-IR-1* experiments at a dilution of 1:200 in

PBT-B, or mouse anti-c-MYC (DSHB Hybridoma Product 9E 10-s) (Evan et al., 1985) for *arm.S10* and *arm.S2* experiments at a dilution of 1:10 in PBT-B, or mouse anti-Gro (DSHB Hybridoma Product anti-Gro supernatant) (Delidakis et al., 1991) for *gro-IR-1* experiment at a dilution of 1:100 in PBT-B. Overnight incubation was followed by two 30-min washes in PBT-B with rotation and then a second blocking for 1 hr using fresh PBT-B + 5% normal goat serum (NGS) at RT. Following the second blocking, fillets were incubated for 2 hrs at RT with the fluorescently conjugated secondary antibody, goat anti-mouse AlexaFluor-647 (Catalog#: A-21236, Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Inc), diluted to 1:500 in PBT-B + 5% NGS. Fillets were then washed three times in 0.3% PBT (0.3% Triton X-100 in PBS) for 30-min, followed by two washes for 2 min with PBS. Fillets were mounted onto slides using Vectashield Antifade Mounting Medium with DAPI (H-1200, Vector Laboratories) for nuclear staining and kept in the dark at 4°C.

2.3.5 Imaging and CTCF Analysis

Nociceptors from third instar larvae fillets prepared for fluorescent analysis by immunohistochemistry were imaged with a Leica TCS SP5 scanning laser confocal microscope using a 40x oil objective and a HyD detector. *Z* stacks were obtained with a 0.38µm step size, a scan format of 1024 x 1024, and, for the channel to be quantified, using uniform acquisition settings across experimental and control samples for smart gain, laser power, zoom, frame averaging, and pinhole. In an effort to comply with previously described ethical and appropriate biological imaging procedures (Cromey, 2010) and to avoid any misrepresentations in fluorescence intensity, significant efforts were taken to avoid the saturation of pixels during image acquisition for the fluorescence channels to be quantified. In this effort to remain below pixel saturation, yet also keep image acquisition settings constant across all samples and treatments within an experiment, fluorescence signal in some samples was obtained at much lower laser power output than if they were imaged independently. For example,

No UAS sample images for anti-Arm in Figure 2.3 were acquired at a scanning confocal laser power output of 14%, however, the No UAS sample images for anti-Arm in Figure 2.4 had to be acquired at a lower laser power output of 4% due to the higher intensity of fluorescence in the arm.S2 line for anti-Arm. Using Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012), five z-slices toward the mid-section of each nociceptor z-stack were sum projected and then cropped to remove the majority of dendritic structures and display the nociceptor soma primarily. Additionally, within Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012), masks were made from these cropped sum projections that corresponded to either the nucleus, visualized by DAPI fluorescence, or the soma, visualized by GFP fluorescence, to obtain regions of interest (ROIs) specific to that portion of the cell. To keep mask generation steps consistent across all samples and eliminate selection bias as much as possible, a macro was recorded in Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012) for semi-automation and is available upon request. Any overlapping nuclei (visualized by DAPI) surrounding the nociceptor were also masked and made into an ROI which was then cleared from each soma and nuclear mask before obtaining the final ROIs used for measurement, to account for any anti-Arm, anti-Gro, or anti-c-MYC fluorescence that could arise from cells close to the nociceptor. Nuclear, cytoplasm, and soma ROIs were then used to measure area and integrated density in Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012) for anti-Arm, anti-Gro or anti-c-MYC fluorescence within the cropped sum projections and corrected total cellular fluorescence (CTCF) was calculated using the following calculation described previously (McCloy et al., 2014). The formula for CTCF is: CTCF= Integrated density - (Area of selected cell x Mean fluorescence of background readings) (McCloy et al., 2014). The mean fluorescence of background was the average of three mean fluorescence measurements obtained using images of larval fillet controls that did not receive the primary antibody (anti-Arm or anti-Gro), or those samples that did not express the c-MYC protein endogenously (No UAS samples in the anti-c-MYC experiment). To verify that antibody fluorescence signal was statistically above background levels in anti-Arm and anti-Gro experiments, we compared integrated density (the product of area and mean gray value) measurements obtained in Fiji (Schindelin
et al., 2012) (using the ROIs generated by masks for soma, cytoplasm, and nucleus of each sample) for No 1°Ab controls and No UAS controls. The CTCF and Integrated Density for each sample/group was then averaged and a Student's t test with Welch's correction was applied or, in situations where the Shapiro-Wilk test indicated that the data were not normally distributed, a Mann-Whitney U test was applied. CTCF and Integrated Density statistical analysis tests were carried out using Microsoft Excel (version 2104 and 2204) with the Real Statistics Resource Pack software package (Release 7.6), Copyright (2013-2021) Charles Zaiontz, www.real-statistics.com) and R statistical coding software (R Core Team, 2021). Representative images used in figures were sum-projected with the same 5 z-slices used in analysis, cropped with uniform area, and adjusted for brightness/contrast uniformly within the channel being quantitated across all conditions since laser level/gain was kept low to prevent saturation during acquisition. DAPI is shown with the lookup table "cyan hot", and anti-Arm, anti-Gro, anti-c-MYC are shown with the lookup table "magenta", in Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012). Representative CTCF images shown are within one standard deviation of the average soma CTCF calculation/group. Arm::GFP/ppktdTomato was imaged using the 63x oil objective on a third-instar larva anesthetized in halocarbonether mixture (2:1) and placed on a microscope slide with glass coverslip for live imaging. The z-stack acquired with a 0.34µm step size was then max projected and cropped using Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012) with brightness/contrast settings adjusted for clarity.

2.3.6 Neuromorphometry

To determine if observed behavioral phenotypes were associated with changes in neuromorphology of the class IV multidendritic neurons targeted, neurons were measured *in vivo* for total dendritic length, dendritic branching, and changes to the dendritic arbor through Sholl analysis (Sholl, 1953). Third instar larvae measuring 4.0 to 4.5 mm in length were anesthetized with ether for up to 4 minutes then placed within a halocarbon-ether mixture (2:1) on a microscope slide and covered

with a 22 x 50 mm glass coverslip for live imaging. Using a Leica TCS SP5 scanning laser confocal microscope and a HyD detector, nociceptors were imaged between abdominal segments 4–6. Z-stacks were collected using the 20x (NA 0.7) dry objective, a resolution of 1024 x 1024, and a z-stack step-size of 0.88 µm. Max projections (carried out in Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012)) of images were exported as tifs to Jasc[®] Paint Shop Pro[™] (Version 7.04) and/or the Superimpose X Neo for iPad (1.5.2). Within these programs, axons, and background autofluorescence of non-quantifying structures (such as denticle belts) were removed from images and dendrites were traced (Sears & Broihier, 2016) over at disjointed, low intensity pixel areas where due to low signal, decreasing threshold would introduce an excess of noise surrounding the dendrite and increasing threshold would result in the introduction of gaps that would need to be manually reconstructed (Stanko et al., 2015). For analysis of dendritic length and dendritic branching, these images were then thresholded, skeletonized, and measured via the AnalyzeSkeleton (2D/3D) plugin (Arganda-Carreras et al., 2010) in Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012) as previously described with modification for neuromorphometric quantification (lyer et al., 2013). Output data from the AnalyzeSkeleton analysis was compiled via Python scripts prior to import into Microsoft Excel (version 2104) for statistical analysis. For Sholl analysis (Sholl, 1953), images were analyzed using the Sholl analysis plugin (T. A. Ferreira et al., 2014) in Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012) by methods described previously (T. Ferreira et al., 2014;). Representative images have been cropped to the nociceptor of interest, shown without color and the lookup table, "Invert LUT", in Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012) applied for clearer visualization of dendrites.

2.3.7 Statistics

Thermal nociception assays were plotted as percent accumulated response vs. latency where an end-point cut-off of 20 s was applied and latency in seconds recorded. After applying a binary variable to the data based on 'response' or 'no response' at the 20 s cut-off time, statistical analysis of latency of

response between all behavioral data groups was completed using log-rank analysis and applying Benjamini and Hochberg procedure for multiple testing. In neuromorphometrical pairwise comparisons, average dendritic branch length and average number of branches were evaluated using a Student's *t* test with Welch's correction. Sholl profile data was found to not be normally distributed via Shapiro-Wilk test and so pairwise comparison was evaluated via the Mann-Whitney *U* test. CTCF and Integrated density analysis was analyzed by a Student's *t* test with Welch's correction, or the Mann-Whitney *U* test as described previously. Log-rank analysis was performed using R statistical coding software (R Core Team, 2021) and applying the 'survival' analysis package (Therneau, 2020). All other statistical tests and plots were carried out using Microsoft Excel (version 2104 and 2204) and the Real Statistics Resource Pack software package (Release 7.6), Copyright (2013-2021) Charles Zaiontz, www.real-statistics.com).

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Arm underexpression within nociceptors

Since Arm is known to activate transcription of canonical Wnt/Wg signaling target genes (Komiya & Habas, 2008; Peifer, Sweeton, et al., 1994; Van de Wetering et al., 1997) and Wnt/β-catenin signaling has been shown to regulate neuropathic pain development in mammals after injury (Itokazu et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2020; Zhao & Yang, 2018), we sought to assess whether underexpression of Arm within the nociceptors would result in a decrease in nociceptive sensitivity in the absence of injury. This assessment can be easily carried out in the fly using validated, thermal nociception assay techniques (Figure 2.2A) (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Hwang et al., 2007; Tracey Jr et al., 2003).

We confirmed that Arm is expressed within third instar larval nociceptors using the MiMIC method (Nagarkar-Jaiswal et al., 2015) (Figure 2.2B), in which GFP is fused with the Arm coding region and subject to the same regulation as the normal gene. The functionality of the resulting Arm::GFP

fusion protein is indicated by the observation that flies homozygous for this construct are viable. Imaged in live anaesthetized larvae, punctate GFP expression is visible in nociceptor somata and neurites, indicated by *ppk1.9-tdTomato* expression, as well as the neurites of other unidentified neurons (Figure 2.2B). Since our analysis using these MiMIC images did not include fluorescence quantification but rather protein localization, efforts to maintain pixel saturation were not stringently followed.

Next, we used Gal4/UAS cell targeting (Figure 1.3) and RNA interference technology (*arm-IR-1* and *arm-IR-2*) to reduce Arm expression, specifically in the nociceptors. Confirmation of Arm expression and knockdown (*arm-IR-1*) within the nociceptors of animals was obtained through immunofluorescent quantification of Arm protein via use of a previously validated Arm antibody (Riggleman et al., 1990) and rigorous comparison techniques. Effort was taken to avoid pixel saturation and image acquisition settings were kept constant in the fluorescence channel quantified across all conditions. Results showed a significant decrease in anti-Arm fluorescent signal in the nociceptor somata of *arm-IR-1* animals, compared to control animals (Figure 2.3A-C). Results also showed a significantly higher anti-Arm fluorescent signal in nociceptor somata of No UAS animals, compared to No 1°Ab controls (Figure 2.3C).

arm-IR-1 animals were then compared to controls for thermal nociception response to a noxious 45°C temperature probe, by evaluation of nocifensive behavior in the absence of injury (Figure 2.3D), within a 20 s timeframe (Babcock et al., 2009). *arm-IR-1* animals showed a significant decrease in nocifensive response when compared to controls (Figure 2.3D). Concerns that off-target effects caused this phenotype are reduced by analysis of a second non-overlapping Arm IR line (*arm-IR-2*) which also showed a significant decrease in nociceptive sensitivity (Figure 2.3E). Though our primary focus was investigation of Arm involvement in nociceptor sensitivity in the absence of injury, we also carried out preliminary experiments, with a smaller sample size in some groups, on third instar larvae for UV injury-induced allodynia when Arm was knocked down within the nociceptors (*arm-IR-1*) (See Appendix 1). *arm-IR-1* animals were injured by ultraviolet (UV) irradiation and behaviorally assayed for nocifensive

response, 24 hours post injury with a thermal tipped heat probe set to 41°C (Babcock et al., 2009; Follansbee et al., 2017). These preliminary experiments did not result in significant findings when comparing injured experimental animals (*arm-IR-1*) to both of the injured control groups (See Appendix 1).

2.4.2 Arm overexpression via arm.S2

To compare with the underexpression study described above, we then evaluated Arm's capacity to control nociceptor sensitivity by overexpressing Arm protein. We did this by driving expression of a wild-type Arm protein (Arm.S2) (Orsulic & Peifer, 1996; Pai et al., 1997) within the nociceptors specifically. Resulting overexpression, compared to controls, was confirmed through immunofluorescent quantification using anti-Arm in fixed tissue (Figure 2.4A-C) as above. Effort was again taken to avoid pixel saturation and image acquisition settings were kept constant in the fluorescence channel quantified across all conditions. This effort resulted in lower laser intensity output being used in image acquisition than the previous Arm-IR-1 IHC experiment, due to the increase in fluorescence intensity for the Arm.S2 anti-Arm signal. Results, however, still showed a significantly higher anti-Arm fluorescent significant anti-Arm signal above background in normal animals. The expression of the Arm.S2 protein significantly increases Arm expression in both the cytoplasm and nucleus of the nociceptor (Figure 2.4A-B). Thermal nociceptor assays at 45°C were then carried out and showed that the animals expressing increased nociceptor Arm levels (*arm.S2*), and in the absence of injury, responded significantly faster, compared to their specific control lines (Figure 2.4D).

2.4.3 Arm overexpression via arm.S10

In an effort to explore the effects of an Arm trafficking environment similar to that produced when Wnt/Wg signaling is activated (Figure 2.1), we carried out experiments (Fig 2.5) using a transgenic line expressing a mutant Arm protein (Arm.S10), in which regions within the N terminus needed for phosphorylation and ubiquitination had been deleted (Pai et al., 1996; Pai et al., 1997). Since these deletions overlap regions of the epitope targeted by the anti-Arm monoclonal antibody used above (Pai et al., 1996; Pai et al., 1997; Riggleman et al., 1990; Tolwinski & Wieschaus, 2001), the expression of the Arm.S10 protein within the nociceptors was confirmed via treatment of fixed tissue with a c-MYC antibody (Evan et al., 1985; Pai et al., 1996; Pai et al., 1997; Tolwinski & Wieschaus, 2001) (Figure 2.5A-B) targeting Arm.S10's c-MYC tag. Since Arm.S2 (Orsulic & Peifer, 1996; Pai et al., 1997) is likewise tagged with c-MYC, we also compared expression levels of these two modified Arm proteins, Arm.S2 and Arm.S10 and found that Arm.S2 is the more highly expressed in this context (Figure 2.5A-B). Both modified protein constructs significantly increased overall Arm levels in the nociceptor nuclei and cytoplasm (Figure 2.5A-B). Thermal nociception assays at 45°C showed that animals expressing *arm.S10* within their nociceptors responded significantly faster than normal controls in the absence of injury (Figure 2.5C).

2.4.4 Arm influence on nociceptor morphology

We investigated the possibility that the nociceptors of larvae with altered expression of Wnt/Wg signaling and Arm activity may also have altered nociceptor morphology and that by this mechanism, adjustment of Arm expression could lead to physiological changes in nociceptor sensitivity, in the absence of injury. Nociceptors within animals expressing either a transgene knocking down expression of Arm within the nociceptors (*arm-IR-1*) or expressing a constitutively active form of Arm within the nociceptors (*arm-IR-1*), were analyzed for dendritic number, length, and dendritic arbor complexity

(Sholl analysis) (Sholl, 1953) (Figures 2.6 & 2.7). Nociceptors expressing neither *arm-IR-1* (Figure 2.6) nor *arm.S10* (Figure 2.7) showed any statistical difference in dendritic length, number of dendrites, or dendritic arbor complexity when compared to controls.

2.4.5 Gro underexpression within nociceptors

We also knocked down the expression of Gro (Groucho), known to repress the transcription of Wnt/Wg and BMP target genes (Figure 2.8) within the nociceptors of uninjured animals (Cavallo et al., 1998; Hasson et al., 2001). Confirmation of Gro knockdown (via *gro-IR-1*) was obtained through immunofluorescent quantification of Gro protein using a previously validated Gro antibody (Apidianakis et al., 2001; Delidakis et al., 1991) in fixed larval tissues (Figure 2.9A-C). Effort was again taken to avoid pixel saturation and image acquisition settings were kept constant in the fluorescence channel quantified across all conditions. Gro was found to be significantly reduced in expression exclusively within the nuclei of nociceptors in animals expressing *gro-IR-1*, compared to control animals (Figure 2.9A-B). Results also showed a significantly higher anti-Gro fluorescent signal in the nociceptor somata of the No UAS control animals when compared to No 1°Ab controls animals (Figure 2.9C), indicating significant signal against background. *Gro-IR-1* animals, in the absence of injury, were then compared to controls for baseline thermal nociception response to a noxious 45°C temperature and showed no significant differences in nocifensive response (Figure 2.9D). A second, uninjured, non-overlapping Gro-IR (*gro-IR-2*) line was also behaviorally tested and showed similar results (Figure 2.9E).

2.4.6 Gish over- and under- expression in the nociceptors

We continued our investigation of Wnt/Wg signaling influences on nociceptor sensitivity by then also examining whether overexpression of another positive regulator of canonical Wnt/Wg signaling and Hh signaling, the component: Gish, would result in an increase in nociceptive sensitivity, in the absence

of injury. Results of our thermal tipped heat probe assay at 45°C showed there to be a significant increase in nocifensive response of those animals with Gish overexpressed (via *gish-OE*) in their nociceptors when compared to control animals (Figure 2.10A). We then sought to complement this overexpression investigation with Gish underexpression (via *gish-IR*) within the nociceptor. Based on our *gish-OE* results, we hypothesized that animals with *gish-IR* within the nociceptors would result in a decrease in behavioral thermal hypersensitivity. However, results from our thermal tipped heat probe assay at 45°C on un-injured animals where Gish had been knocked down in their nociceptors (via *gish-IR-1* and *gish-IR-2*), showed mixed results (Figure 2.10B-C). *gish-IR-1* was found to show no significant difference in latency when compared to its controls (Figure 2.10B), but *gish-IR-2* showed a significant decrease in response latency over time when compared to both of its controls (Figure 2.10C).

2.5 Discussion

β-catenin, the closest mammalian homolog of *Drosophila* Armadillo (Arm), and the Wnt signaling pathway have been shown to be upregulated during the development of neuropathic pain in mammals (Itokazu et al., 2014; Yuan et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2020), and locally administered blockers of Wnt/Wg signaling produces relief of neuropathic pain (Itokazu et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2021; Yuan et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2020; Zhao & Yang, 2018). However, baseline pain sensitivity is unaltered by nociceptor-specific knockout of β-catenin in a mammalian model (Simonetti et al., 2014). We sought to shed light on the relationship between β-catenin's various functions and baseline pain using a simplified model system, the fly.

Of the numerous gene candidates previously identified as controlling nociceptor sensitivity in fruit flies, the glypican, Dally (Tsuda et al., 1999), a potentiator of Wnt/Wg signaling, was found to be required in the nociceptor for nociceptive sensitization after injury (Figure 1.4) (Brann et al., 2019). Also, the transcription factor, Brinker, a negative regulator of BMP signaling in the fly and known to

antagonize Wg/Wnt signaling (Saller et al., 2002), suppresses nociceptive sensitivity (Figure 1.4) (McParland et al., 2021). The findings reported here contribute further evidence consistent with the idea that β-catenin/Arm signaling affects nociceptor sensitivity in the fly by demonstrating that Arm, demonstrated here to be expressed within class IV da neurons, or nociceptors, of *Drosophila* larvae (Fig 3B), is capable of controlling nociceptive sensitivity in the absence of injury.

Though prior studies have shown the necessity of other pathways such as Hedgehog, TNF- α /Eiger, and BMP pathways for UV injury-induced nociceptive sensitization in the fly (Figure 1.4) (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im et al., 2015; McParland et al., 2021), and the TRP channels Painless (Tracey Jr et al., 2003; Xu et al., 2006) and dTRPA1(Viswanath et al., 2003), and Anoctamin Family channel Subdued (Jang et al., 2015) for maintenance of nociceptor sensitivity, there are potentially aspects of the nociceptor sensitivity mechanism that have been largely unexplored. By testing behavioral response latencies at a known noxious temperature of 45°C (Babcock et al., 2009), our results reveal a cell-specific requirement for Arm in maintaining nociceptor sensitivity in the absence of injury or illness. This requirement was demonstrated by significant increase in latencies observed in un-injured animals with Arm knocked down specifically within their nociceptors by two non-overlapping RNAi constructs, compared to normal control animals (Figure 2.3D-E). The results of behavioral testing of animals in which Arm is reduced specifically in the nociceptor indicate that the less Arm is available, the lower the nociceptive sensitivity, compared to normal controls.

Preliminary experiments were also undertaken within this study to investigate Arm and its role in UV injury-induced allodynia. Allodynia is described as nociceptive sensitivity distinguished by when something not normally noxious becomes so and is typically investigated by behaviorally assaying animal models using a stimulus that is just below threshold. In regard to a *Drosophila* UV injury-induced allodynia model, this below threshold temperature used in thermal allodynia nociception assays is 41°C

(Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Follansbee et al., 2017). As such, we tested arm-IR-1 animals 24 hours post UV injury for heat avoidance at the below threshold temperature of 41°C. Results from these preliminary experiments showed no significant difference in injured arm-IR-1 animals when compared to both injured controls (Appendix 1). Though a lower sample number was used than with other thermal nociception assays and only one IR line was utilized, these results do argue the possibility that Arm in the nociceptors is not involved in injury-induced thermal allodynia within the fruit fly. There are some prior mammalian studies that have uncovered a role for Wnt/β -catenin signaling in mechanical and/or thermal sensitivity after injury, however, manipulations and investigations of the pathway involvement within these studies were not necessarily cell-specific and included multiple tissues/cells (Itokazu et al., 2014; Yuan et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2020; Zhao & Yang, 2018). Within a few of these mammalian studies, evidence was uncovered as to the importance of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway and glial cell activation in the development of neuropathic pain (Itokazu et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2013). It is therefore possible that Wg/Arm signaling manipulation would need to be carried out in cells other than, or in addition to, the nociceptors to achieve significant findings of Arm's involvement in injury-induced allodynia. It is also possible for Wg/Arm involvement in injury induced mechanical allodynia and not necessarily injury induced thermal allodynia, or that Wg/Arm signaling is connected to activation of the TRP channel, dTrpA1, in hyperalgesia development and not activation of the TRP channel, Painless, known for its role in allodynia (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011). Remarkably, in contrast to the cell un-specific mammalian studies referenced, it has also been shown in a mouse model for tumor evoked pain, where β -catenin signaling was targeted specifically in the nociceptors, that β -catenin signaling was not involved in either mechanical or thermal hypersensitivity (Simonetti et al., 2014).

In contrast to our Arm IR experiments carried out in the absence of injury, when additional wildtype Arm (*arm.S2*) was expressed in the nociceptors, animals showed a genetically induced hyperalgesia

response, or enhanced response to a normally noxious stimulus, in the absence of injury (Figure 2.4D). As an additional means of elevating Arm activity, we also employed Arm.S10, in which regions within the N-terminus necessary for phosphorylation and ubiquitination had been deleted, increasing the protein's resistance to degradation (Orsulic & Peifer, 1996; Pai et al., 1996; Pai et al., 1997). This manipulation mimics the reduction in Arm degradation that prevails when Wnt/Wg signaling is activated (Pai et al., 1997; Stamos & Weis, 2013; Yanagawa et al., 2002). Consistent with the results of *arm.S2* expression, expression of *arm.S10* transgene in the nociceptors of uninjured animals also produced behavioral hypersensitivity (Figure 2.5C), despite the lower resulting abundance of Arm.S10 relative to Arm.S2, as compared by immunodetection of the c-MYC tag featured in both constructs (Figure 2.5A-B). Taken together, results of behavioral testing of uninjured animals in which the Arm level was experimentally elevated specifically in the nociceptor indicate that the more Arm is available, the higher the nociceptive sensitivity, compared to normal controls.

When nociceptors either under-expressing Arm (via *arm-IR-1*) or expressing an additional c-MYC tagged form of Arm (via *arm.S10*) were evaluated for changes in dendritic morphology from uninjured animals, no significant morphological changes were found (Figures 2.6 & 2.7). These morphometric analysis results were notable considering that Wnt/Wg signaling is known to be involved in neuronal development and neurogenesis (Ciani & Salinas, 2005; Hirsch et al., 2007; Packard et al., 2002). β -catenin has furthermore been shown in mammalian hippocampal neurons to influence dendrite morphogenesis through its role in the cadherin-catenin complex, influencing actin cytoskeleton stabilization and cell-cell adhesion, a role separate from β -catenin's role in the canonical Wnt signaling pathway (Rosso et al., 2005; Yu & Malenka, 2003). Our findings that Arm manipulation has no detected effect on dendritic morphology are inconsistent with those prior studies in mammals, perhaps due to factors such as species differences, differences in cell type and location (peripheral sensory neurons as

opposed to central interneurons), as well as differences in experimental design (in *vivo* versus *in vitro* (Rosso et al., 2005; Yu & Malenka, 2003)).

Nociceptor dendrites form adhesion structures with overlying epidermal cells known as sheaths. Jiang and colleagues found that manipulations that impair epidermal-dendritic sheath maturation also reduce nociceptive sensitivity (Jiang et al., 2019). Since Arm is a known partner in adherens junction assembly (Pai et al., 1996), these observations are consistent with our results indicating Arm underexpression in the nociceptor, in the absence of injury, leads to reduced nociceptive sensitivity, while overexpression, in the absence of injury, leads to increased sensitivity. Thus, it seems possible that our observations of Arm's effects on nociceptor sensitivity could be at least partially due to its nontranscriptional role in cell adhesion during the maturation of epidermal sheaths.

Supporting this hypothesis is the observation that knockdown of Gro, known to antagonize Arm transcriptional activity (Cavallo et al., 1998), has no significant effect on sensitivity. Animals in which Gro (Groucho), a transcriptional repressor in the Wnt/Wg and BMP pathways, was reduced specifically in the nociceptors (Figure 2.9), showed similar nociceptive sensitivity to controls (Figure 2.9D-E). These results fail to support the hypothesis that Gro is involved in regulating nociceptor sensitivity, despite other reports supporting its role in transcriptional repression of BMP and Wnt/Wg target genes (Cavallo et al., 1998; Hasson et al., 2001). However, it is possible that in this context, Gro's known co-repressors are able to compensate for experimental Gro underexpression, allowing sufficient transcriptional repression of BMP/Wg target genes within the nociceptors.

To further our investigation into canonical Wnt/Wg signaling pathway's role in maintenance of nociceptor sensitivity, we also investigated the casein kinase, Gilgamesh (Gish). Gish is orthologous to mammalian Casein Kinase 1 gamma 1/2/3 (CK1 γ 1/2/3) and is a known positive regulator of Hh signaling in the fly (See Figure 1.4) (Hummel et al., 2002; Li et al., 2016). Gish is also known to be a positive regulator of canonical Wnt/Wg signaling by its role in phosphorylation of Arrow (mammalian ortholog:

LRP 5/6) (Figure 1.4) (Davidson et al., 2005; Schaefer et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2006). This phosphorylation of Arrow by Gish in turn helps Arrow to bind components within the Arm destruction complex at the plasma membrane so that the Arm destruction complex activity in the cytoplasm is halted (Davidson et al., 2005; Schaefer et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2006). Due to this role as a positive regulator of canonical Wnt/Wg signaling and our previous findings on Arm, we hypothesized that we should see an increase in nociceptive sensitivity when Gish expression is increased within the primary nociceptors. By behaviorally testing thermal avoidance latencies of un-injured animals overexpressing Gish in their nociceptors (gish-OE), at the known noxious temperature of 45°C, our results indicated that these animals had developed genetically induced hyperalgesia (Figure 2.10A). These results indicated that when there is more Gish available in the nociceptors, the nociceptors become hypersensitive in comparison to controls. In contrast, when we under expressed Gish within the nociceptors by using RNA interference technology (qish-IR-1 and qish-IR-2), we observed mixed results (Figure 2.10B-C). In thermal nociception assays for *qish-IR-1*, animals did not show a significant change in response latencies (Figure 2.10B), however, in nociception assays for *qish-IR-2* animals did show a significant change in response latencies when compared to controls (Figure 2.10C). Though the gish-IR-1 line had been successfully used in previous studies, it is possible that this line could be insufficient in its knockdown of Gish or that gish-IR-2 results in off target effects within the nociceptor (Li et al., 2016; Li et al., 2020). Due to the discrepancy in results of these two Gish-IR lines, we will aim to further investigate Gish knockdown in the nociceptors by testing of a third Gish-IR line in the future. Validation of protein knock-down experiments within the Gish-IR lines and investigation into possible morphological changes that could occur due to off target effects of the IR expressed within the nociceptor will also be performed. In short, further investigation into Gish and the canonical Wnt/Wg signaling pathway will be necessary in the future to determine the role of Gish in nociceptor sensitivity, in the absence of injury, before drawing any definitive conclusions.

This report shows that manipulation of Arm expression specifically within the nociceptors is sufficient to modulate behavioral response to a noxious thermal stimulus in the absence of injury and that these changes are not associated with a detectable morphological effect. In contrast, in a similar study carried out in the mouse model, Simonetti and colleagues genetically impaired β-catenin activity specifically in the nociceptor and observed no change in thermonociception (Simonetti et al., 2014). We suggest that the reason for these differing outcomes may lie in the evolutionary relationship of flies and mammals. In vertebrates, another catenin, γ -catenin (plakoglobin) has been shown to be capable of substituting for β -catenin's adhesion function, but not its transcriptional function (Huelsken et al., 2000; Huelsken et al., 2001; Miller & Moon, 1997; Simcha et al., 1998). Similar results were found when mammalian β -catenin and y-catenin were expressed in *Drosophila* to complement Arm mutants, where both β -catenin and y-catenin were found to be functional at cadherins complexes, but only β -catenin showed Wg signaling capabilities (White et al., 1998). Knockdown of the fly Armadillo, homologous to both mammalian β -catenin and γ -catenin (Peifer et al., 1992; Peifer & Wleschaus, 1990; White et al., 1998), reduces all β/γ -catenin function; transcriptional, adhesional, or other (Orsulic & Peifer, 1996). So perhaps these findings demonstrate the possibility of further investigation of β -catenin/Arm within nociceptors in a way that could potentially complement mammalian pain investigation in uncovering potential new drug targets for the treatment of clinical pain. Further investigation into β -catenin/Arm's transcriptional and cell adhesion functions is warranted to gain a broader understanding of the mechanism of maintaining baseline nociceptor sensitivity both in flies and mammalian systems.

2.6 Acknowledgements

2.6.1 General acknowledgements

Stocks obtained from the Bloomington *Drosophila* Stock Center (NIH P400D018537), including those generated by the TRiP at Harvard Medical School (NIH/NIGMS R01-GM084947), were used in this study.

The *ppk1.9-Gal4* and *ppk1.9-Gal4*, *UAS-mCD8-GFP* lines were a generous gift from M. Galko. Custom Python algorithms and scripts used in morphometry analysis were a generous gift from D. Cox. The N2 7A1 Armadillo monoclonal antibody, developed by E. Wieschaus, the 9E 10 monoclonal antibody, developed by J. Bishop, and the Gro monoclonal antibody, developed by C. Delidakis, were obtained from the Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, created by the NICHD of the NIH and maintained at the University of Iowa, Department of Biology, Iowa City, IA 52242. The authors gratefully acknowledge the support of NIH/NINDS award 2R15NS095195-02 to G. Ganter, NIH/NIGMS COBRE award 1P20GM103643-01A1 to I. Meng, its Histology and Imaging Core, and the UNE Microscope Core Facility, funded by NSF Grants #0116398 and #1125672.

2.6.2 Acknowledgements in contribution of data acquisition and writing

Contributing authors of submitted manuscript (Hale, Moulton, et al., 2022) included within this chapter: Christine Hale ^{1,2}, Julie Moulton ², Yvonne Otis ², Geoffrey Ganter ¹⁻³

¹ Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences and Engineering, University of Maine, Orono, ME, USA

² College of Arts and Sciences, University of New England, Biddeford, ME, USA

³ Center for Excellence in the Neurosciences, University of New England, Biddeford, ME, USA

Author contribution: Christine Hale and Geoffrey Ganter, PhD, designed research; Christine Hale, Julie Moulton, MS, and Yvonne Otis performed research; Christine Hale statistically analyzed data; Christine Hale and Geoffrey Ganter, PhD, contributed to the writing for the submitted manuscript (Hale, Moulton, et al., 2022) which was included within this dissertation.



Figure 2.1 Cellular Roles of Armadillo

When Wnt/Wg pathway is off, the destruction complex prevents accumulation of Arm (Armadillo) by proteolysis. When the Wnt/Wg pathway is on (by binding of a Wnt/Wg ligand to a canonical Wnt/Wg receptor), inactivation of the destruction complex allows Arm to accumulate, enter the nucleus, and activate expression of the Wnt/Wg response genes. Arm is also known to play a role in cell adhesion, where it binds to cadherin at the plasma membrane of the cell. Graphic by G. Ganter



Figure 2.2 Larval thermal nociception assay and MiMIC imaging.

Baseline thermal nociception behavioral assays for transgenic Arm larvae and expression of Arm within nociceptors. **(A)** Schematic of baseline thermal nociception assay of late 3rd instar larvae. Latency of 360° escape roll (or no response) within 20 s is recorded after initiation of thermal stimulus set to 45°C. **(B)** Micrographs of a larva expressing nociceptor specific tdTomato and GFP tagged Arm protein using a 63x objective. Punctate Arm::GFP fluorescence (green) is observed in the soma and neurites of the nociceptor (red), as well as the neurites of other unidentified dendritic arborization neurons. Graphic by C. Hale.





Figure 2.3 Knockdown of Arm within the nociceptors results in behavioral hyposensitivity

(A) Immunofluorescent detection of Arm using anti-Arm monoclonal antibody and confocal imaging (40xmagnification). Top: *ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS-mCD8-GFP* > y^1v^1 with no 1° Ab, n = 3. Middle: same genotype with anti-Arm, $n \ge 10$. Bottom: *ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS-mCD8-GFP* > *UAS-arm-IR-1*, $n \ge 10$. A tracing representing an example of an ROI used in measurement of fluorescence has been added to the montage. (B) CTCF quantification of Arm immunofluorescence confirms Arm expression in the



Figure 2.3, continued

nociceptor, and significant knockdown in the cytoplasm, nearly significant knockdown in the nucleus (indicated by co-localization with DAPI), statistically analyzed by Student's *t* test with Welch's correction, ** indicates p < 0.01. (C). Integrated Density was measured for soma, cytoplasm, and nucleus for "No UAS" (*ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS-mCD8- GFP > y*¹*v*¹), $n \ge 10$, and "No 1°Ab" (*ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS-mCD8-GFP > y*¹*v*¹), (where the primary antibody was not added), n = 5, samples, averaged per group, and statistically analyzed to verify significant signal over background for anti-Arm fluorescence. Statistical analysis was

Figure 2.3, continued

by Student's *t* test with Welch's correction, *** indicates p < 0.001. (**D**, **E**) Percent response plotted against time in thermal nociception assays at 45° C for *arm-IR-1* (A: *ppk1.9-Gal4 > UAS-arm-IR-1*), and *arm-IR-2* (B: *ppk1.9-Gal4 > UAS-arm- IR-2*) shown in red vs. their controls "No Gal4" (A: $w^{1118} > UAS$ -arm-*IR-1*, B: $w^{1118} > UAS$ -arm-*IR-2*) shown in green and "No UAS" (A: *ppk1.9-Gal4 > y*¹v¹, B: *ppk1.9-Gal4 > y*¹v¹) shown in blue, $n \ge 90$ /group. Statistical analysis by log-rank test shows significant hyposensitivity of experimental compared to both controls for both IR lines, ** indicates p < 0.01, *** indicates p < 0.001. J. Moulton and G. Ganter helped facilitate immunohistochemistry experiments. C. Hale carried out all imaging and analysis, and behavioral experiments.





Figure 2.4 Overexpression of Arm via *arm.S2* within nociceptors results in behavioral hypersensitivity (A) Immunofluorescent detection of Arm.S2 using anti-Arm antibody and confocal imaging (40x magnification). Top: *ppk1.9-Gal4*, *UAS-mCD8-GFP* > y^1w^{1118} with no 1° Ab, n = 3. Middle: same genotype, $n \ge 6$, with anti-Arm shows the endogenous expression of Arm in the nociceptor in both cytoplasm and nucleus. Bottom: *ppk1.9-Gal4*, *UAS-mCD8-GFP* > *UAS-arm.S2*, $n \ge 6$. A tracing representing an example



Figure 2.4, continued

of an ROI used in measurement of fluorescence has been added to the montage. **(B)** CTCF quantification of Arm immunofluorescence confirms additional Arm expression in both the cytoplasm and nucleus (indicated by co-localization with DAPI), statistically analyzed by Student's *t* test with Welch's correction or Mann-Whitney *U* test where data was found to not be normally distributed, ** indicates p < 0.01. Note the split Y-axis used to represent both the native and elevated Arm levels. **(C)** Integrated Density

Figure 2.4, continued

was measured for soma, cytoplasm, and nucleus for "No UAS" (*ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS mCD8- GFP* > $y^{1}w^{1118}$), n = 7, and "No 1°Ab" (*ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS-mCD8-GFP* > $y^{1}w^{1118}$) (where the primary antibody was not added), n = 3, samples, averaged per group, and statistically analyzed to verify significant signal over background for anti-Arm fluorescence. Statistical analysis was by Student's *t* test with Welch's correction or Mann-Whitney *U* test where data was found to not be normally distributed, *indicates p <0.05, ***indicates p < 0.001. (**D**) Percent response plotted against time in thermal nociception assay at 45° C for animals expressing additional wild-type Arm in nociceptors via *arm.S2* (*ppk1.9-Gal4* > *UASarm.S2*) shown in red vs. controls "No Gal4" ($w^{1118} > UAS-arm.S2$) shown in green and "No UAS" (*ppk1.9-Gal4* > y^1w^{1118}) shown in blue, $n \ge 90$ /group. Statistical analysis by log-rank test shows significant nociceptive hypersensitivity of *arm.S2* animals, compared to both controls, significance ***indicates p <0.001. J. Moulton and G. Ganter helped facilitate immunohistochemistry experiments. C. Hale carried out all imaging and analysis, and behavioral experiments.

Α. ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS-mCD8-GFP > y¹ ppk1.9 > GFP DAPI anti-c-MYC anti-c-MYC 10 µm merge ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS-mCD8-GFP > UAS-arm.S2 \bigcirc ppk1.9 > GFP DAPI anti-c-MYC anti-c-MYC 10 un merge ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS-mCD8-GFP > UAS-arm.S10 ppk1.9 > GFP DAPI anti-c-MYC 10 µm anti-c-MYC merge



Figure 2.5 Overexpression of Arm via *arm.S10* within nociceptors results in behavioral hypersensitivity (A) Immunofluorescent comparison of Arm.S2's and Arm.S10's c-MYC tags through confocal imaging (40x magnification). Top: *ppk1.9-Gal4*, *UAS-mCD8-GFP* > y^1w^{1118} (No 1° Ab), n = 3-6, shows absence of c-MYC staining in control animals. Middle: *ppk1.9-Gal4*, *UAS-mCD8-GFP* > *UAS-arm.S2*, n = 7 shows strong



Figure 2.5, continued

expression in the nociceptor. Bottom: *ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS-mCD8-GFP > UAS-arm.S10, n* = 7 shows specific expression of Arm.S10 in the nociceptor. A tracing representing an example of an ROI used in measurement of fluorescence has been added to the montage. **(B)** CTCF quantification and comparison of c- MYC immunofluorescence shows that *arm.S2* produces stronger Arm expression than *arm.S10*, in both the cytoplasm and the nucleus, statistically analyzed by Student's *t* test with Welch's correction, **indicates *p* < 0.01. Note the split Y-axis used to represent anti-c-MYC levels. **(C)** Percent response plotted against time in thermal nociception assay at 45° C for *arm.S10* animals (*ppk1.9-Gal4 > UASarm.S10*) shown in red vs. control "No Gal4" ($w^{1118} > UAS-arm.S10$) shown in green and "No UAS" (*ppk1.9-Gal4 > y*¹ w^{1118}) shown in blue, *n* ≥ 90/group. Statistical analysis by log-rank test shows significant nociceptive hypersensitivity of experimental compared to both controls, ***indicates *p* < 0.001. J. Moulton and G. Ganter helped facilitate immunohistochemistry experiments. C. Hale carried out all imaging and analysis, and behavioral experiments.



Figure 2.6 Neuromorphometric analysis of nociceptors with Arm knockdown shows no effect on dendritic morphology.

(A) Nociceptors expressing *arm-IR-1* to knock down Arm (*ppk1.9-Gal4*, *UASmCD8- eGFP > UAS-arm-IR-1*), n = 10, were analyzed for (B) dendritic arborization by Sholl analysis, (C) dendritic number, and (D) dendrite length, in comparison to controls (*ppk1.9-Gal4*, *UAS-mCD8-eGFP > y¹v¹*), n = 10. No significant differences in these parameters were observed. Gray area in B represents SEM. ns = no significance found by Student's *t* test with Welch's correction or by the Mann-Whitney *U* test when data was not normally



Figure 2.6, continued

distributed. Y. Otis contributed to dendritic tracing of neurons represented by this figure. C. Hale carried out all neuromorphometric analyses of the tracings.





(A) Nociceptors expressing *arm.S10* to elevate Arm (*ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS-mCD8-eGFP > UAS-arm.S10*), n = 7, were analyzed for (B) dendritic arborization by Sholl analysis, (C) dendritic number, and (D) dendrite length, in comparison to controls (*ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS-mCD8-eGFP > y*¹w¹¹¹⁸), n = 7. No significant differences in these parameters were observed. Gray area in B represents SEM. ns = no significance



Figure 2.7, continued

found by Student's *t* test with Welch's correction or by the Mann-Whitney *U* test when data was not normally distributed.



Figure 2.8 Gro (Groucho) is a transcriptional repressor in the Wnt/Wg pathway, downstream of Arm. Wnt/Wg pathway activation leads to Arm accumulation and antagonism with the repressor, Gro, in order to transcriptionally activate target genes. Graphic by G. Ganter.

Α.



Figure 2.9 Knockdown of Gro within nociceptors does not alter behavioral sensitivity.

gro-IR-1

(A) Immunofluorescent detection of Gro using anti-Gro monoclonal antibody and confocal imaging (40x magnification). Top: *ppk1.9-Gal4*, UAS-mCD8-GFP > y^1v^1 with no 1° Ab, n = 3. Middle: same genotype with anti-Gro, *n* = 9. Bottom: *ppk1.9-Gal4*, *UAS-mCD8-GFP* > *UAS-gro-IR-1*, *n* = 9. A tracing representing an example of an ROI used in measurement of fluorescence has been added to the montage. (B) CTCF





quantification of Gro immunofluorescence confirms Gro expression in the nociceptor and significant knockdown in the nucleus (indicated by co-localization with DAPI), statistically analyzed by Student's *t* test with Welch's correction, *indicates p < 0.05. **(C)** Integrated Density was measured for soma, cytoplasm, and nucleus for "No UAS" (*ppk1.9-Gal4, UAS-mCD8-GFP* > y^1v^1), n = 9, and "No 1°Ab" (*ppk1.9-Gal4, UASmCD8- GFP* > y^1v^1) (where the primary antibody was not added), n = 3, samples, averaged per group, and statistically analyzed to verify significant signal over background for anti-Gro fluorescence. Statistical analysis was by Student's *t* test with Welch's correction or by the Mann-

Figure 2.9, continued

Whitney *U* test when data was not normally distributed, ***indicates p < 0.001. (D, E) Percent response plotted against time in thermal nociception assays at 45° C for *gro-IR-1* (A: *ppk1.9-Gal4* > *UAS-gro-IR-1*), and *gro-IR-2* (B: *ppk1.9-Gal4* > *UAS-gro-IR-2*) shown in red vs. their controls "No Gal4" (A: w^{1118} > UAS*gro-IR-1*, B: w^{1118} > UAS-gro- *IR-2*) shown in green and "No UAS" (A: *ppk1.9-Gal4* > y^1v^1 , B: *ppk1.9-Gal4* > y^1v^1) shown in blue, $n \ge 90$ /group. Statistical analysis by log-rank test does not show significant hyposensitivity compared to both controls for both IR lines. ns= not significant, * indicates p < 0.05. J. Moulton and G. Ganter helped facilitate immunohistochemistry experiments. C. Hale carried out all imaging and analysis, and also behavioral experiments for *gro-IR-2* (E). J. Moulton acquired behavioral data for *gro-IR-1* (D).



Figure 2.10 Gish overexpression results in behavioral hypersensitivity and Gish underexpression leads to mixed results.

(A-C) Percent response plotted against time in thermal nociception assays at 45° C for gish-OE (A: ppk1.9-Gal4> UAS-gish-OE), gish-IR-1 (B: ppk1.9-Gal4> UAS-gish-IR-1), and gish-IR-2 (C: ppk1.9-Gal4> UAS-gish-IR-2) shown in red vs. their controls "No Gal4" (A: w¹¹¹⁸ > UAS-gish-OE, B: w¹¹¹⁸ > UAS-gish-IR-1, C: w¹¹¹⁸ > UAS-gish-IR-2) shown in green and "No UAS" (A: ppk1.9-Gal4 > w¹¹¹⁸,

Figure 2.10, continued

B: ppk1.9-Gal4 > y^1v^1 , C: ppk1.9-Gal4 > y^1v^1) shown in blue, $n \ge 90$ /group. Statistical analysis by log-rank test does show significance for hypersensitivity for Gish overexpression when compared to controls but does not show significant hyposensitivity compared to both controls for both IR lines. ns= not significant, **indicates p < 0.01, ***indicates p < 0.001. C. Hale acquired behavioral data for gish-OE (A) and gish-IR-2 (C). J. Moulton acquired behavioral data for gish-IR-1 (B).

CHAPTER 3

3. INVESTIGATION OF NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIZATION AND ITS RECOVERY AFTER UV INJURY: BIOINFORMATIC ANALYSIS OF NOCICEPTOR SPECIFIC RNA SEQUENCING DATA FROM A VALIDATED DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER LARVAL UV INJURY MODEL

*C. Hale performed bioinformatic analysis on the featured RNA sequencing data in this chapter. Experiments conducted for the preparation of the RNA sequencing data used in the bioinformatic analysis were carried out by former and current laboratory members, C. Brann, MS, and J. Moulton, MS, (timed-egg lays and UV injury of larvae) and UNE colleague, R. Geguchadze, PhD, (RiboTag immunoprecipitation and RNA isolation). These preparatory experiments were carried out prior to when the dissertation research of the author was established. Other data contributed by Ganter lab members in addition to the primary author, C. Hale, is referenced within figure legends and outlined within the Acknowledgements section.

3.1 Introduction/Relevant Background

As previously stated within the introduction of this dissertation, with the publication of the new ICD-11, we were introduced to many new descriptive and categorical terms in characterizing chronic pain, suggesting chronic pain to be more of a multifaceted condition with multiple branches (Treede et al., 2015, 2019). Included within several of the chronic pain conditions outlined in the ICD-11, such as neuropathic pain, was the description of hypersensitivity of the nociceptors after injury (Scholz et al., 2019). Indeed, of the little that is known concerning the mechanism of chronic pain, research has indicated that nociceptive sensitization can underlie and perpetuate chronic pain (Reichling & Levine, 2009). Nociceptors, specialized sensory neurons within the peripheral nervous system (PNS) that detect noxious stimuli, are the first responders to the threat of injury (Bessou & Perl, 1969; Gold & Gebhart, 2010). Sensitization of the nociceptors can be beneficial after injury by reducing the threshold of
activation required to trigger a response, but if nociceptive sensitization persists after the injury has healed, symptoms of hyperalgesia and allodynia can take root and give way to abnormal pain (Bessou & Perl, 1969; Gold & Gebhart, 2010; Hucho & Levine, 2007; Treede et al., 2015). When this type of pain from hypersensitivity persists/reoccurs for typically three to six months or more, it is commonly referred to as chronic, and can lead to a substantial decrease in quality of life and an increased threat for opioid addiction in those being treated for chronic pain (Buntin-Mushock et al., 2005; Christie, 2008; Eddy et al., 1959; Groenewald et al., 2019; Hay et al., 2009; Treede et al., 2015; Vowles et al., 2015). In chapter one and two of this dissertation it was summarized that the thoroughly validated fruit fly larval UV injury and thermal nociception model (Figure 1.2A) has been utilized to uncover signaling pathways such as Hedgehog, TNF- α (named Eiger in *Drosophila*), and BMP as necessary for the formation of nociceptive sensitization after UV injury (Figure 1.4) (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im et al., 2015; McParland et al., 2021).

Utilizing the GAL4/UAS system (Figure 1.3), where transgene expression was driven by the nociceptor specific promoter for Pickpocket (Ppk) (Ainsley et al., 2003), coupled with the larval UV injury model, it was discovered that though the epidermis becomes injured by UV irradiation, the nociceptors appear structurally undamaged (Babcock et al., 2009). And in one of these studies that also uncovered the requirement for the Hedgehog (Hh) signaling pathway in injury induced allodynia and hyperalgesia, it was found that two separate TRP channels, either Painless (Pain) in allodynia, or dTrpA1 (dTrpA1) in hyperalgesia, were activated depending upon the type of increased sensitivity of the nociceptors that was observed behaviorally (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011). Building upon the findings on the Hh pathway and nociceptive sensitization, components within the Bone Morphogenetic Protein (BMP) signaling pathway (part of the Transforming Growth Factor Beta (TGF- β) superfamily of proteins) were also subsequently investigated starting with the Hh signaling transcriptional target and known BMP signaling ligand, Decapentaplegic (Dpp) (Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017;

Gjelsvik et al., 2018; McParland et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2014). Toward this effort, our lab used a candidate gene approach, based on supporting literature, to investigate Dpp and the numerous other BMP signaling pathway components we ultimately found to be involved in UV injury-induced nociceptive sensitization (outlined in chapter one of this dissertation) (Figure 1.4) (Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; McParland et al., 2021). However, even with the discoveries made within recent years, a full understanding of the mechanism involved in nociceptive sensitization is still elusive.

Important in continuing this investigation is the knowledge that two of the BMP signaling pathway components we identified as controlling nociceptive sensitivity after UV injury, are also noted within the scientific literature as having roles as transcriptional regulators: Shn (BMP signaling activator) and Brk (BMP and Wnt/Wg signaling repressor) (Arora et al., 1995; Campbell & Tomlinson, 1999; Jazwinska et al., 1999; Saller et al., 2002). Evidence from our previous study that these transcriptional regulators are required for controlling nociceptive sensitivity and injury-induced sensitization (McParland et al., 2021) strongly suggests that the genetic targets of these regulators represent undiscovered corresponding genetic components that ultimately control normal sensitivity and lead to hypersensitization of the nociceptor after injury. We hypothesize that these targets could lead to new treatment options for treating abnormal pain sensitivity that occurs after injury. Remarkably, in addition to the still unknown process underlying nociceptor sensitization after injury, are also the mechanisms involved in facilitating the recovery of the nociceptor from sensitization after injury (Figure 1.5). We suggest that knowledge of the details of the recovery mechanism from nociceptor sensitization is equally important in the formulation of new drug targets for treating chronic pain development and understanding nociceptive sensitization dysregulation, though it has been largely uninvestigated based on scientific literature published thus far.

3.1.1 Aims of this study

Within this chapter our lab sought to uncover the translatomic, the actively translating mRNAs of a cell, mechanisms by which the nociceptor, after injury to the animal, develops nociceptor sensitization, in the form of allodynia, and also returns to baseline after sensitization, specifically hyperalgesia. In this effort we utilized a nociceptor-specific translating RNA screen obtained from third instar Drosophila larvae 24 hours post UV injury (Babcock & Galko, 2009; Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Jackson et al., 2015; Thomas et al., 2012). 24 hours post UV injury is the time-point at which Drosophila larvae are known to have both peak allodynia, as well as recovery from hyperalgesia (Figure 3.1) (Babcock & Galko, 2009; Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011). I then sought to carry out bioinformatic analysis on differentially expressed genes within this UV injured nociceptor translatome, through pathway and gene ontology enrichment analysis using published online tools (Figure 3.2) (Eden et al., 2007; Eden et al., 2009; Ge et al., 2020; Gillespie et al., 2022; Huang et al., 2009a, 2009b; Kanehisa, 2019; Kanehisa et al., 2021; Kanehisa & Goto, 2000; Mi et al., 2021; Smedley et al., 2015). Through this bioinformatic analysis my aim was to uncover genetic components that could be affecting nociceptor synaptic signaling and/or alterations in electrical physiology. We hypothesized that transcriptional/translational responses to injury lead to the process of nociceptive sensitization and/or recovery therefrom, and therefore can represent novel drug targets for future chronic pain therapies. To preliminarily test this hypothesis, we investigated two gene candidates I found to be significantly upregulated within the RNA screen, *Rgk1* and *AnxB11*, by knocking down their expression within the nociceptors of third-instar larvae and then behaviorally assaying them with a noxious, thermal infrared laser. By building upon our prior research in nociceptive sensitization using fly larvae, we believe that further investigation into the mechanisms underlying nociceptive sensitization development and its recovery will provide a better understanding of the complete nociceptive sensitization mechanism and provide new drug targets for future chronic pain drug formulation.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Fly husbandry

Flies were maintained in 6 oz stock bottles containing sucrose-cornmeal-yeast medium. Bottles were stored within Percival Scientific Incubators with a 12-h light/12-h dark cycle and kept between 50-60% humidity and a temperature of 25°C. Incubators were set to an arbitrary dawn time of 9:00 A.M. Genotypes used in experiments were prepared using the Gal4/UAS (Brand & Perrimon, 1993) system with the following Gal4 driver line driven by the *pickpocket* promoter: *ppk1.9-GAL4* (in *w¹¹¹⁸*) for thermal nociception assays and TRAP-seq experiments (Adams et al., 1998; Ainsley et al., 2003; Zhong et al., 2010). Transgenic lines included: *UAS-GFP-RpL10ab* (in *w**) (BDSC_42681), *UAS-Rgk1-sh/CyO* (*UAS-Rgk1-IR*) (in *y*¹*v*¹) (a gift from Tetsuya Tabata) (Murakami et al., 2017), and *UAS-AnxB11-IR* (in *y*¹*v*¹) (BDSC_38311) (Perkins et al., 2015). Wild-type fly lines and control lines for TRiP (Perkins et al., 2015) RNAi lines and other transgenic lines used were: *w*¹¹¹⁸ (BDSC_3605) and *y*¹*v*¹ (BDSC_36303). Each Gal4/UAS genotype within thermal nociception assays was compared to two controls: one with the Gal4 driver genetic background (*w*¹¹¹⁸) crossed with the UAS transgenic line (No Gal4 control) and one with the Gal4 driver line crossed to the genetic background (*y*¹*v*¹) of the UAS transgenic line (No UAS control).

3.2.2 Preparation of larvae for ribotag immunoprecipitation and RNA isolation

*The following details for section 3.2.2 are quoted from C. Brann 2019 and J. Moulton 2020 theses (University of New England) with minor additions of details.

Flies used for TRAP-seq experiments (Exp: *Ppk.1.9-Gal4* x *UAS-GFP-Rpl10Ab*, Control: w¹¹¹⁸ x *UAS-GFP-Rpl10Ab*) were allowed to mate for 48 hours prior to the timed egg lay. After two days, the flies were placed in a tube containing solidified grape juice agar along one wall to encourage egg deposition. The grape agar is a mixture of sugar, agar, and grape juice concentrate, allowed to boil and

congeal into jelly-like consistency. The egg-lay period was restricted to two hours, then the adults were removed. Developmentally timed larvae were collected 4-5 days after egg lay. Unlike in other UV experiments, the volume required makes anesthesia unrealistic, and larvae were not given ether. Instead, they were placed onto a dish and allowed to crawl until uniformly distributed. The dish was placed into the UV crosslinker (Spectronics Corporation Spectrolinker XL-1000 ultraviolet crosslinker), and the larvae were exposed to a dosage of UV-C between 12.0-18.0mJ, which was recorded with a UV meter (Spectronics Corporation Spectroline XS-254 UV-C photometer). For mock-treated animals, the identical protocol was performed, including putting the animals into the crosslinker, but without the actual delivery of UV. Although this injury was not restricted to the dorsal side as is the case with anaesthetized animals, it is likely to be unproblematic because we did not perform behavioral assays in which only the dorsal surface is stimulated. The larvae were placed in recovery vials for 24-hours. 24-hours post-injury, larvae were removed from recovery vials and separated into tubes as 100 mg groups. The tubes were flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored in liquid nitrogen to reduce RNA degradation before analysis.

3.2.3 Ribotag immunoprecipitation and isolation of nociceptor RNA followed by TRAP-sequencing *The following details for section 3.2.3 are quoted from C. Brann 2019 and J. Moulton 2020 theses (University of New England) with minor additions of details.

The following methods were carried out by Ramaz Geguchadze, PhD: Following flash-freeze in liquid nitrogen, pooled larvae (pooled by condition: UV injured/Sham in 100 mg groups) were homogenized, and homogenates underwent immunopurification of the eGFP-tagged ribosomes by using magnetic beads (Invitrogen Dynabeads Antibody Coupling Kit), which are bound to two anti-GFP antibodies. RNA was then isolated and purified from these eGFP-tagged ribosomes using a standard RNA isolation protocol. RNA that was purified was then tested for quantity and purity with an Agilent

Bioanalyzer, obtaining an RNA integrity number (RIN). Once obtaining a RIN value deemed suitable for sequencing by the chosen RNA-sequencing vendor, GENEWIZ[®] (South Plainfield, NJ), RNA was stored in - 80 °C before being shipped on dry ice to the vendor.

The RNA-sequencing vendor GENEWIZ[®] (South Plainfield, NJ), carried out mRNA sequencing via polyA selection with supplied RNA using Illumina HiSeq, PE 2x150 (150 bp paired end). GENEWIZ[®] (South Plainfield, NJ), trimmed sequence reads via Trimmomatic v.0.36, mapped sequence reads to the *Drosophila melanogaster* BDGP6 reference genome via ENSEMBL using the STAR aligner v.2.5.2b, and determined gene hit counts (calculation of reads/gene/sample) using featureCounts from Subread package v.1.5.2. A total of 6 samples of customer supplied RNA were used for RNA sequencing by the vendor: three control (sham) samples and three experimental (UV-injured) samples, with each sample of RNA being derived from the 100 mg groups of prepared larvae that were pooled by condition. In supplied deliverables by the GENEWIZ[®] (South Plainfield, NJ), vendor, were original text files of the unique gene hit counts (reads/gene) for each of these six samples. These individual counts files were used as input for our own further quality assessment, differential gene expression, and pathway analysis shown within this chapter.

3.2.4 Differential expression and pathway analysis of TRAP-seq counts files

All six text files of the unique gene counts for each sample were uploaded into R statistical opensource software (version 4.1.2) and R Studio (version 2021.09.1.372) (R Core Team, 2021; RStudio Team, 2021). The counts files were then combined and formatted in R to achieve one text file. This text file, called a counts table, contained the gene counts of all six samples (column data) and gene associated FlyBase IDs (row IDs) for downstream analysis by DESeq2 (version 1.34.0) (Love et al., 2016; Love et al., 2014). DESeq2 is a statistical software package (updated from DESeq) used to determine differentially expressed genes in RNA sequencing count data based on the negative binomial distribution (Love et al.,

2014). Using an experimental sample information text file supplied by GENEWIZ and containing sample ID, condition, and batch information, a metadata table was also prepared on the counts table columns. Factor levels were also set based on "condition" of the samples (either UV injured or control). The two tables were then used to prepare the following DESeq2 data object (dds) to be used in analysis:

'dds <- DESeqDataSetFromMatrix(countData=countdata, colData=sampleData, design = ~ condition, tidy= FALSE)'

Before running DESeq2 analysis for differential gene expression, provided sample gene counts were analyzed preliminarily to determine sample quality, inter- and intra- relationships among groups, read count distribution, and gene dispersion estimation (Koch et al., 2018; Love et al., 2014; Lun et al., 2016). The 'estimateSizeFactors' function in DESeq2 was first carried out to control for differences in library sizes using the "median-of-ratios method" (Anders & Huber, 2010; Love et al., 2014). Inter-/intra-relationships among groups and sample quality was visualized by pairwise scatterplots of all samples in both groups (Figure 3.3) in R, using count data normalized by log₁₀ transformation (McDermaid et al., 2018). Read count distribution and the potential high magnitude of low read counts was investigated through visualization of a histogram of the sum of log₁₀-transformed counts data across all samples, also in R (Figure 3.4B,D) (Lun et al., 2016; R Core Team, 2021). The DESeq2 function 'estimateDispersions', was then used to calculate dispersion estimates across genes for all samples and visualized with the DESeq2 dispersions plot ('plotDispEsts') (Figure 3.4A,C). After preliminary analysis of the counts data for low expression, I set a custom threshold of at least 20 counts per 6 samples via the following code written in R and applied it to the dds object within the DESeq2 pipeline (R Core Team, 2021):

'keep <- rowSums(counts(dds, normalized=TRUE) >= 20) >=6'

'dds <- dds[keep,]'

The dds object, where counts had been thresholded to eliminate lowly expressed genes, was then analyzed for differential gene expression via the 'DESeq' function through DESeq2 with the

previously set design (UV vs Control (Sham)) and under default parameters (Love et al., 2016; Love et al., 2014). Gene symbols were added to the dds results by mapping onto provided Flybase gene IDs using the fly genome annotation package, org.Dm.eg.db (version 3.14) (Carlson, 2021). The DESeq function normalizes counts values before analyzing differential expression and results include the Wald test statistic for *p* value and adjustment for multi-comparison analysis (adjusted *p* value) using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure as default within an output table (Love et al., 2014). Differential expression analysis was visualized using MA plots through DESeq2, the R CRAN (Comprehensive R Archive Network) package, pheatmap (version 1.0.12), and by the R package, EnhancedVolcano (version 1.12.0) (Blighe et al., 2021; Kolde, 2019; Love et al., 2014; R Core Team, 2021). DESeq output was also visualized for sample clustering analysis using DESeq normalized data and a principal components plot function found within the DESeq2 package (Love et al., 2014).

Genes found to be differentially expressed (DEGs) by DESeq, with an adjusted *p* < 0.05, were used in downstream gene ontology (GO) and pathway enrichment analysis, regardless of the value of the fold change. Gene ontology and pathway enrichment analysis were carried out using the web-based online tools: The Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery (DAVID) (version 2021), Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) (release version 101.0), **G**ene **O**ntology en**R**Ichment anaLysis and visuaLiz**A**tion tool (GOrilla), and ShinyGO (version 0.75) (Eden et al., 2007; Eden et al., 2009; Ge et al., 2020; Gillespie et al., 2022; Huang et al., 2009a, 2009b; Kanehisa, 2019; Kanehisa et al., 2021; Kanehisa & Goto, 2000; Mi et al., 2021). In the web-based analyses, a background gene set consisting of all background genes within the experiment (after the low threshold cutoff was applied) was used as the comparison gene set in the gene ontology and pathway enrichment analysis. A false discovery rate (FDR) of < 0.05 was considered significant in the online analyses for gene ontology and pathway enrichment. Graphs of results not made within the web-based programs used in analyses were made in Microsoft Excel (version 2202) and R (R Core Team, 2021; RStudio Team, 2021).

3.2.5 Larval thermal nociception assay using computer-controlled infrared diode laser

Larvae in which Rgk1 or AnnxB11 was knocked down in nociceptors via Gal4/UAS targeted RNA interference technology were behaviorally analyzed using a novel infrared diode laser methodology. Late third-instar animals of experimental or control genotypes were placed on a transparent silicone test surface moistened with water applied using a small paintbrush. A 0.5mm diameter black plastic radiation absorption disk, punched from heavy duty garbage bag, was affixed to the dorsal surface of the larva, overlaying abdominal segments 4 through 7, using heat-thickened molasses. The larva are prevented from wandering off the test surface by an electrically heated perimeter wire. The test surface is affixed to a motor-driven stage placed below another motor-driven platform that holds the infrared diode laser (300mW at 3.0V, 808-810nm) and video microscope camera. The motion of stage (X dimension) and laser (Y dimension) is coordinated by a Raspberry Pi miniature computer which also serves the camera image to an external monitor. For safety, the device is enclosed in a black acrylic container and features a safety interlock that disconnects laser power if the access door is opened during operation. Watching the external monitor, the operator steers the movement of the stage relevant to the laser using a videogame controller, keeping the laser illumination consistently on the black disk as the larva crawls about, until it executes an escape roll, at which time the laser is switched off and the response latency recorded by the computer.

3.1.6 Nociception assay statistics

Thermal nociception assays were plotted as percent accumulated response vs. latency where an end-point cut-off of 30 s was applied and latency in seconds recorded. After applying a binary variable to the data based on 'response' or 'no response' at the 30 s cut-off time, statistical analysis of latency of response between all behavioral data groups was completed using Log-rank analysis and applying

Benjamini and Hochberg procedure for multiple testing. Log-rank analysis for thermal nociception assays were performed using R statistical coding software (version 4.1.2) with RStudio (version 2021.09.1.372) (R Core Team, 2021; RStudio Team, 2021) and applying the 'survival' analysis package for statistics output (Therneau, 2020). Percent response plots were carried out using Microsoft Excel (version 2202).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 TRAP-sequencing of larval nociceptors after UV injury results in differential expression of genes

It has been noted within *Drosophila* literature that peak hyperalgesia, a heightened response to already perceived noxious stimuli, and allodynia, in which innocuous stimuli become noxious, occur at different time-points following UV injury (Figure 3.1) (Babcock et al., 2009). Shown in Figure 3.1, peak hyperalgesia can be seen at 8 hrs. after UV injury, hyperalgesia recovery and peak allodynia at 24 hrs., and recovery from peak allodynia at 48 hours after injury (Babcock & Galko, 2009; Babcock et al., 2009; Im & Galko, 2012). Using this knowledge to our advantage, we can look at the 24-hr timepoint after injury and possibly characterize genes involved in both the development of sensitization (peak allodynia) or in the recovery of the nociceptor from sensitization (recovery of hyperalgesia), depending on the response curve of allodynia/hyperalgesia after injury (Figure 3.1). So, to further uncover nociceptive sensitization and recovery transcriptional targets and associated pathways within the nociceptor, we carried out TRAP-sequencing and bioinformatic analysis of the nociceptor translatome within third-instar fruit fly larvae at 24 hours post UV injury (Figure 3.2).

Following TRAP-sequencing of supplied nociceptor mRNA, the vendor, GENEWIZ[®], supplied raw counts data text files derived from nociceptor TRAP-sequencing reads (sham and UV-injured conditions) mapped to the *Drosophila melanogaster* genome. An initial quality check for inter-/intra- sample relationships was investigated by visually assessing pairwise scatterplots in R statistical software of the log₁₀ transformed counts data for each sample prior to DESeq2 processing for differential gene

expression (Figure 3.3). Within the scatterplot each dot represents a gene and the mean expression of that gene between the two samples shown by its x-y coordinate placement (McDermaid et al., 2018). Though visually samples within the same condition group (Control/Sham ~ UV) tended to fall more along the diagonal, some intra-relationship noise was apparent by the wider, non-diagonal placement of genes for some pairwise comparisons and so further plots for quality analysis were generated (Figure 3.3). A dispersion plot through DESeq2 of the mean of the normalized counts data was plotted along with a histogram of the log₂ transformed count data vs. number of genes expressed (post removal of 0 count genes) (Figure 3.4A-B). The dispersion plot, which estimates dispersion, or intra-sample variability of a gene's expression within each condition group, displayed a high number of low counts features at the limit of the y-axis for estimated dispersion (Figure 3.4A).

The histogram of the log₂ counts data vs. number or genes expressed also displayed similar results with a high number of low counts features across all samples, even after removal of 0 count genes from the dataset (Figure 3.4B). A conservative pre-threshold for counts across samples was then established (Figure 3.4B) to eliminate possible noise from technical factors or intra sample group quality/variation (Koch et al., 2018; Lun et al., 2016). The counts threshold was applied prior to DESeq2 analysis for differential gene expression between groups and resulted in a reduction of low counts features and lower dispersion among low counts features as shown in Figure 3.4C-D. Quality analysis was once again investigated post application of the DESeq function for differential gene expression analysis on the counts data. Investigation of the DESeq data output showed counts to be normalized across samples (Figure 3.5A) (Love et al., 2016; Love et al., 2014). Clustering of samples per condition was visualized through a principal components analysis (PCA) plot, which breaks down maximum levels of variation into components, of the top 100 differentially expressed genes after regularized-logarithm transformation (rlog) in DESeq2 (Figure 3.5B) (Koch et al., 2018; Love et al., 2016; Ringnér, 2008).

The DESeq results output for differential gene expression resulted in ~8000 differentially expressed genes (DEGs) (however, not all significantly differentially expressed) within the nociceptor translatome from those animals who had been UV injured when compared to control/sham animals (Figure 3.6A). This value of DEGs was after DESeq removed 3 outliers through applying a cutoff for Cook's distance (default) and 496 genes for low counts using independent filtering on the mean of normalized counts (default) (Bourgon et al., 2010; Love et al., 2016; Love et al., 2014). After filtering through the ~8000 DEGs for those with adjusted *p* values less than 0.05, it was found that there were 244 genes that were significant. The top 50 differentially expressed genes were clustered using a heatmap (Figure 3.6B), which displayed a great number of downregulated genes vs. upregulated. In total, 62 genes were found to be significantly upregulated and 182 genes were found to be significantly downregulated.

3.3.2. Gene ontology and pathway enrichment analysis of nociceptor differentially expressed genes

When applying gene ontology (GO) and pathway term enrichment analysis on the significant DEG set (*p* adj < 0.05), I found that only those genes that were significantly downregulated showed enrichment on web-based GO and pathway enrichment sites (Eden et al., 2007; Eden et al., 2009; Ge et al., 2020; Huang et al., 2009a, 2009b; Kanehisa, 2019; Kanehisa et al., 2021; Kanehisa & Goto, 2000). Those that were significantly upregulated were not enriched for any known GO terms or pathways when compared to the thresholded nociceptor background gene set used as comparison. Of the terms found to be significantly enriched within the significantly downregulated gene set using ShinyGO (v0.75), proteolysis was most significantly enriched under GO biological processes (BP) category with a false discovery rate (FDR) of 1.72E-05 and a fold enrichment of 2.504 (Figure 3.7, Appendix 2) (Ge et al., 2020). Under the GO molecular function (MF) category on ShinyGO (v0.75), the terms: Serine-type peptidase activity (FDR = 2.43E-21, fold enrichment= 10.859), serine endopeptidase activity (FDR =

1.64E-20, fold enrichment = 11.287), and serine hydrolase activity (FDR = 2.43E-21, fold enrichment= 10.859) were most significantly enriched (Figure 3.7, Appendix 2) (Ge et al., 2020). Enrichment on ShinyGO (v0.75) for GO cellular component (CC) terms within the significantly downregulated DEG gene set resulted in the extracellular region being most significantly enriched (FDR = 7.56E-14, fold enrichment = 3.815) and enrichment analysis for KEGG pathways resulted in the neuroactive ligand receptor interaction pathway being most enriched (FDR = 3.05E-4, fold enrichment= 13.662) (Figure 3.7, Appendix 3) (Ge et al., 2020; Kanehisa, 2019; Kanehisa et al., 2021; Kanehisa & Goto, 2000). The interactions between these different GO terms were further investigated through a node-edge network plot on ShinyGO (version 0.75), where two nodes (GO terms) were connected by edges (lines) if they shared at least 20% or more genes within the significantly downregulated gene set (Figure 3.8) (Ge et al., 2020). Within this network it was found that the top enriched GO terms: proteolysis, serine hydrolase, serine-type peptidase/endopeptidase, and extracellular region/space, were all connected by their associated genes found within the significantly downregulated DEGs set (Figure 3.8) (Ge et al., 2020).

In complement to these findings, when investigating the significantly upregulated DEG set, there was also found to be three genes without known gene symbols (FBgn0261630, FBgn0033355, FBgn0261634) upregulated that had the "serine-type endopeptidase inhibitor activity" GO annotation and are predicted by FlyBase (version FB2022_01) to have serine-type endopeptidase inhibitor activity (Larkin et al., 2021). Through further analysis of GO terms associated with significantly upregulated genes (p adj \leq 0.05) within the dataset, several genes of interest were identified by searching for annotations to GO terms involving either "ion activity" or "plasma membrane" terminology (Figure 3.9, Table 3.1) (Huang et al., 2009a, 2009b). A focus on these specific GO terms was utilized in order to narrow down genes possibly involved in altering the electrophysiology of the cell at the plasma membrane during injury induced sensitization and therefore could possibly be utilized as drug targets

due to their role in nociceptor sensitivity. Genes of interest within the significantly upregulated DEGs and their selected annotations included: Annexin B11 (*AnxB11*), Rad Gem/Kir member 1 (*Rgk1*), and Painless (*pain*) which are associated with GO terms that include calcium ion/channel activity (*AnxB11*, *Rgk1*, *pain*) and plasma membrane (*Rgk1*, *pain*), Chloride channel-c (*ClC-c*), which is associated with chloride ion/channel activity and plasma membrane GO terms, and Ecdysone-induced protein 63E (*Eip63E*) which is associated with plasma membrane and Wnt signaling GO terms (Figure 3.9, Table 3.1) (Eden et al., 2007; Eden et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2009a, 2009b).

3.3.3 Knockdown of Rgk1 or AnxB11 results in behavioral hypersensitivity

Of the five significantly upregulated genes of interest shown in Table 1, a literature review on mammalian orthologs and suspected orthologs to the genes *AnxB11* and *Rgk1* resulted in the development of a hypothetical mechanism of recovery from hypersensitivity of the nociceptor by these two genes (Figure 3.10) (Avenali et al., 2014; Charnet et al., 2013; Li et al., 2019; Murakami et al., 2017; Scamps et al., 2015). To initiate investigation into this developing hypothetical mechanism, a behavioral thermonociception infrared laser chamber assay was carried out on third instar *Drosophila* larvae where either Rgk1 (*Rgk1-IR*) or AnxB11 (*AnxB11-IR*) had been knocked down within their nociceptors using RNAi technology. We hypothesized that even without injury, a decrease in Rgk1 or AnxB11 expression within the nociceptor would result in an increase in behavioral thermal hypersensitivity. Results from the laser chamber assay showed a significant increase in nocifensive behavioral response for those animals expressing either *Rgk1-IR* or *AnxB11-IR* within their nociceptors, when compared to control groups (Figure 3.11).

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Bioinformatic Analysis of nociceptor mRNA from UV injured larvae

3.4.1.1 Significantly downregulated genes 24 hrs. after UV injury indicate a downregulation in proteolysis within the nociceptors

Along with investigation into mechanisms affecting nociceptor sensitivity without injury (chapter 2), we sought to also shed further light on mechanisms affecting nociceptor sensitization and recovery after injury (Figure 3.1). Prior studies have shown that though the epidermis is severely affected by ultraviolet irradiation injury to larvae, nociceptor morphology tends to remain intact (Babcock et al., 2009; Follansbee et al., 2017). To investigate any still-unknown novel targets and pathways, mRNA transcripts were isolated from the nociceptors of UV injured fruit fly larvae, 24 hrs. after injury (Figure 3.2) (Babcock & Galko, 2009; Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Jackson et al., 2015; Thomas et al., 2012).

Bioinformatic analysis of the nociceptor translatome from those animals that had been UV injured when compared to control (sham) resulted in an output of many significant DEGs that were mostly downregulated (~182 DEGs), but also many (~62 DEGs) that were upregulated in their expression as well (Figure 3.6). Through GO and pathway analysis it was found that proteolysis, serine-type peptidase/endopeptidase activity, and serine hydrolase activity were significantly enriched GO terms within the downregulated gene set (Figure 3.7). The KEGG pathway: Neuroactive ligand-receptor interaction (KEGG pathway ID: dme04080) and the term "extracellular region" was also significantly enriched within the downregulated gene set and "extracellular region/extracellular space" was found to share at least 20% or more genes between itself and "serine peptidase activity/serine endopeptidase activity" (Figure 3.8) (Kanehisa, 2019; Kanehisa et al., 2021; Kanehisa & Goto, 2000). Upon further investigation of these components comprised within the enriched Kegg pathway: Neuroactive ligandreceptor (KEGG pathway ID: dme04080), these serine proteases (which consisted of trypsins such as:

alphaTry, betaTry, deltaTry) were shown within the pathway to be "proteinase-activated like" extracellular interactors in fruit flies (Kanehisa, 2019; Kanehisa et al., 2021; Kanehisa & Goto, 2000). Serine proteases such as thrombin and trypsin for example can hold a wide range of duties within the body including processes such as digestion, inflammation, and blood coagulation (Cirino et al., 1996; Leger et al., 2006). Notable though when investigating nociceptor sensitivity, is that extracellular serine proteases have also been shown to be involved in altering the functional state of certain ion channels (e.g., activation, inactivation, modification) (Kiselyov et al., 2005; Poirot et al., 2004).

In particular, studies have shown that activation of neuronal proteinase-activated receptor-2 (PAR2) (part of a G-protein coupled receptor (GPCRs) subfamily), preferentially by serine proteases like trypsin, leads to pain development through various mechanisms that include sensitization of TRPA1/TRPV1 and/or release of inflammatory peptides such as substance P (Dai et al., 2004; Dai et al., 2007; Lam & Schmidt, 2010; Nystedt et al., 1994; Steinhoff et al., 2000). Given the time-point we collected mRNA within the nociceptors after UV injury, it is possible that significant downregulation of extracellular serine protease activity could be part of hyperalgesia recovery due to halting of an unknown mechanism similar to nociceptor PAR2 sensitization in mammals (see Figure 3.1 for sensitization timeline). In contrast, it could also be hypothesized that proteolytic cleavage by serine proteases of ion channels within the nociceptor could negatively regulate ion channels and that serine protease downregulation is part of the process to reaching peak allodynia (Figure 3.1). This has been seen to occur in the human acid-sensing ion channel 1 (ASIC1) channel by the serine protease matriptase and mammalian ASIC channels have been reported to be homologous to the Pickpocket1 channel in Drosophila (Boiko et al., 2013; Boiko et al., 2012; Clark et al., 2010). Overall, however, the downregulated serine proteases and the significantly upregulated serine protease inhibitors within the TRAP sequencing dataset require further investigation as to their role in ion channel regulation after UV injury.

3.4.1.2 Significantly upregulated genes 24 hours after UV injury indicate an increase in nociceptor plasma membrane ion channel activity

Shown in Figure 3.1, hyperalgesia recovery and peak allodynia both occur at 24 hours post UV injury in Drosophila larvae (Babcock & Galko, 2009; Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011). As such, this time-point for RNA-sequencing of the nociceptor translatome allows us to possibly characterize genes involved in peak allodynia or in the recovery of the nociceptor from hyperalgesia (Figure 3.2). Within fruit fly nociceptive sensitization studies and the corresponding signaling pathways uncovered thus far (Figure 1.4), there has been evidence that two separate Transient Receptor Potential (TRP) channels regulate allodynia and hyperalgesia individually (Babcock & Galko, 2009; Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Im et al., 2015). It was found within these studies that Painless (Pain) is activated during allodynia and Transient receptor potential cation channel A1 (dTrpA1) during hyperalgesia (Babcock et al., 2011; Im et al., 2015). A prominent finding within our TRAP sequencing dataset was the significant upregulation of *painless* within the nociceptors of UV injured animals. This upregulation supports prior findings that peak allodynia occurs at 24 hours after injury and that Painless is the main ion channel involved in allodynia at that time-point (Figure 3.9 and Table 3.1). Another ion channel that was upregulated within the dataset was the chloride channel, ClC-c (Figure 3.9 and Table 3.1). ClC-c has been found to be orthologous to mammalian CIC-3 (chloride voltage-gated channel 3) (Cabrero et al., 2014; Larkin et al., 2021). In recent years, chloride voltage gated channel 3 in mammalian studies has been found to both possibly contribute to sensory neuron depolarization as well as inhibit neuropathic pain development within the DRG (Pang et al., 2016; Qi et al., 2018). A primary focus on the role of chloride and chloride channels in nociceptor sensitivity and pain development is still relatively new in mammals, so our findings of ClC-c upregulation within our dataset is promising for similar investigations to take place in fruit flies (Figure 3.9, Table 3.1) (Wilke et al., 2020).

Another significantly upregulated gene of interest in the dataset was the ecdysone-induced protein 63E (Eip63E) (Figure 3.9, Table 3.1). We found upregulation of this cyclin-dependent kinase interesting based on prior research from within our lab showing the involvement of the fruit fly ecdysteroids in neuromodulation (McParland et al., 2015) and our previous findings on nociceptor sensitivity and Arm which is found in the canonical Wnt/Wg signaling pathway (chapter 2). Ecdysone Receptor A (EcRA) was shown in prior studies from within the Ganter lab to be required in nociceptor sensitivity by experiments where Drosophila larvae with EcRA knocked down within their nociceptors showed hyposensitivity to thermal and mechanical stimuli (McParland et al., 2015). Eip63E has been shown to have to have at least one transcript (of two) that is induced by ecdysone signaling (D. Liu et al., 2010; Stowers et al., 2000). It has also been shown that Eip63E and its vertebrae homolog, cyclindependent kinase 14 (CDK14, also known as PFTK), are positive regulators of canonical Wnt/Wg signaling through their complex development with Cyclin Y (CycY), which leads to phosphorylation of Arrow in the canonical Wnt/Wg signaling cascade (mammalian homolog to LRP5/6) (Davidson et al., 2009; Davidson et al., 2005). This is similar to the function found with Gish and its phosphorylation of Arrow in the canonical Wnt/Wg signaling cascade (Figure 1.4) (Davidson et al., 2005; Schaefer et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2006). Indeed, in a study carried out in 2009, RNAi technology for both Gish and Eip63E were found to reduce LRP6 (Arrow's mammalian homolog) phosphorylation and canonical Wnt/Wg signaling in an *in vitro* kinome-wide RNAi screen using *Drosophila* cells that had been transfected with mammalian LRP6 (Davidson et al., 2009). Discovery of the significant upregulation of this gene, *Eip63E*, therefore could serve as a link in describing how both previous findings on EcRA and Arm may be connected in modulation of nociceptor sensitivity through these two different pathways. This finding also suggests later time-points, later than 24 hours after injury, may be warranted in investigation of Wnt/Wg signaling and Ecdysteroid signaling involvement in injury induced nociceptor sensitization. In other words, stimulation of these signaling mechanisms may be just occurring at the 24-

hour time point and the roles of these pathways in nociceptor sensitivity may not emerge fully until past 24 hours after injury.

Finally, when analyzing significant genes upregulated in the dataset, two more genes of interest that emerged were Rad Gem/Kir family member 1 (Rgk1) and Annexin B11 (AnxB11) (Figure 3.9 -3.10 and Table 3.1). Rgk1 is known to be orthologous to mammalian genes found within the RGK subfamily (REM, REM2, GEM/KIR, RAD) of the Ras-related small GTPases superfamily (Murakami et al., 2017; Puhl III et al., 2014). Notably within the Ras superfamily of RGK mammalian orthologs to Rgk1, RGK proteins have been shown to bind to both calmodulin (CaM) and 14-3-3 proteins (Béguin, Mahalakshmi, Nagashima, Cher, Takahashi, et al., 2005; Béguin, Mahalakshmi, Nagashima, Cher, Kuwamura, et al., 2005; Finlin & Andres, 1999; Fischer et al., 1996; Moyers et al., 1997; Ward et al., 2004). 14-3-3 proteins and calmodulin have been shown to play roles in long-term potentiation and memory (Limbäck-Stokin et al., 2004; Qiao et al., 2014). Similarly, Rgk1 has been found in fruit flies to be necessary in memory regarding anesthesia-sensitive and anesthesia-resistant memory (Murakami et al., 2017). Mammalian RGK proteins have also been shown to inhibit high voltage calcium channels (Ca_v1 and Ca_v2) by mechanisms such as: blockade/inhibition of pre-existing channels and decrease of channel density within the membrane in a variety of different cell types (Béguin et al., 2001; Chen et al., 2005; Finlin et al., 2003; Finlin et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2010). Specifically, the mammalian RGK protein, GEM, has been shown to inhibit voltage gated calcium channel activity following peripheral nerve injury in mice (Scamps et al., 2015). In a study where Drosophila Rgk1 was expressed in rat superior cervical ganglion neurons, it was found that expression of the Drosophila homolog was sufficient in inhibiting calcium channels (Puhl III et al., 2014). Another mammalian RGK protein, REM2, has been shown to play a role in regulating synaptic development/plasticity, through negative regulation of dendritic arborization and positive regulation of excitatory synapse development, and influences gene

expression involved in morphological changes to the cell (Ghiretti et al., 2014; Ghiretti & Paradis, 2011, 2014; Kenny et al., 2017; Moore et al., 2013).

Regarding AnxB11, it is orthologous to components found within the vertebrate annexins family and some annexins in mammals have been shown to regulate nociceptor channel activity and to have a role in antinociception (Avenali et al., 2014; Ayoub et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2014; Iglesias et al., 2002; Larkin et al., 2021; Li et al., 2019; Pei et al., 2011). Specifically, the mammalian annexin, ANXA2 (Annexin 2), has been shown to inhibit TRPA1 dependent nociception through limiting channel availability within sensory neurons (Avenali et al., 2014), and the mammalian annexin, ANXA1 (Annexin 1), has been shown to be glucocorticoid inducible and facilitate in antinociceptive pain relief in murine and rat models (Ayoub et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2014; Li et al., 2019; Pei et al., 2011). These prior studies investigating the mammalian orthologous families of both of Rgk1 and AnxB11 suggest that Rgk1 and AnxB11 may have similar roles within the fruit fly nociceptor. As such, I hypothesized that both of these candidates may contribute to nociceptive sensitization recovery after injury based on these findings of mammalian orthologs to Rgk1 and genes found within the mammalian Annexin family of proteins (Figure 3.10).

3.4.2 Rgk1 or AnxB11 knockdown results in genetic induced thermal hyperalgesia in Drosophila larvae

To test out the hypothesis that either Rgk1 or AnxB11 may be involved in nociceptive sensitization in the fruit fly, we expressed RNA interference technology targeting either Rgk1 (*Rgk1-IR*) or AnxB11 (*AnxB11-IR*) within the nociceptors of third instar *Drosophila* larvae, using the Gal4/UAS system (Figure 1.3) (Brand & Perrimon, 1993). By behaviorally testing thermal avoidance latencies of animals under expressing either Rgk1 or AnxB11 in their nociceptors, our results indicated that these animals had developed genetically induced hypersensitivity even in the absence of injury (Figure 3.11). Though follow-up with a second *Rgk1-IR* line, a second *AnxB11-IR* line, and investigation of dendritic

morphology of these animals with either Rgk1 or AnxB11 knocked down in their nociceptors is needed for further confidence in the roles of Rgk1 and AnxB11 within these behavioral assays, results so far point to both Rgk1 and AnxB11 involvement in reducing nociceptor sensitivity (Figure 3.11).

3.5 Conclusion

In an effort to uncover more of the mechanism involved in nociceptor sensitization and its recovery after injury, GO and pathway analysis of the nociceptor translatome of larvae 24 hours after UV injury revealed a role in the downregulation of serine proteases in either nociceptor peak allodynia development or recovery of the nociceptor from hyperalgesia. Upregulation of *Rgk1* and *AnxB11* also led to the hypothesis that these proteins are involved in the recovery of the nociceptor after sensitization (hyperalgesia). Results of larval hypersensitivity with RNAi technology targeting either Rgk1 or AnxB11 within the nociceptor further supported this possibility. In conclusion, bioinformatic analysis of the nociceptor translatome after UV injury and our investigation into the proteins Rgk1 and AnxB11, give evidence that serine protease activity, and the proteins Rgk1 and AnxB11 play a role in nociceptor sensitization and/or its recovery and warrant further research.

3.6 Acknowledgements in contribution to data acquisition and writing

Research and writing contribution: Christine Hale, Geoffrey Ganter, PhD, and Kyle Beauchmin, PhD, designed research within this chapter; Courtney Brann, MS, and Julie Moulton, MS, prepared *Drosophila* larvae for isolation of nociceptor RNA. Ramaz Geguchadze, PhD, isolated and purified larval *Drosophila* nociceptor RNA for RNA sequencing by GENEWIZ[®]. Christine Hale carried out bioinformatic analysis on the RNA sequencing results (raw counts files) supplied by GENEWIZ[®] to determine differentially expressed genes and for gene ontology and pathway enrichment. Josh Smestad performed larval

behavioral nociception assays. Christine Hale wrote this chapter with editing assisted by Geoffrey Ganter, PhD.



Figure 3.1 Hypersensitivity timeline after UV injury for third instar *Drosophila* larvae.

Third instar larvae reach peak hyperalgesia at 8 hours post UV injury and peak allodynia at 24 hours post UV injury. Larvae recover from hyperalgesia after injury at 24 hours, and from allodynia at 48 hours (Babcock et al., 2011, Babcock et al. 2009). Graphic illustration by G.Ganter.



Figure 3.2 Translating Ribosomal Affinity Purification (TRAP)- isolation of nociceptor RNA workflow. Third instar *Drosophila* larvae expressing *UAS-GFP-Rpl10Ab* within their nociceptors underwent UV injury, were given 24 hours to recover, flash frozen, and then homogenized to undergo immunomagnetic purification of nociceptor GFP tagged ribosomes. RNA was purified by a standard isolation protocol. RNA sequencing vendor GENEWIZ[®] (South Plainfield, NJ) carried out sequencing, mapped reads to the *Drosophila* reference genome, and determined gene hit counts. Supplied raw counts files were then analyzed for differential gene expression analysis using DESeq2, followed by GO and pathway analysis with published online tools. Further details on the workflow can be found within the methodology of this chapter. C. Hale, K. Beauchmin, and G.Ganter contributed to graphics of this figure.



Figure 3.3 Pairwise scatterplots reveal intra/inter sample relationships.

Before differential gene expression analysis, provided sample gene counts from nociceptor transcripts were log_{10} transformed in R and were analyzed for quality and inter/intra relationships by pairwise scatterplots of all samples in both groups (Control vs. UV injured). Each dot within the scatterplot represents a gene and the mean expression of that gene between the two samples shown by its x-y coordinate placement. *n*= 3 (pooled samples)/group (Control vs. UV injured).



Figure 3.4 Dispersion and histogram plots before and after thresholding of low counts for noise reduction.

Dispersion and histogram plots were generated to visualize sample quality and noise within the data. (A) Dispersion plot of the mean of the normalized counts was plotted using DESeq2. The plot estimates dispersion or intra- sample variability of a gene's expression within each condition group (Control vs. UV injured). A preliminary analysis showed a high number of low counts features at the limit of the y-axis for estimated dispersion. (B) The histogram of the log₂ counts data vs. number of genes expressed also displayed similar low count features across all samples, even after removal of 0 count genes from the dataset. A conservative pre-threshold limit for counts across all samples (\geq 20 counts for each of the 6 samples (n=3 pooled samples/condition (Control vs. Experimental)) was then established (visualized by the red dotted line). (C-D) Dispersion and histogram plots following the established threshold limit for counts across all samples to eliminate noise, shows the removal of low counts features.



Figure 3.5 Analysis of normalization of gene count data across all samples and Principal Component Analysis (PCA) of sample relationship post DESeq2 normalization in R.

(A) Quality analysis was investigated by comparing bar plots of the raw (un-normalized) log₂ counts data across all samples to the normalized log₂ counts data after the DESeq2 function for differential gene expression analysis had been applied across all samples. (B) Clustering of samples per condition was visualized through a principal components analysis (PCA) plot, which breaks down maximum levels of variation into components, of the top 100 differentially expressed genes after regularized-logarithm transformation (rlog) in DESeq2.

Α.

Larval Nociceptors 24 hr post UV injury

EnhancedVolcano



total = 8016 variables

Figure 3.6 Nociceptor translatome 24 hours after UV injury results in differentially expressed genes. (A) Enhanced Volcano plot shows differentially expressed genes by adjusted *p* value (log₁₀) and log₂ fold change. Each dot represents a gene. Those genes in red are significant based on the adjusted *p* value cutoff of 0.05 and have a log₂ fold change of at least 0.5. Those genes in green have a log₂ fold change of at least 0.5 but were not found to be significant. (B) The top 50 differentially expressed genes in the nociceptor RNA-seq dataset, based on a significant adjusted *p* value of less than 0.05, were clustered by Pearson correlation for rows (genes expression) and columns (samples) data, and displayed using a heatmap. The figure legend shows correlated relative expression colors extrapolated from normalized



Figure 3.6, continued

log₂ transformed counts data using the DESeq2 "rlog" function. In total, 62 genes were found to be significantly upregulated and 182 genes were found to be significantly downregulated.



Figure 3.7 Enriched Gene Ontology (GO) terms and pathways found for the genes significantly

downregulated in the nociceptor RNA sequencing dataset 24 hours after UV injury.

False discovery rate (FDR) was calculated in ShinyGO and based on nominal p-values from the hypergeometric test. Fold enrichment in ShinyGO was detailed as the percentage of genes in your list belonging to a pathway and then divided by the corresponding percentage in the background (which was a gene list of all genes within the nociceptor that met the pre-cutoff threshold of at least 20 counts for each sample).



Figure 3.8 ShinyGO interaction network between Gene Ontology (GO) terms and pathways enrichment terms for the genes significantly downregulated in the nociceptor RNA sequencing dataset 24 hours after UV injury.

Each node (circle) is representative of a GO and Pathway enrichment term found within the downregulated gene set and the size of the node is correlated to the size of the gene set (bigger node= bigger gene set) and darker nodes are more significantly enriched. The thickness of the lines connecting the nodes is representative of more overlapped genes between the two enriched terms. Two pathways are connected using this plot in ShinyGO if they share at least 20% (default) of their genes with each other.



Figure 3.9 DESeq2 output for upregulated genes of interest.

Counts of five upregulated genes of interest within the nociceptor RNA sequencing data 24 hours after UV injury were plotted in DESeq2 using R Studio after applying the "DESeq" function, which in brief controls for library size differences, gene dispersion, and fits to a generalized linear model. The DESeq function is used in preparation to analyze the count data for differential gene expression. Each circle within each plot is representative of the normalized counts for one sample from the associated sample group on the x-axis (Control or UV injured), n = 3 samples (pooled)/group (Control vs UV injured).

 Table 3.1. Gene Ontology (GO) enriched terms for upregulated genes of interest from nociceptor RNA

 sequencing data 24 hours post UV injury.

		Flybase	Gene Symbol	Gene Ontology ID ~ Annotation	Log ₂	Adj
			Symbol	GO:0051592~response to calcium ion, GO:0005509~calcium ion binding, GO:0005544~calcium-dependent phospholipid		p value
		FBgn0030749	AnxB11	binding	1.320	0.030
Plasma Membrane	lon activity			GO:1901386~negative regulation of voltage- gated calcium channel activity, GO:0005886~plasma membrane, GO:0009898~cytoplasmic side of plasma membrane,		
		FD ap 0264752	Dali1	GO:0016020~membrane,	2.046	0.004
				GO:0006816~calcium ion transport, GO:0070588~calcium ion transmembrane transport, GO:0005886~plasma membrane, GO:0016021~integral component of membrane,		
		FBgn0060296	pain	GO:0034704~calcium channel complex	1.733	0.037
				GO:1902476~chloride transmembrane transport, GO:0005887~integral component of plasma membrane, GO:0016020~membrane, GO:0005247~voltage- gated chloride channel activity, GO:0005254~chloride channel activity, GO:0015108~chloride transmembrane		
		FBgn0036566	CIC-c	transporter activity	1.402	0.026
		EBap000E640	Ein625	GO:0090263~positive regulation of canonical Wnt signaling pathway,	1 420	0.050
		rogiluuuso40	строзе	GO.0005666 plasma memorane	1.429	0.050



Figure 3.10 Illustration of Rgk1 and AnxB11 hypothetical mechanism of recovery from nociceptive sensitization.

In TRAP-seq analysis data from the nociceptors of UV-injured larvae: *Rgk1* log₂ fold-change= increase of 2.05; *AnxB11* log₂ fold-change= increase of 1.32. Hypothetically (based on mammalian literature of orthologs), Rgk1 blocks distribution of Ca⁺⁺ channels into the nociceptor membrane and/or their action, and AnxB11 blocks the action of the dTrpA1 receptor within the nociceptor membrane. By blocking these channels producing neuronal excitability, the nociceptor is more likely to recover to a more normalized state.





hypersensitivity.

Percent response plotted against time in larval noxious thermal infrared laser stimulation assays for Rgk1-IR (A: ppk1.9-Gal4 > UAS-Rgk1-IR), and AnxB11-IR (B: ppk1.9-Gal4 > UAS-AnxB11-IR) shown in red vs. their controls "No Gal4" (A: $w^{1118} > UAS$ -Rgk1-IR, B: $w^{1118} > UAS$ -AnxB11-IR) shown in green and "No UAS" (A: ppk1.9- $Gal4 > y^1v^1$, B: ppk1.9- $Gal4 > y^1v^1$) shown in blue, $n \ge 90$ /group. Statistical analysis by log-rank test shows significant nociceptive hypersensitivity compared to both controls, ***indicates p < 0.001, ** indicates p < 0.01, * indicates p < 0.05. All larval nociception data shown was acquired by J. Smestad.

CHAPTER 4

4. INVESTIGATION OF NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIZATION AFTER UV INJURY IN AN ADULT *DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER* MODEL: ADULT *DROSOPHILA* INFRARED THERMONOCICEPTION ASSAY AND UV INJURY-INDUCED NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIZATION

* The following chapter includes data and text included in preparation of a submission of a primary research article to the Journal of Behavioral Processes (Hale, Pratt, et al., in preparation 2022). The text has been slightly modified for the completeness of this dissertation. C.Hale performed channelrhodopsin experiments, all microscopy imaging, and statistical analyses of all data acquired within this chapter. J. Herbert conducted TNT/TNTi thermonociception assays, and S. Pratt conducted UV injuries followed by subsequent thermonociception assays. Corresponding authors with their affiliations and contributions are also described within the Acknowledgements section of this chapter and referenced within figure legends.

4.1 Abstract

Nociceptive sensitization underlies and perpetuates chronic pain, a condition that affects ~50 million adults nationwide. With many treatment options for chronic pain, such as opioid analgesics, carrying numerous deleterious side effects, research into safer and more effective treatment options is crucial. Research using *Drosophila melanogaster* larvae has led to the discovery of numerous factors that affect nociceptive sensitivity. However, because the larval stages of fruit fly development are relatively brief, a methodology that allows longer term experimentation in adult fruit flies, for example to study long term effects of nociceptive sensitization after injury, is crucial. Using a thermonociception assay employing infrared diode laser stimulation, we have developed a method in which to harmlessly investigate nociceptive sensitivity in adult flies. We are now using the method to investigate

involvement of nociceptor genes critical to the injury-induced sensitization process, potentially leading to identification of new drug targets useful in the treatment of chronic pain in humans.

4.2 Introduction

Nociceptive sensitization underlies and perpetuates chronic pain, a condition that is estimated to affect ~50 million adults each year in the United States (Yong et al., 2021; Zelaya et al., 2020). With many treatment options for chronic pain, such as opioid analgesics, carrying numerous deleterious side effects (Benyamin et al., 2008), research into safer and more effective treatment options is crucial. Despite this need, successful drug development for chronic pain has been laborious, mostly due to a lack of understanding of the mechanisms of chronic pain. Though little is known about chronic pain mechanisms, research indicates that injury induced nociceptive sensitization may perpetuate chronic pain (Kosek et al., 2021; Nicholas et al., 2019; Reichling & Levine, 2009). Primary nociceptors, specialized sensory neurons within the peripheral nervous system that detect noxious stimuli, are the first responders to the threat of injury (Bessou & Perl, 1969; Gold & Gebhart, 2010). After injury, sensitization of nociceptors can be beneficial by reducing the threshold of activation required to trigger a response. However, if nociceptive sensitization persists after the injury has healed, symptoms of hyperalgesia and allodynia can take root and give way to abnormal pain (Gold & Gebhart, 2010; Kosek et al., 2021; Nicholas et al., 2019; Reichling & Levine, 2009; Scholz et al., 2019). When this type of pain persists/reoccurs for typically three months or more, it is referred to as chronic, and can lead to a substantial decrease in quality of life and an increased threat of opioid addiction (Costanza et al., 2021; Groenewald et al., 2019; International Association for the Study of Pain Task Force on Taxonomy, 1994; Treede et al., 2015, 2019; Vowles et al., 2015).

In recent years, *Drosophila melanogaster* has proven to be an exceptional *in vivo* model organism for investigating the mechanisms of neurological diseases, such as chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy or Parkinson's disease, due to its relative organismal simplicity and powerful genetic toolkit
(Boiko et al., 2017; del Valle Rodríguez et al., 2011; Feany & Bender, 2000). Fruit flies, like their human counterparts, exhibit a behavioral response to noxious stimuli and can develop nociceptive sensitization, allowing for translatable modeling of allodynia and hyperalgesia (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im & Galko, 2012; Im et al., 2015; McParland et al., 2021). The fruit fly system is a desirable in vivo model because nociceptors of the fruit fly have been shown to have similar function and morphology to those of vertebrates, and because many genes underlying the perception of pain are conserved across species (Im & Galko, 2012; Khuong & Neely, 2013; Reiter et al., 2001). The majority of pain research using Drosophila melanogaster has capitalized on assays performed in the larval life stage, in which an observer measures the latency of the rolling escape behavior in response to noxious stimuli (Figure 1.2A) (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Hwang et al., 2007; Im et al., 2015; McParland et al., 2021; Sulkowski et al., 2011; Tracey Jr et al., 2003). The use of thermal and mechanical nociception behavioral assays using Drosophila at this immature life state has brought the rapid identification of genes (Figure 1.4) associated with baseline nociception and/or the nociceptive sensitization process triggered by injury, such as ultraviolet (UV) radiation injury (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Hale, Moulton, et al., 2022; Im et al., 2015; Jang et al., 2018; Lopez-Bellido & Galko, 2020; McParland et al., 2021; Tracey Jr et al., 2003).

Some important pain discoveries translatable to mammals made employing *Drosophila* third instar larvae include the roles of the transient receptor potential (TRP) channel Painless (whose suggested mammalian homolog is ANKTM1 and is analogous in function to TRPV1 (Al-Anzi et al., 2006; Tracey Jr et al., 2003)), and identification of the *Drosophila* DEG/ENaC channel, Pickpocket (Ppk: similar to vertebrate epithelial sodium channel), which is known for sensing and reacting to harsh mechanical stimulation in the fly (Adams et al., 1998; Zhong et al., 2010). Though much has been learned about pain sensitivity using larvae, there are drawbacks to using the *Drosophila* model at this immature life stage, such as the

brevity (2-3 days) of the third instar stage of the *Drosophila* larvae required for most of these assays. The immaturity of the sex organs at the larval life stage could also potentially limit investigation of the role of sex differentiation in pain sensitivity. Due to these considerations, the refinement of adult *Drosophila* nociception behavioral assay methods is desirable and necessary for continued successful contribution to the pain research field.

There have, in fact, been a number of distinct assays developed for studying nociceptive response to a noxious stimulus in adult Drosophila. Some paradigms include: measuring adult fly movement, such as jumping, in response to a noxiously heated surface (Figure 1.2B) (Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Massingham et al., 2021; Ohashi & Sakai, 2018; Xu et al., 2006), measuring locomotion away from a heated surface (Neely et al., 2010; Neely et al., 2011), measuring adult fly locomotion past a noxious heat barrier (Aldrich et al., 2010; Manev & Dimitrijevic, 2004), and assays that include measurement of latency of an immobilized fly to throw an object when heated by a laser beam (Aldrich et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2006). These published methods for studying adult fly nociception have contributed positively to the field of nociception and nociceptive sensitization research, however, some drawbacks are noted. For methods in which a mobile adult fly navigates among heated and unheated surfaces (Aldrich et al., 2010; Manev & Dimitrijevic, 2004; Neely et al., 2010; Neely et al., 2011), it is not clear what temperature is acutely perceived by the fly as it decides where to move. It is possible that the freely behaving animal rarely if ever encounters the hottest surfaces presented, in which case it is not clear if the effects are due to nociception or thermotaxis. In regard to the method where adult fly jumping behavior in response to a noxiously heated surface in a closed chamber is measured (Figure 1.2B) (Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Massingham et al., 2021), it is presumed that thermonociceptors in the legs are most at play, but it has yet to be demonstrated which tissues are important in triggering the escape behavior. In contrast, targeting an infrared laser beam to heat a particular tissue of a restrained fly is an improvement in this regard. In acute laser-based strategies, the fly must be restrained so that it may be accurately targeted by the beam, and this has previously been accomplished by the use of adhesives (Aldrich et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2006).

Here we present methodology for analyzing adult *Drosophila* nociception that includes both new elements and modifications of existing adult fly nociception assays (Aldrich et al., 2010; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Manev & Dimitrijevic, 2004; Massingham et al., 2021; Neely et al., 2010; Neely et al., 2011; Ohashi & Sakai, 2018; Xu et al., 2006). We coupled the diode laser first reported by Aldrich et al, which is less dangerous and costly than a CO₂ laser previously used, with a novel vacuum immobilization method, which is chemical-free and reversible, in contrast to the use of adhesives (Aldrich et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2006). The narrow laser beam allows targeted acute stimulation of lateral abdominal segments, and the multidendritic, ppk-expressing neurons, which potentially serve as nociceptors, situated directly beneath the lateral abdominal epidermis (Shimono et al., 2009).

We also present a method of triggering injury-induced nociceptive sensitization that is novel in adult flies. It has been previously indicated that leg amputation leads to central sensitization via perturbation of GABA-ergic processing of nociceptive input to the ventral nerve cord of adult flies (Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019). In contrast, we induced nociceptive sensitization in adult flies by using ultraviolet (UV) to injure presumably superficial tissues, allowing direct comparison with peripheral sensitization identified using UV injury of larval flies (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im et al., 2015; McParland et al., 2021).

4.3 Materials and methods

4.3.1 Fly husbandry

Flies were obtained from the Bloomington *Drosophila* Stock Center in Bloomington, Indiana and maintained in 6oz stock bottles containing sucrose-cornmeal-yeast medium. Bottles were stored in Percival Scientific incubators at 50-60% humidity and a temperature of 25°C. Fly lines were placed on a

12h light/12h dark cycle except for adult flies that were to be used in optogenetic behavioral experiments, which were placed in continuous darkness. Genotypes were prepared using the Gal4/UAS (Brand & Perrimon, 1993; Duffy, 2002) cell targeting system (Figure 1.3), using *yw;;ppk1.9-Gal4, UASmcD8-GFP* line (Figure 4.2), or *w;;ppk1.9-Gal4* (Figure 4.3), both driven by the *pickpocket* (Adams et al., 1998; Ainsley et al., 2003; Hwang et al., 2007; Zhong et al., 2010) promoter. Channelrhodopsin experiments included a No Gal4 control: *w*¹¹¹⁸ crossed with the *UAS-ChR2* line. To reduce ppk cell neurotransmission, we used the 'weakly expressing' *UAS-TeTxLC.tnt* (BDSC_28837) and used the inactive *UAS-TeTxLC.(-)Q* (BDSC_28839) as normal control (Sweeney et al., 1995). To allow optogenetic activation of ppk cells, we used *UAS-ChR2* (BDSC_9681) (Nagel et al., 2003; Schroll et al., 2006). To visualize the ppk-expressing neurons, we used *ppk1.9-eGFP*. Flies used in all other behavioral assays were *w*¹¹¹⁸ (BDSC_3605).

4.3.2 Ultraviolet C (UVC) irradiation injury

Adult flies of both sexes, aged 15-16 hrs., were lightly anesthetized with carbon dioxide, and arranged on a glass microscope slide with the bodily side to be stimulated by the laser stimulation assay post injury facing the overhead UV source inside of a Spectronic Corporation Spectrolinker XL-1000 ultraviolet crosslinker. Approximately 10 flies at a time were then briefly exposed to 138.7-147.8 mJ of UVC irradiation, measured by a Spectronics Corporation Spectroline XS-254 UVC photometer. Once irradiation was complete, the flies were transferred carefully into sucrose-cornmeal-yeast medium filled stock vials and allowed to recover under general fly husbandry conditions for at least 24 hours prior to performing behavioral assays.

4.3.3 Infrared thermonociception assay

In methods adapted from Xu et al. 2006, adult flies (24-48h post-eclosion) were harmlessly restrained by a vacuum tube (27G hypodermic needle filed blunt, delivering negative pressure of 22 Hg) placed on the anterior-dorsal surface of the thorax (notum) without interfering with movement of head, wings, or legs (Figure 4.1). The fly was positioned with its lateral abdomen in the path of and 3 cm away from a pinhole-restricted (1mm) infrared (808-810nm) diode laser (3V, 300mW) inside a light-tight safety cabinet equipped with an interlock switch that interrupts the circuit if the cabinet is opened. Beam targeting and noxious temperature range was confirmed using thermochromic film. Each fly held a sucrose-coated cotton thread (1x5 mm) with its legs. Thermal stimulation resulted in a presumed fictive jumping behavior such that the string was thrown, as observed using a digital camera (Arducam Lens Board for Raspberry Pi Camera). Latency was measured using a stopwatch. Operators were blinded to treatment and genotype.

4.3.4 Optogenetic blue light stimulation assay

Newly emerged *ppk1.9-Gal4> UAS-ChR2* adult flies and their controls were passed onto sucrosecornmeal-yeast medium supplemented with 100 uM all trans retinal (ATR: Fisher #18-600-415) and stored under dark conditions for 3 days (+/- 2-3 hours) before carrying out optogenetic blue light stimulation assays. Optogenetic blue light stimulation assays were delivered by the same method and conditions as the previously detailed infrared thermonociception assays, except that a blue light (360-480 nm) laser (with a current of 0.08-0.09 A) was substituted for the infrared diode laser. The operator was blinded to genotype and all assays were performed in a room darkened but weakly illuminated by dim, red light.

4.3.5 Fluorescent immunohistochemistry

Adult Drosophila expressing an eGFP transgene under control of the ppk1.9 promoter (ppk1.9eGFP), which, in larvae produces nociceptor-specificity (Hwang et al., 2007), were used 24-48 hours after eclosion, briefly anesthetized with CO₂, and whole abdomens were dissected from the remainder of the animal while being submerged in Grace's Insect Medium (Gibco™) as described previously with modifications (Bailey et al., 2020). Extracted abdomens were then filleted by longitudinally cutting down the dorsal surface of the entire abdomen, leaving the ventral abdominal surface intact. The fillet with the exposed ventral abdomen was then pinned to a silicone (Sylgard) filled dish, and any remaining abdominal contents were removed, leaving the cuticle and muscular wall intact. Filleted abdomen samples were then fixed 30 minutes in 4% PFA at room temperature, washed in PBS containing 0.3% Triton X-100 (wash buffer), and blocked in PBS with 0.3% BSA, 0.3% Triton X-100 (blocking buffer). Alexa Fluor-488 conjugated antibodies to GFP (ThermoFisher, A-21311, final concentration 5ug/ml) mouse anti-fasciclin III (Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, 7G10) (Patel et al., 1987), diluted 1:10 in blocking buffer, were incubated with the samples overnight with rocking. After washing in wash buffer, samples were incubated with 5 µL of Alexa Fluor 594 conjugated goat anti-mouse secondary antibodies (Abcam 150116) diluted in blocking buffer (final concentration 10ug/ml) for 3 hours at room temperature with rocking. After removing secondary solution, filets were washed in wash buffer, then PBS, and mounted onto slides using Vectashield Antifade Mounting Medium with DAPI (H-1200, Vector Laboratories) for nuclear staining, oriented with cuticle side toward the coverslip. Slides were kept in the dark at 4°C until imaging on a Leica TCS SP5 scanning laser confocal microscope. Z-stacks were obtained by using a 40x oil objective and a scan format of 1024 x 1024. Z-stacks were max projected and cropped in Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012).

4.3.6 Statistics

Behavioral assays were performed on samples sizes of $n \ge 179$. Data acquired from behavioral assays was plotted as percent accumulated response vs. latency where an end-point cut-off of 60 s was applied and latency in seconds recorded. After applying a binary variable to the data based on 'response' or 'no response' at the 60 s cut-off time, statistical analysis of latency of response between all behavioral data groups was completed using log-rank analysis, performed using R statistical coding software (R Core Team, 2021) and applying the 'survival' analysis package (Therneau, 2020). All other statistical tests and plots were carried out using Microsoft Excel (version 2104).

4.4 Results

Infrared laser stimulation of the lateral abdomen of a vacuum-restrained adult fly, aged 24-48 hours, holding a segment of cotton string causes a fictive jumping behavior manifested by its throwing of the string (Figure 4.1). The latency of this fictive jump/no fictive jump was recorded during a 60 s timeframe and compared between groups. As a control measure, flies were tested for average latency of this fictive jumping behavior without infrared laser stimulation. Without stimulation, only ~ 7% of adult flies were found to respond with a fictive jump behavior before the 60 s cutoff (data not shown). To demonstrate that the ppk cells of adult flies were necessary for the fictive jump observed, neurotransmission was suppressed within the ppk cells using genetically targeted expression of tetanus toxin. Adult flies were caused to express either a "weakly expressing" tetanus toxin (*UAS- TeTxLC.tnt*) or an inactive form of the same toxin (*UAS- TeTxLC.(-)Q*) as a control, specifically within the *ppk*-expressing cells using the Gal4/UAS system (Figure 1.3) (Brand & Perrimon, 1993; Duffy, 2002; Sweeney et al., 1995). Those flies expressing *UAS- TeTxLC.tnt* within their ppk cells were significantly less likely (p < 0.01) to carry out a fictive jump in under 60 s when compared to control (*UAS-TeTxLC.(-)Q*) during the thermonociception assay (Figure 4.2).

To demonstrate that the *ppk*-expressing cells in the adult flies were sufficient to trigger the fictive jump observed, *Chlamydomonas* blue light-activated Channelrhodopsin-2 was expressed (*UAS-ChR2*) specifically within the adult fly nociceptors using the Gal4/UAS system (Brand & Perrimon, 1993; Duffy, 2002; Nagel et al., 2003; Schroll et al., 2006). In contrast to the thermonociception assays which include a targeted infrared laser, adult flies were instead targeted with a blue light laser while held under otherwise dark conditions. Flies expressing *UAS-ChR2* within their ppk cells were observed to carry out the fictive jump significantly more frequently (p < 0.05) when compared to their No Gal4 controls (Figure 4.3).

To test for the development of nociceptive hypersensitivity after injury, adult flies aged 16-24 hours were exposed to a defined dose (~700 mJ) of UVC radiation on one side of their body and then allowed 24 hrs. to recover. Flies were then tested for nociceptive sensitization using the infrared thermonociception assay, where latency of the fictive jump was recorded within a 60 s timeframe. UV injured flies were observed to carry out the fictive jump behavior at a significantly lower latency (p < 0.001) when compared to sham control animals (Figure 4.4).

4.5 Discussion

Fruit flies, like their human counterparts, exhibit injury-induced nociceptive sensitization and this process has been characterized most widely in a larval thermonociception model (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im & Galko, 2012; Im et al., 2015; McParland et al., 2021). Because the larval stages of fruit fly development are relatively brief, however, a methodology that allows longer term experimentation of nociceptive sensitization after injury in adult fruit flies is desired for investigation of a state more representative of chronic pain. In contrast with a previously reported adult fly injury model involving amputation-induced hypersensitivity (Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Massingham et al., 2021), the use of UV injury allows

comparison with the body of literature generated in studies of larvae (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im et al., 2015; McParland et al., 2021).

In the presented nociceptive behavioral assay method, comparable to the Hargreaves assay used in rodents (Deuis et al., 2017; Hargreaves et al., 1988), animals are stimulated by an infrared radiation source, and latency of their escape response, in this case a fictive jump, is recorded. As was employed in a previous report (Aldrich et al., 2010), the infrared diode laser also used here is less expensive and less dangerous than the CO₂ lasers used in other previous studies (Xu et al., 2006). The beam can be restricted by a pinhole aperture, allowing selective acute stimulation of various body parts, such as the abdomen, in contrast with hot-surface methods which presumably heat primarily the legs (Figure 1.2B) (Aldrich et al., 2010; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Manev & Dimitrijevic, 2004; Massingham et al., 2021; Neely et al., 2010; Neely et al., 2011; Ohashi & Sakai, 2018; Xu et al., 2006). This stimulus can be directed toward the lateral abdominal surface of the adult fly, a region tiled with multidendritic neurons, which, in larvae, have been known for decades to detect noxious stimuli (Figure 4.1) (Hwang et al., 2007; Shimono et al., 2009).

The novel use of vacuum pressure on the anterior-dorsal surface of the fly thorax, called the notum, allows effective, reversible restraint, and also allows for sufficient movement of the wings and legs so that the animal may carry out an escape response, in which it throws the cotton string it has been offered and takes fictive flight (Figure 4.1). When the vacuum device used in this method is placed on the notum, only about 7% of adult flies carry out an unstimulated, fictive jump behavior (data not shown). The use of light vacuum is reversible, nonlethal and, in contrast to previous thermonociception assays using adult fly restraint where either a metallic hook (Xu et al., 2006) or a pipette tip (Aldrich et al., 2010) is glued to the head and/or thorax of the fly, requires neither chemicals, recovery period, nor

anesthesia before the assay. Flies restrained in this manner typically "fly" until offered the cotton string, indicating that they are capable of normal behavior.

To demonstrate that the *ppk*-expressing cells of adult flies are necessary for the fictive jump behavior observed in this assay, neurotransmission was suppressed within these cells using a lowactivity tetanus toxin (Sweeney et al., 1995), targeted by Gal4/UAS (Brand & Perrimon, 1993; Duffy, 2002). Tetanus toxin is a neurotoxin produced by *Clostridium tetani* and its mechanism of action involves cleaving the synaptic vesicle protein, synaptobrevin, from a complex necessary for excitatory neurotransmission (Link et al., 1992). Prior studies have found that targeted expression of tetanus toxin within nociceptors of *Drosophila* larvae reduces the behavioral response to a noxious heat stimulus (Tracey Jr et al., 2003). Adult flies expressing, within the ppk cells, either a low-activity tetanus toxin (*UAS- TeTxLC.tnt*) or an inactive form of the same toxin (*UAS-TeTxLC.(-)Q*), as a control (Sweeney et al., 1995), were assessed using the infrared laser thermonociception assay. Those flies expressing *UAS-TeTxLC.tnt* within their *ppk*-expressing cells were significantly less likely (p < 0.01) to carry out a fictive jump in under 60 s when compared to control (*UAS-TeTxLC.(-)Q*) during the thermonociception assay (Figure 4.2). This demonstrates the necessity of *ppk*-expressing cells in triggering the fictive jump behavior upon stimulation by the infrared laser, suggesting that at least some *ppk*-expressing cells are nociceptors.

To demonstrate that activation of the Ppk cells is sufficient for the fictive jump behavior observed in this assay, Channelrhodopsin-2 was expressed within the Ppk cells specifically (Nagel et al., 2003; Schroll et al., 2006) and flies were stimulated by blue light instead of infrared thermal stimulus. Channelrhodopsin-2 is a light-gated, cation-selective ion channel found in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* and it has been shown to elicit action potentials after stimulation with blue light in *Drosophila* neurons that have been in the presence of all-trans retinal (Nagel et al., 2003; Schroll et al., 2006). Flies expressing *UAS-ChR2* within their ppk cells were observed to carry out the fictive jump significantly

more frequently (p < 0.05) when compared to the No Gal4 controls after stimulation with blue light (Figure 4.3). This demonstrates the sufficiency of Ppk neurons in triggering fictive jump behavior, again suggesting that at least some adult Ppk cells are nociceptors.

Next, we used the assay to investigate the effects of a treatment known to elevate nociceptive sensitivity in larval flies: cutaneous injury by UV radiation. While an adult *Drosophila* injury model for investigating chronic pain has previously been developed, involving amputation of the right middle leg of the adult fly (Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Massingham et al., 2021), it was not previously known if UV injury produces sensitization in adults. In our study, 24 hours after UV injury, flies were observed to carry out the fictive jump in response to thermal stimulation significantly more frequently than sham controls (p < 0.001, Figure 4.4). These results suggest that adult *Drosophila* injured by ultraviolet C exposure exhibit behavioral hypersensitivity, as is known to occur in larvae. Applying the UV injury model to adult flies offers the option to build upon the wealth of knowledge already acquired regarding the mechanisms of UV injury-induced nociceptive sensitization in larvae (Babcock et al., 2009; Babcock et al., 2011; Brann et al., 2019; Follansbee et al., 2017; Gjelsvik et al., 2018; Im & Galko, 2012; Im et al., 2015; McParland et al., 2021).

Moving forward, this UV injury model and vacuum-assisted infrared laser thermonociception assay can be used to investigate nociception in adult *Drosophila*, including the involvement of nociceptor genes necessary for the sensitization process after injury, leading to the identification of new drug targets and clarification of mechanisms of normal and abnormal pain.

4.6 Acknowledgements

4.6.1 General acknowledgements

Stocks obtained from the Bloomington *Drosophila* Stock Center (NIH P400D018537), including those generated by the TRiP at Harvard Medical School (NIH/NIGMS R01-GM084947), were used in this study.

The *w;;ppk1.9-Gal4*, the *yw;;ppk1.9-Gal4*, *UAS-mCD8-eGFP*, and *ppk1.9-eGFP* lines were a generous gift from M. Galko. The 7G10 anti-Fasciclin III monoclonal antibody, developed by C. Goodman, was obtained from the Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, created by the NICHD of the NIH and maintained at the University of Iowa, Department of Biology, Iowa City, IA 52242. The authors gratefully acknowledge the support of NIH/NINDS award 2R15NS095195-02 to G. Ganter, NIH/NIGMS COBRE award 1P20GM103643-01A1 to I. Meng, its Histology and Imaging Core, and the UNE Microscope Core Facility, funded by NSF Grants #0116398 and #1125672. The authors wish to thank Graham Ganter, Noah Hallward-Rough, and Annie Rademacher for assistance with preliminary studies, and Vicki Losick for training on adult abdominal dissection methods.

4.6.2 Acknowledgements in contribution of data acquisition and writing

Contributing authors of the manuscript in preparation (Hale, Pratt, et al., 2022) included within this chapter: Christine Hale ^{1,2}, Samia Pratt ³, Joel Herbert ⁴, Geoffrey Ganter ^{1,2}

¹ Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences and Engineering, University of Maine, Orono, ME, USA

² College of Arts and Sciences, University of New England, Biddeford, ME, USA

³ Tufts University, Graduate School of Biomedical Science, Boston, MA

⁴ Boston University, Undergraduate Program in Neuroscience, Boston, MA

Author contribution: Christine Hale, Geoffrey Ganter, PhD, Joel Herbert, and Samia Pratt designed research; Christine Hale, Samia Pratt, and Joel Herbert performed research; Christine Hale statistically analyzed all experimental data using R statistical coding software and Microsoft Excel; Christine Hale and Geoffrey Ganter, contributed to the writing for the prepared manuscript which was included within this dissertation.



Figure 4.1 Acute thermal nociception assay.

An adult fly is restrained by vacuum provided through a steel tube (top) placed on the notum. The fly holds a sugared cotton string while thermal stimulation via infrared laser aimed at its abdomen heats tissues. A fictive escape jump is triggered, represented by throwing of the cotton string, and the latency of the response recorded. A micrograph of a fly abdomen taken with a 40x objective shows a ppk neuron (green) in the adult lateral abdomen, visualized by *ppk-Gal4 > UAS-mCD8::GFP*. Anti-fasciclin reveals the boundaries of epidermal cells (red) and nuclei are visualized by DAPI (blue).



Figure 4.2 Jump response can be inhibited by tetanus toxin.

Adult flies expressing a low-activity tetanus toxin (TNT) (*UAS-TeTxLC.tnt*) within their Ppk cells (shown in red) respond to infrared laser thermal stimulation with significantly less frequent fictive jump behavior when compared to animals expressing the inactive form (shown in blue) of TNT (TNTi) (*UAS-TeTxLC.(-)Q*). $n \ge 212$. ** indicates p < 0.01 using log-rank analysis. Data acquired by J. Herbert.

ChR2 Adult Blue Light Stimulation Assay



Figure 4.3 Jump response can be activated by Channelrhodopsin.

Adult flies expressing Channelrhodopsin within their ppk cells (ppk1.9-Gal4 > UAS-ChR2) (shown in red) respond to blue light stimulation with significantly more frequent fictive jump behavior when compared to their No Gal4 ($w^{1118} \times UAS$ -ChR2) controls (shown in blue). $n \ge 179$. * indicates p < 0.05 using log-rank analysis. Data acquired by C. Hale.



Figure 4.4 Demonstration of injury-induced sensitization

24 hours after UV injury (shown in red), adult flies are significantly hypersensitive to thermal stimulation, as compared to sham treated animals (shown in blue). $n \ge 186$. *** indicates p < 0.001 using log-rank analysis. Data acquired by S.Pratt

CHAPTER 5

5. OVERALL DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS

5.1 Brief summary of overall findings

The body of work detailed within this dissertation reveals components involved in nociceptive sensitivity, under various conditions, thereby reflecting the different conditions of the nociceptor (such as with or without injury) where its sensitivity has been implicated to encourage chronic pain pathologies. As stated within chapter 1, the new descriptors and terminology used for treating and discussing chronic pain have recently become more detailed and complex, in an effort to better treat patients suffering from these conditions (Treede et al., 2015, 2019). From these new medical terminology descriptors and guidelines for their use, such as when to determine if chronic pain is neuropathic, primary, nociplastic, etc., there are also varying states of nociceptive sensitivity described (Treede et al., 2015, 2019). These descriptions include whether nociceptive sensitization could be described as injury induced or if the sensitivity of the nociceptor has arisen seemingly without just or known cause. As such, we have sought within this body of work to investigate the various homeostatic mechanisms underlying sensitivity of the nociceptor in different conditions and to progress the field of nociceptive sensitivity research in the fruit fly further by also developing an improved adult model for more chronic investigations. To uncover the discoveries outlined in this dissertation, four different questions have been investigated:

- 1. What unknown signaling pathways and/or their genetic components may be involved in the regulation of (baseline) nociceptive sensitivity? (chapter 2)
- 2. What molecular responses in the nociceptor to injury lead to the process of nociceptive sensitization (allodynia) 24 hours after injury? (chapter 3)
- 3. What molecular responses in the nociceptor are involved in the recovery of nociceptive sensitization (hyperalgesia) after injury? (chapter 3)

4. How can we improve upon existing adult *Drosophila* nociception assays for nociceptor sensitivity investigation in a way which builds upon prior research and allows for more chronic experimentation? (chapter 4)

In response to the first question, in chapter 2 we described our findings on the canonical Wnt/Wg positive regulator, Arm, and showed evidence that Arm is involved in baseline nociceptor sensitivity maintenance without injury (Hale, Moulton, et al., 2022). Our findings on Arm, homologous to mammalian β -catenin, within our larval fruit fly model uncovers a molecular component within the cell that facilitates the somewhat still unknown baseline nociceptor sensitivity mechanism. This finding is a meaningful starting point into the exploration of how this mechanism of baseline nociceptive sensitivity may become dysregulated in humans, especially where injury is not known to preclude the symptoms of hyperalgesia. For our next two questions, which dive into the investigation of molecular responses involved in nociceptive sensitization after injury as well as in responses in recovery after injury, we responded by asking what transcriptional/translational responses occur in the nociceptor 24 hours after UV injury (chapter 3). The investigation of both of these questions within the same experiment was made possible by seizing upon the uniqueness of the larval fruit fly UV injury model and its ability to show both nociceptor sensitization aspects (allodynia) as well as aspects involved in nociceptor sensitization recovery (specifically recovery from hyperalgesia) at one, common time-point (24 hours post UV injury) (Figure 3.1) (Babcock & Galko, 2009; Babcock et al., 2011). Even though prior Drosophila research has concluded that UV injury does not change the morphology of the nociceptor after injury (Babcock et al., 2009; Follansbee et al., 2017), our results demonstrated that there are changes occurring in the nociceptor even 24 hours after injury that involve activation/alteration of ion channels and downregulation of proteolysis events within the nociceptor. These transcriptional/translational changes that occur reveal pieces of the molecular response that occurs in the cell during peak allodynia as a result of this seemingly superficial injury. By understanding more of these

transcriptional/translational changes that are occurring within the nociceptor, we can begin to investigate their potential to also become dysregulated after injury and learn how that may lead to chronic pain development. This unbiased effort of investigation was also able to reveal potential hypothetical mechanisms of recovery in the cell through upregulation of components, *Rgk1* and *AnxB11*. These results and hypothesis for their involvement in recovery of hyperalgesia were bolstered further by thermal nociception assays of animals with Rgk1 or AnxB11 protein knockdown displaying hypersensitivity (chapter 3). The molecular responses of the cell to nociceptive sensitization recovery after injury, a process by which the nociceptor returns to a homeostatic state after a period of sensitization, are still not fully understood. Uncovering novel genetic components involved in this process could lead to even more diverse opportunities for drug development and further our knowledge into why pain sometimes persists after injury has healed.

Our final question was one asked due to the great need we have seen in the development of an adult fruit fly nociceptor sensitization model which is affective, safe, and allows the ability to build upon the multitude of prior research carried out in larvae. Though there have been adult fruit fly injury models for nociception investigation by other research teams (Khuong & Neely, 2013; Khuong, Wang, et al., 2019; Manev & Dimitrijevic, 2004; Massingham et al., 2021; Neely et al., 2010; Neely et al., 2011; Ohashi & Sakai, 2018; Xu et al., 2006), our fruit fly nociception model outlined in chapter 4 features several improvements upon those behavioral assay methods and is the first that we know of which also includes a UV injury. By utilizing the UV injury model described in chapter 4, we are able to build upon our prior findings that were uncovered using *Drosophila* larvae and build upon those findings by replicating in a model better equipped for chronic investigation. Our adult UV injury model coupled with a thermonociception assay, using a cost friendly infrared diode laser and harmless fly restraint, gives evidence that it has the potential to be an excellent means of screening genes involved in injury-induced nociceptive sensitization. We hypothesize that its effectiveness in producing injury induced nociceptor

sensitivity that can be applied chronically will prove useful for either individual investigation or in collaboration with mammalian research teams where ethical concerns can sometimes limit sample size and power.

5.2 Future directions and closing statement

In an effort to continue this investigation into nociceptive sensitivity until a more complete mechanism is known, there are several directions that could be built upon the findings of this body of work. The first of these directions is to further delineate the genetic components and pathways involved in baseline nociceptor sensitivity. We have demonstrated through our research on Arm, and continued research into other Wnt/Wg signaling components such as Gish, that Drosophila is a useful tool for this investigation, but the full role of how Arm regulates nociceptor sensitivity is not clear. Arm, like its mammalian orthologs, is known to play roles both within the canonical Wnt/Wg signaling pathway and cell-to-cell adhesion (Orsulic & Peifer, 1996). However, Arm is the only known ortholog in the fly, and so both of these actions are carried out by the same protein, unlike in mammals, and we have yet to tease out which role is responsible for the alterations in baseline nociceptor sensitivity we saw in chapter 2 (Huelsken et al., 2000; Huelsken et al., 2001; Miller & Moon, 1997; Simcha et al., 1998). We hypothesize that these dual roles by Arm in the fly will allow for greater ease in further teasing out these questions, in comparison to mammals, as to its particular role in baseline nociceptor maintenance in the future, furthering both fly and mammalian pain research. Future directions in Arm investigation include investigating its role within the canonical Wnt/Wg signaling pathway specifically. A possible course of action in this investigation (besides the investigation of other canonical Wnt/Wg signaling components) could be to knock down Armadillo specifically in the nociceptors of Drosophila larvae, which has previously been shown to result in hyposensitivity (chapter 2) and then an attempt to rescue the hyposensitive phenotype with nociceptor expression of mammalian plakoglobin. Mammalian

plakoglobin (ortholog to Arm and a paralog to β -catenin) has been shown in previous studies to function in the role of Arm at *Drosophila* cadherin complexes but not for Arm within the canonical Wnt/Wg signaling pathway, and so failure to rescue the hyposensitive phenotype could lead evidence to its role in canonical Wnt/Wg signaling for sensitivity regulation (White et al., 1998).

Another course of action in investigating the other known roles of Arm in nociceptive sensitivity could be to target the catenin-cadherin complexes (which both Arm and β -catenin are both part of) within the nociceptor specifically through cadherin knockdown within the nociceptor, followed by thermal nociception assays for determining sensitivity. Catenin-cadherin complexes are known to be present at synaptic junctions near neurotransmitter release sites (Arikkath & Reichardt, 2008; Uchida et al., 1996) and this could indicate a role for Arm at the synapse site of the Drosophila nociceptor when it synapses onto secondary nociceptors within the Drosophila ventral nerve cord (ex: secondary neurons such as the DnB neurons) (Figure 5.1). However, there could also be another role of Arm in the cadherincatenin complex in the cell-cell adhesion of the nociceptors with the surrounding epidermal cells (Figure 5.1). As far as we know from the literature, evidence of Arm within the catenin-cadherin complex between the nociceptors and epidermal cells in *Drosophila* has not been investigated specifically in nociceptive sensitivity regulation, but it has been shown in prior studies that epidermal cells do ensheath nociceptor neurites (similar to recent discoveries on neuronal cells and keratinocyte tunnels in humans (Talagas et al., 2020)) and this ensheathment can play a role in regulating nociceptor sensitivity (Figure 5.1) (Griffin & Thompson, 2008; Jiang et al., 2019). In order to investigate the role of Arm in catenin-cadherin complexes between nociceptors and epidermal cells, we could target Arm and associated cadherins for knockdown in the epidermal cells specifically and evaluate nociceptive sensitivity again through our larval thermonociception assays (and possibly morphology as well).

Another future direction in building upon this research is an investigation of the complete translatomic timeline of events after injury. By gathering evidence in chapter 3 from our nociceptor

specific RNA sequencing data, from animals 24 hours post UV injury, that changes within the cell are occurring at that time-point after injury, it becomes recognizable that the implementation of investigating multiple time-points after injury would be greatly beneficial. By uncovering a fuller timeline of translatomic events in the cell, these results could help to elucidate and piece together the unknown puzzle of how the nociceptor achieves sensitization after injury and fully recovers in both allodynia and hyperalgesia. This knowledge could then contribute toward the expansion of new drug targets but would also provide fundamental knowledge of these vital roles of the cell that are currently unknown.

Finally, another future direction for building upon this dissertation research is exploration into the different nociceptor sensitization molecular responses involved after different types of injuries that lead to chronic pain development. Using our improved adult *Drosophila* thermal nociception assay outlined in chapter 4, forward progress can be made in uncovering genes involved in UV injury-induced nociceptive sensitization in a chronic setting. This tool, however, also opens up the opportunity to test other injuries, such as thermal burn or viral induced neuroinflammation, that could have different molecular mechanisms that lead to chronic pain development and hence warrant different drug targets in treatment.

The compilation of data within this dissertation adds understanding to areas of possible dysregulation of pain known to occur in chronic pain conditions, where nociceptor sensitivity is described as arising in various states (both in the presence of injury and without). It has been made clear through the more detailed terminology and classification recently brought in by the release of ICD-11 on chronic pain (Treede et al., 2015, 2019), that more focused effort is needed in developing better ways to both diagnose and treat different forms of chronic pain. Through investigation within this body of work on baseline nociceptive sensitivity maintenance, nociceptive sensitization after injury, and nociceptive sensitization recovery after injury, we gain more knowledge into some of these specific nuances. This knowledge could in the future lead to better tailored drugs and clinical behavioral/genetic tests for

diagnosing varying forms of chronic pain involving nociceptive sensitivity. Though finding drug alternatives to alleviate the national opioid crisis is of the utmost importance, our investigations into chronic pain development are also of the utmost importance to the societal stigma and individual anguish afflicted on chronic pain sufferers. Every genetic component, signaling pathway, molecular function, cell, and biological process discovered to be a part of the chronic pain process, brings more credibility and understanding of the plight experienced by those affected.



Figure 5.1 Alternative roles for Arm in nociceptive sensitivity regulation

Arm is a moonlighting protein that is known to have more than one function in the cell. One of these functions is as the main component in transcriptional activation of canonical Wnt/Wg signaling target genes. The other function of Arm is its role in the catenin-cadherin complex at adherens junctions of cells. Due to the duality of function of this protein, further investigation into its role either as a canonical

Figure 5.1, continued

Wnt/Wg signaling transducer and/or component at the catenin-cadherin complex within the axon terminal of nociceptors and/or possible role in other cell-cell adhesion complexes such as with epidermal cells, is necessary to deduce its mechanism in nociceptive sensitivity regulation. Graphic by G. Ganter.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ab Aziz, C. B., & Ahmad, A. H. (2006). The role of the thalamus in modulating pain. *The Malaysian journal* of medical sciences : MJMS, 13(2), 11-18.
- Abe, Y., & Tanaka, N. (2017). Roles of the hedgehog signaling pathway in epidermal and hair follicle development, homeostasis, and cancer. *Journal of developmental biology*, *5*(4), 12.
- Adamo, S. A. (2019). Is it pain if it does not hurt? On the unlikelihood of insect pain. *The Canadian Entomologist*, *151*(6), 685-695.
- Adams, C. M., Anderson, M. G., Motto, D. G., Price, M. P., Johnson, W. A., & Welsh, M. J. (1998). Ripped pocket and pickpocket, novel *Drosophila* DEG/ENaC subunits expressed in early development and in mechanosensory neurons. *The Journal of cell biology*, *140*(1), 143-152.
- Agarwal, N., Pacher, P., Tegeder, I., Amaya, F., Constantin, C. E., Brenner, G. J., . . . Monory, K. (2007). Cannabinoids mediate analgesia largely via peripheral type 1 cannabinoid receptors in nociceptors. Nature neuroscience, 10(7), 870-879.
- Ahmed, Y., Hayashi, S., Levine, A., & Wieschaus, E. (1998). Regulation of armadillo by a *Drosophila* APC inhibits neuronal apoptosis during retinal development. *Cell*, *93*(7), 1171-1182.
- Ainsley, J. A., Pettus, J. M., Bosenko, D., Gerstein, C. E., Zinkevich, N., Anderson, M. G., . . . Johnson, W.
 A. (2003). Enhanced locomotion caused by loss of the *Drosophila* DEG/ENaC protein
 Pickpocket1. *Current Biology*, *13*(17), 1557-1563.
- Al-Anzi, B., Tracey Jr, W. D., & Benzer, S. (2006). Response of *Drosophila* to wasabi is mediated by painless, the fly homolog of mammalian TRPA1/ANKTM1. *Current Biology*, *16*(10), 1034-1040.
- Albe-Fessar, D., Berkley, K., Kruger, L., Ralston III, H., & Willis Jr, W. (1985). Diencephalic mechanisms of pain sensation. *Brain Research Reviews*, *9*(3), 217-296.
- Aldrich, B. T., Kasuya, J., Faron, M., Ishimoto, H., & Kitamoto, T. (2010). The amnesiac gene is involved in the regulation of thermal nociception in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Journal of neurogenetics*, 24(1), 33-41.
- Amit, S., Hatzubai, A., Birman, Y., Andersen, J. S., Ben-Shushan, E., Mann, M., . . . Alkalay, I. (2002). Axinmediated CKI phosphorylation of β-catenin at Ser 45: a molecular switch for the Wnt pathway. *Genes & development*, 16(9), 1066-1076.
- Anders, S., & Huber, W. (2010). Differential expression analysis for sequence count data. *Nature Precedings*, 1-1.
- Andersson, J. L., Lilja, A., Hartvig, P., Långström, B., Gordh, T., Handwerker, H., & Torebjörk, E. (1997).
 Somatotopic organization along the central sulcus, for pain localization in humans, as revealed by positron emission tomography. *Experimental brain research*, *117*(2), 192-199.

- Anton, B., Fein, J., To, T., Li, X., Silberstein, L., & Evans, C. J. (1996). Immunohistochemical localization of ORL-1 in the central nervous system of the rat. *Journal of comparative neurology (1911)*, 368(2), 229-251. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19960429)368:2<229::AID-CNE5>3.0.CO;2-5
- Apidianakis, Y., Grbavec, D., Stifani, S., & Delidakis, C. (2001). Groucho mediates a Ci-independent mechanism of hedgehog repression in the anterior wing pouch.
- Arganda-Carreras, I., Fernández-González, R., Muñoz-Barrutia, A., & Ortiz-De-Solorzano, C. (2010). 3D reconstruction of histological sections: Application to mammary gland tissue. *Microsc Res Tech*, 73(11), 1019-1029. https://doi.org/10.1002/jemt.20829
- Argoff, C. (2011). Mechanisms of pain transmission and pharmacologic management. *Current medical research and opinion*, 27(10), 2019-2031.
- Arikkath, J., & Reichardt, L. F. (2008). Cadherins and catenins at synapses: roles in synaptogenesis and synaptic plasticity. Trends in neurosciences, 31(9), 487-494.
- Arora, K., Dai, H., Kazuko, S. G., Jamal, J., O'Connor, M. B., Letsou, A., & Warrior, R. (1995). The *Drosophila* schnurri gene acts in the Dpp/TGFβ signaling pathway and encodes a transcription factor homologous to the human MBP family. *Cell*, *81*(5), 781-790.
- Ashton, J. H., Benedict, C. R., Fitzgerald, C., Raheja, S., Taylor, A., Campbell, W., . . . Willerson, J. T. (1986). Serotonin as a mediator of cyclic flow variations in stenosed canine coronary arteries. *Circulation*, *73*(3), 572-578.
- Attisano, L., & Tuen Lee-Hoeflich, S. (2001). The Smads. *Genome Biology*, 2(8), reviews3010.3011. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2001-2-8-reviews3010
- Auld, V. J., Fetter, R. D., Broadie, K., & Goodman, C. S. (1995). Gliotactin, a novel transmembrane protein on peripheral glia, is required to form the blood-nerve barrier in *Drosophila*. *Cell*, *81*(5), 757-767.
- Avenali, L., Narayanan, P., Rouwette, T., Cervellini, I., Sereda, M., Gomez-Varela, D., & Schmidt, M. (2014). Annexin A2 regulates TRPA1-dependent nociception. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *34*(44), 14506-14516.
- Axel, R. (2004). Scents and sensibility: A molecular logic of olfactory perception. *Nobel Lecture*.
- Ayoub, S., Yazid, S., & Flower, R. (2008). Increased susceptibility of annexin-A1 null mice to nociceptive pain is indicative of a spinal antinociceptive action of annexin-A1. *British journal of pharmacology*, *154*(5), 1135-1142.
- Aziz, Q., Giamberardino, M. A., Barke, A., Korwisi, B., Baranowski, A. P., Wesselmann, U., . . . Treede, R.-D. (2019). The IASP classification of chronic pain for ICD-11: chronic secondary visceral pain. *Pain*, 160(1), 69-76.
- Babcock, D. T., & Galko, M. J. (2009). Two sides of the same coin no longer: genetic separation of nociceptive sensitization responses. *Communicative & integrative biology*, 2(6), 517-519.

- Babcock, D. T., Landry, C., & Galko, M. J. (2009). Cytokine signaling mediates UV-induced nociceptive sensitization in *Drosophila* larvae. *Current Biology*, *19*(10), 799-806.
- Babcock, D. T., Shi, S., Jo, J., Shaw, M., Gutstein, H. B., & Galko, M. J. (2011). Hedgehog signaling regulates nociceptive sensitization. *Current Biology*, *21*(18), 1525-1533.
- Bagley, E. E., Chieng, B. C., Christie, M. J., & Connor, M. (2005). Opioid tolerance in periaqueductal gray neurons isolated from mice chronically treated with morphine. *British journal of pharmacology*, 146(1), 68-76.
- Bailey, E. C., Dehn, A. S., Gjelsvik, K. J., Besen-McNally, R., & Losick, V. P. (2020). A *Drosophila* model to study wound-induced polyploidization. *JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments)*(160), e61252.
- Bandell, M., Story, G. M., Hwang, S. W., Viswanath, V., Eid, S. R., Petrus, M. J., . . . Patapoutian, A. (2004). Noxious cold ion channel TRPA1 is activated by pungent compounds and bradykinin. *Neuron*, 41(6), 849-857.
- Baptista, C. V. J., Faustino-Rocha, A. I., & Oliveira, P. A. (2021). Animal models in pharmacology: A brief history awarding the Nobel prizes for physiology or medicine. *Pharmacology*, *106*(7-8), 356-368.
- Bargiello, T. A., Jackson, F. R., & Young, M. W. (1984). Restoration of circadian behavioural rhythms by gene transfer in *Drosophila*. *Nature*, *312*(5996), 752.
- Basbaum, A. I., Bautista, D. M., Scherrer, G., & Julius, D. (2009). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of pain. *Cell*, 139(2), 267-284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.09.028
- Bastuji, H., Frot, M., Perchet, C., Hagiwara, K., & Garcia-Larrea, L. (2018). Convergence of sensory and limbic noxious input into the anterior insula and the emergence of pain from nociception. *Scientific reports*, *8*(1), 1-9.
- Bejsovec, A. (2013). Wingless/Wnt signaling in *Drosophila*: the pattern and the pathway. *Molecular reproduction and development*, *80*(11), 882-894. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrd.22228
- Bennett, M. I., Kaasa, S., Barke, A., Korwisi, B., Rief, W., & Treede, R.-D. (2019). The IASP classification of chronic pain for ICD-11: chronic cancer-related pain. *Pain*, *160*(1), 38-44.
- Benoliel, R., Svensson, P., Evers, S., Wang, S.-J., Barke, A., Korwisi, B., . . . Treede, R.-D. (2019). The IASP classification of chronic pain for ICD-11: chronic secondary headache or orofacial pain. *Pain*, *160*(1), 60-68.
- Benyamin, R., Trescot, A., Datta, S., Buenaventura, R., Adlaka, R., Sehgal, N., . . . Vallejo, R. (2008). Opioid complications and side effects. *Pain Physician*, *11*(2 Suppl), S105-120.
- Bessou, P., & Perl, E. (1969). Response of cutaneous sensory units with unmyelinated fibers to noxious stimuli. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *32*(6), 1025-1043.

- Bland-Ward, P. A., & Humphrey, P. P. A. (1997). Acute nociception mediated by hindpaw P2X receptor activation in the rat. *British journal of pharmacology*, *122*(2), 365-371. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0701371
- Blighe, K., Rana, S., & Lewis, M. (2021). *EnhancedVolcano: Publication-ready volcano plots with enhanced colouring and labeling*. In (Version 1.12.0) R package. https://github.com/kevinblighe/EnhancedVolcano
- Bloom, F., Battenberg, E., Rossier, J., Ling, N., & Guillemin, R. (1978). Neurons Containing β -endorphin in Rat Brain Exist Separately from those Containing Enkephalin: Immunocytochemical Studies. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS*, 75(3), 1591-1595. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.75.3.1591
- Boiko, N., Kucher, V., Eaton, B. A., & Stockand, J. D. (2013). Inhibition of Neuronal Degenerin/Epithelial Na⁺ Channels by the Multiple Sclerosis Drug 4-Aminopyridine. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288(13), 9418-9427. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.449413
- Boiko, N., Kucher, V., Stockand, J. D., & Eaton, B. A. (2012). Pickpocket1 is an ionotropic molecular sensory transducer. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *287*(47), 39878-39886.
- Boiko, N., Medrano, G., Montano, E., Jiang, N., Williams, C. R., Madungwe, N. B., . . . Hargreaves, K. M. (2017). TrpA1 activation in peripheral sensory neurons underlies the ionic basis of pain hypersensitivity in response to vinca alkaloids. *PloS one*, *12*(10), e0186888.
- Botticelli, L. J., Cox, B. M., & Goldstein, A. (1981). Immunoreactive Dynorphin in Mammalian Spinal Cord and Dorsal Root Ganglia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS*, 78(12), 7783-7786. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.78.12.7783
- Bourgon, R., Gentleman, R., & Huber, W. (2010). Independent filtering increases detection power for high-throughput experiments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *107*(21), 9546-9551.
- Bourne, S., Machado, A. G., & Nagel, S. J. (2014). Basic anatomy and physiology of pain pathways. *Neurosurgery Clinics*, 25(4), 629-638.
- Boyd, E. M., & Bereczky, G. M. (1966). Liver necrosis from paracetamol. *British journal of pharmacology and chemotherapy*, *26*(3), 606-614. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.1966.tb01841.x
- Braden, J. B., & Sullivan, M. D. (2008). Suicidal thoughts and behavior among adults with self-reported pain conditions in the national comorbidity survey replication. *The Journal of Pain*, *9*(12), 1106-1115.
- Bradley, B. P., Gossop, M., Phillips, G. T., & Legarda, J. J. (1987). The development of an opiate withdrawal scale (OWS). *British Journal of Addiction*, 82(10), 1139-1142.
- Brand, A. H., & Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development*, *118*(2), 401.

Brann, C. (2018). Drosophila Glypicans Dally And Dally-Like Control Injury Induced Allodynia.

- Brann, C. L., Moulton, J. K., & Ganter, G. K. (2019). Glypicans dally and dally-like control injury-induced allodynia in *Drosophila*. *Molecular Pain*, *15*, 1744806919856777.
- Braz, J. M., Enquist, L. W., & Basbaum, A. I. (2009). Inputs to serotonergic neurons revealed by conditional viral transneuronal tracing. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *514*(2), 145-160.
- Braz, J. M., Nassar, M. A., Wood, J. N., & Basbaum, A. I. (2005). Parallel "pain" pathways arise from subpopulations of primary afferent nociceptor. *Neuron*, *47*(6), 787-793.
- Bridgestock, C., & Rae, C. P. (2013). Anatomy, physiology and pharmacology of pain. *Anaesthesia & Intensive Care Medicine*, 14(11), 480-483.
- Buntin-Mushock, C., Phillip, L., Moriyama, K., & Palmer, P. P. (2005). Age-dependent opioid escalation in chronic pain patients. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 100(6), 1740-1745.
- Burgess, P. R., & Perl, E. (1967). Myelinated afferent fibres responding specifically to noxious stimulation of the skin. *The Journal of physiology*, *190*(3), 541-562.
- Burgos, A., Honjo, K., Ohyama, T., Qian, C. S., Shin, G. J.-e., Gohl, D. M., . . . Cardona, A. (2018). Nociceptive interneurons control modular motor pathways to promote escape behavior in *Drosophila*. *Elife*, 7, e26016.
- Burstein, R., Cliffer, K. D., & Giesler Jr, G. J. (1990). Cells of origin of the spinohypothalamic tract in the rat. *Journal of comparative neurology (1911), 291*(3), 329-344. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902910302
- Buvanendran, A., Sremac, A. C., Merriman, P. A., Della Valle, C. J., Burns, J. W., & McCarthy, R. J. (2021).
 Preoperative cognitive-behavioral therapy for reducing pain catastrophizing and improving pain outcomes after total knee replacement: a randomized clinical trial. *Regional anesthesia and pain medicine*, *46*(4), 313-321. https://doi.org/10.1136/rapm-2020-102258
- Béguin, P., Mahalakshmi, R. N., Nagashima, K., Cher, D. H., Takahashi, A., Yamada, Y., . . . Hunziker, W. (2005). 14-3-3 and calmodulin control subcellular distribution of Kir/Gem and its regulation of cell shape and calcium channel activity. *Journal of cell science*, *118*(9), 1923-1934.
- Béguin, P., Mahalakshmi, R. N., Nagashima, K., Cher, D. H. K., Kuwamura, N., Yamada, Y., . . . Hunziker, W. (2005). Roles of 14-3-3 and calmodulin binding in subcellular localization and function of the small G-protein Rem2. *Biochemical Journal*, 390(1), 67-75.
- Béguin, P., Nagashima, K., Gonoi, T., Shibasaki, T., Takahashi, K., Kashima, Y., . . . Seino, S. (2001).
 Regulation of Ca 2+ channel expression at the cell surface by the small G-protein kir/Gem.
 Nature, 411(6838), 701-706.
- Cabrero, P., Terhzaz, S., Romero, M. F., Davies, S. A., Blumenthal, E. M., & Dow, J. A. (2014). Chloride channels in stellate cells are essential for uniquely high secretion rates in neuropeptide-

stimulated *Drosophila* diuresis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(39), 14301-14306.

- Cadigan, K. M., & Nusse, R. (1997). Wnt signaling: a common theme in animal development. *Genes & development*, 11(24), 3286-3305.
- Cai, Y.-Q., Wang, W., Hou, Y.-Y., Zhang, Z., Xie, J., & Pan, Z. Z. (2013). Central amygdala GluA1 facilitates associative learning of opioid reward. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33(4), 1577-1588. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1749-12.2013
- Cain, D. M., Khasabov, S. G., & Simone, D. A. (2001). Response properties of mechanoreceptors and nociceptors in mouse glabrous skin: an in vivo study. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *85*(4), 1561-1574.
- Callaway, E., & Ledford, H. (2017). Medicine Nobel awarded for work on circadian clocks. *Nature News*, 550(7674), 18.
- Campbell, G., & Tomlinson, A. (1999). Transducing the Dpp morphogen gradient in the wing of *Drosophila*: regulation of Dpp targets by brinker. *Cell*, *96*(4), 553-562.
- Carlson, M. (2021). *org.Dm.eg.db: Genome wide annotation for Fly*. In (Version version 3.14.0) R package.
- Casey, K. L., Minoshima, S., Berger, K. L., Koeppe, R. A., Morrow, T. J., & Frey, K. A. (1994). Positron emission tomographic analysis of cerebral structures activated specifically by repetitive noxious heat stimuli. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *71*(2), 802-807. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1994.71.2.802
- Caterina, M. J., Leffler, A., Malmberg, A. B., Martin, W., Trafton, J., Petersen-Zeitz, K., . . . Julius, D. (2000). Impaired nociception and pain sensation in mice lacking the capsaicin receptor. *science*, *288*(5464), 306-313.
- Cauna, N. (1973). The free penicillate nerve endings of the human hairy skin. *Journal of anatomy*, 115(Pt 2), 277-288.
- Cavalli, E., Mammana, S., Nicoletti, F., Bramanti, P., & Mazzon, E. (2019). The neuropathic pain: An overview of the current treatment and future therapeutic approaches. *International Journal of Immunopathology and Pharmacology*, *33*, 2058738419838383.
- Cavallo, R. A., Cox, R. T., Moline, M. M., Roose, J., Polevoy, G. A., Clevers, H., . . . Bejsovec, A. (1998). Drosophila Tcf and Groucho interact to repress Wingless signalling activity. Nature, 395(6702), 604-608.
- Cervero, F. (1984). A positive feedback loop between spinal cord nociceptive pathways and antinociceptive areas of the cat's brain stem. *Pain*, *20*(2), 125-138.

- Cesare, P., & McNaughton, P. (1996). A novel heat-activated current in nociceptive neurons and its sensitization by bradykinin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *93*(26), 15435-15439.
- Charnet, P., Scamps, F., Rousset, M., Menard, C., Bellis, M., & Cens, T. (2013). RGK Small GTPases and Regulation of Ca V 2 Channels. In *Modulation of Presynaptic Calcium Channels* (pp. 131-149). Springer.
- Chen, H., Puhl, H. L., 3rd, Niu, S.-L., Mitchell, D. C., & Ikeda, S. R. (2005). Expression of Rem2, an RGK family small GTPase, reduces N-type calcium current without affecting channel surface density. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 25*(42), 9762-9772. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3111-05.2005
- Chen, L., Lv, F., & Pei, L. (2014). Annexin 1: A glucocorticoid-inducible protein that modulates inflammatory pain. *European Journal of Pain*, *18*(3), 338-347.
- Chen, S.-R., & Pan, H.-L. (2002). Hypersensitivity of spinothalamic tract neurons associated with diabetic neuropathic pain in rats. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *87*(6), 2726-2733.
- Chin, M. R., & Tracey Jr, W. D. (2017). Nociceptive circuits: can't escape detection. *Current Biology*, 27(16), R796-R798.
- Christensen, B. N., & Perl, E. R. (1970). Spinal neurons specifically excited by noxious or thermal stimuli: marginal zone of the dorsal horn. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *33*(2), 293-307. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1970.33.2.293
- Christie, M. (2008). Cellular neuroadaptations to chronic opioids: tolerance, withdrawal and addiction. *British journal of pharmacology*, 154(2), 384-396.
- Ciani, L., & Salinas, P. C. (2005). WNTs in the vertebrate nervous system: from patterning to neuronal connectivity. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *6*(5), 351-362.
- Cirino, G., Cicala, C., Bucci, M. R., Sorrentino, L., Maraganore, J. M., & Stone, S. R. (1996). Thrombin functions as an inflammatory mediator through activation of its receptor. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *183*(3), 821-827.
- Clark, E. B., Jovov, B., Rooj, A. K., Fuller, C. M., & Benos, D. J. (2010). Proteolytic Cleavage of Human Acidsensing Ion Channel 1 by the Serine Protease Matriptase *. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(35), 27130-27143. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.153213
- Clark, J. R., Goodwin, P. C., & Yeowell, G. (2019). Exploring the pre-morbid contexts in which central sensitisation developed in individuals with non-specific chronic low back pain. A qualitative study. *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy*, 23(6), 516-526.
- Clark, M. Q., Zarin, A. A., Carreira-Rosario, A., & Doe, C. Q. (2018). Neural circuits driving larval locomotion in *Drosophila*. *Neural development*, *13*(1), 1-10.

- Cohen, M. L. (2022). Proposed clinical criteria for nociplastic pain in the musculoskeletal system are flawed. *Pain*, *163*(4), e604.
- Collier, D. S., & Pain, J. A. (1985). Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and peptic ulcer perforation. *Gut*, 26(4), 359-363. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.26.4.359
- Corrodi, H., & Fuxe, K. (1969). Decreased turnover in central 5-HT nerve terminals induced by antidepressant drugs of the imipramine type. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 7(1), 56-59.
- Costa, J. J. L., Averill, S., Saavedra, J. P., & Priestley, J. V. (1994). Serotonin innervation of enkephalin containing neurones in the rat spinal trigeminal nucleus. *Neuroscience Letters*, *168*(1), 167-171. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(94)90442-1
- Costanza, A., Chytas, V., Piguet, V., Luthy, C., Mazzola, V., Bondolfi, G., & Cedraschi, C. (2021). Meaning in Life Among Patients With Chronic Pain and Suicidal Ideation: Mixed Methods Study. *JMIR Formative Research*, *5*(6), e29365.
- Coste, B., Mathur, J., Schmidt, M., Earley, T. J., Ranade, S., Petrus, M. J., . . . Patapoutian, A. (2010). Piezo1 and Piezo2 are essential components of distinct mechanically activated cation channels. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 330*(6000), 55-60. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1193270
- Cromey, D. W. (2010). Avoiding twisted pixels: ethical guidelines for the appropriate use and manipulation of scientific digital images. *Science and engineering ethics*, *16*(4), 639-667.
- Dado, R. J., Katter, J. T., & Giesler Jr, G. J. (1994). Spinothalamic and spinohypothalamic tract neurons in the cervical enlargement of rats. II. Responses to innocuous and noxious mechanical and thermal stimuli. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *71*(3), 981-1002.
- Dahlhamer, J., Lucas, J., Zelaya, C., Nahin, R., Mackey, S., DeBar, L., . . . Helmick, C. (2018). Prevalence of chronic pain and high-impact chronic pain among adults—United States, 2016. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *67*(36), 1001.
- Dai, W.-L., Xiong, F., Yan, B., Cao, Z.-Y., Liu, W.-T., Liu, J.-H., & Yu, B.-Y. (2016). Blockade of neuronal dopamine D2 receptor attenuates morphine tolerance in mice spinal cord. *Scientific reports*, 6(1), 1-13.
- Dai, Y., Moriyama, T., Higashi, T., Togashi, K., Kobayashi, K., Yamanaka, H., . . . Noguchi, K. (2004).
 Proteinase-activated receptor 2-mediated potentiation of transient receptor potential vanilloid subfamily 1 activity reveals a mechanism for proteinase-induced inflammatory pain. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(18), 4293-4299.
- Dai, Y., Wang, S., Tominaga, M., Yamamoto, S., Fukuoka, T., Higashi, T., . . . Noguchi, K. (2007). Sensitization of TRPA1 by PAR2 contributes to the sensation of inflammatory pain. *The Journal* of clinical investigation, 117(7), 1979-1987.
- Daniels, R. W., Gelfand, M. V., Collins, C. A., & DiAntonio, A. (2008). Visualizing glutamatergic cell bodies and synapses in *Drosophila* larval and adult CNS [https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.21670]. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *508*(1), 131-152. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.21670

- Dankert, H., Wang, L., Hoopfer, E. D., Anderson, D. J., & Perona, P. (2009). Automated monitoring and analysis of social behavior in *Drosophila*. *Nature methods*, *6*(4), 297-303.
- Dason, J. S., Cheung, A., Anreiter, I., Montemurri, V. A., Allen, A. M., & Sokolowski, M. B. (2020). Drosophila melanogaster foraging regulates a nociceptive-like escape behavior through a developmentally plastic sensory circuit. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 117(38), 23286-23291.
- Davidson, G., Shen, J., Huang, Y.-L., Su, Y., Karaulanov, E., Bartscherer, K., . . . Niehrs, C. (2009). Cell cycle control of wnt receptor activation. *Developmental cell*, 17(6), 788-799.
- Davidson, G., Wu, W., Shen, J., Bilic, J., Fenger, U., Stannek, P., . . . Niehrs, C. (2005). Casein kinase 1 γ couples Wnt receptor activation to cytoplasmic signal transduction. *Nature*, *438*(7069), 867-872.
- Davis, J. B., Gray, J., Gunthorpe, M. J., Hatcher, J. P., Davey, P. T., Overend, P., . . . Atkinson, K. (2000).
 Vanilloid receptor-1 is essential for inflammatory thermal hyperalgesia. *Nature*, 405(6783), 183-187.
- de Kort, A. R., Joosten, E. A. J., Patijn, J., Tibboel, D., & van den Hoogen, N. J. (2021). The development of descending serotonergic modulation of the spinal nociceptive network: a life span perspective. *Pediatric research*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41390-021-01638-9
- del Valle Rodríguez, A., Didiano, D., & Desplan, C. (2011). Power tools for gene expression and clonal analysis in *Drosophila* [Review Article]. *Nature Methods*, 9, 47. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1800
- Delidakis, C., Preiss, A., Hartley, D. A., & Artavanis-Tsakonas, S. (1991). Two genetically and molecularly distinct functions involved in early neurogenesis reside within the Enhancer of split locus of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Genetics*, *129*(3), 803-823. https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/129.3.803
- Desbois, C., & Villanueva, L. (2001). The organization of lateral ventromedial thalamic connections in the rat: a link for the distribution of nociceptive signals to widespread cortical regions. *Neuroscience*, *102*(4), 885-898. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(00)00537-6
- Deuis, J. R., Dvorakova, L. S., & Vetter, I. (2017). Methods used to evaluate pain behaviors in rodents. *Frontiers in molecular neuroscience*, *10*, 284.
- Devane, W. A., Hanuš, L., Breuer, A., Pertwee, R. G., Stevenson, L. A., Griffin, G., . . . Mechoulam, R. (1992). Isolation and structure of a brain constituent that binds to the cannabinoid receptor. Science, 258(5090), 1946-1949.
- Dhaka, A., Earley, T. J., Watson, J., & Patapoutian, A. (2008). Visualizing Cold Spots: TRPM8-Expressing Sensory Neurons and Their Projections. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *28*(3), 566-575. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.3976-07.2008

- Dhaka, A., Murray, A. N., Mathur, J., Earley, T. J., Petrus, M. J., & Patapoutian, A. (2007). TRPM8 is required for cold sensation in mice. *Neuron*, *54*(3), 371-378.
- Diaz, E., & Morales, H. (2016). Spinal Cord Anatomy and Clinical Syndromes. *Seminars in ultrasound, CT, and MRI*, 37(5), 360-371. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.sult.2016.05.002
- Dogra, S., Beydoun, S., Mazzola, J., Hopwood, M., & Wan, Y. (2005). Oxcarbazepine in painful diabetic neuropathy: a randomized, placebo-controlled study. *European journal of pain*, *9*(5), 543-543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2004.11.006
- Dougherty, D. D., Kong, J., Webb, M., Bonab, A. A., Fischman, A. J., & Gollub, R. L. (2008). A combined [11C]diprenorphine PET study and fMRI study of acupuncture analgesia. *Behavioural brain research*, *193*(1), 63-68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2008.04.020
- Doumpas, N., Jékely, G., & Teleman, A. A. (2013). Wnt6 is required for maxillary palp formation in Drosophila. BMC biology, 11(1), 1-7.
- Dray, A., & Perkins, M. (1993). Bradykinin and inflammatory pain. In (Vol. 16, pp. 99-104). Oxford: Elsevier Ltd.
- Duffy, J. B. (2002). GAL4 system in Drosophila: a fly geneticist's Swiss army knife. genesis, 34(1-2), 1-15.

Dukas, R. (2020). Natural history of social and sexual behavior in fruit flies. *Scientific reports*, 10(1), 1-11.

- Dworkin, R. H., O'connor, A. B., Backonja, M., Farrar, J. T., Finnerup, N. B., Jensen, T. S., . . . Nurmikko, T. J. (2007). Pharmacologic management of neuropathic pain: evidence-based recommendations. *Pain*, *132*(3), 237-251.
- Eddy, N. B., Lee, L., & Harris, C. A. (1959). The rate of development of physical dependence and tolerance to analgesic drugs in patients with chronic pain. Comparison of morphine, oxymorphone and anileridine. *Bull Narcot*, *11*, 3.
- Eden, E., Lipson, D., Yogev, S., & Yakhini, Z. (2007). Discovering motifs in ranked lists of DNA sequences. *PLoS computational biology*, *3*(3), e39.
- Eden, E., Navon, R., Steinfeld, I., Lipson, D., & Yakhini, Z. (2009). GOrilla: a tool for discovery and visualization of enriched GO terms in ranked gene lists. *BMC bioinformatics*, *10*(1), 48.
- Eidson, L. N., & Murphy, A. Z. (2013). Persistent Peripheral Inflammation Attenuates Morphine-Induced Periaqueductal Gray Glial Cell Activation and Analgesic Tolerance in the Male Rat. *The Journal of Pain*, 14(4), 393-404. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2012.12.010
- Erjavec, F., Lembeck, F., Florjanc-Irman, T., Skofitsch, G., Donnerer, J., Saria, A., & Holzer, P. (1981). Release of histamine by substance P. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology*, *317*(1), 67-70.
- Evan, G. I., Lewis, G. K., Ramsay, G., & Bishop, J. M. (1985). Isolation of monoclonal antibodies specific for human c-myc proto-oncogene product. *Molecular and cellular biology*, *5*(12), 3610-3616.

- Fairburn, D. J., Baiamonte, B. A., Gray, B. E., Hernandez, K. A., Horton, J. R., & Hollander, D. B. (2022). Voluntary exercise attenuates nociceptive abnormalities with no significant alterations of social interaction deficits in the BTBR mouse model of autism. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 420, 113727. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2021.113727
- Feany, M. B., & Bender, W. W. (2000). A *Drosophila* model of Parkinsons disease. *Nature*, 404, 394. https://doi.org/10.1038/35006074
- Fernandes, E. C., Luz, L. L., Mytakhir, O., Lukoyanov, N. V., Szucs, P., & Safronov, B. V. (2016). Diverse firing properties and Aβ-, Aδ-, and C-afferent inputs of small local circuit neurons in spinal lamina I. *Pain*, 157(2), 475-487.
- Ferreira, T., Ou, Y., Li, S., Giniger, E., & van Meyel, D. J. (2014). Dendrite architecture organized by transcriptional control of the F-actin nucleator Spire. *Development*, *141*(3), 650-660.
- Ferreira, T. A., Blackman, A. V., Oyrer, J., Jayabal, S., Chung, A. J., Watt, A. J., . . . Van Meyel, D. J. (2014). Neuronal morphometry directly from bitmap images. *Nature methods*, *11*(10), 982-984.
- Field, M. J., Cox, P. J., Stott, E., Melrose, H., Offord, J., Su, T.-Z., ... Winks, J. (2006). Identification of the α2-δ-1 subunit of voltage-dependent calcium channels as a molecular target for pain mediating the analgesic actions of pregabalin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(46), 17537-17542.
- Field, T. (2016). Massage therapy research review. *Complementary therapies in clinical practice*, 24, 19-31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2016.04.005
- Field, T., Diego, M., Delgado, J., Garcia, D., & Funk, C. G. (2011). Hand pain is reduced by massage therapy. *Complementary therapies in clinical practice*, 17(4), 226-229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2011.02.006
- Fields, H., Malick, A., & Burstein, R. (1995). Dorsal horn projection targets of ON and OFF cells in the rostral ventromedial medulla. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *74*(4), 1742-1759.
- Fields, H. L., Wagner, G. M., & Anderson, S. D. (1975). Some properties of spinal neurons projecting to the medial brain-stem reticular formation. *Experimental neurology*, 47(1), 118-134.
- Finlin, B., & Andres, D. (1999). Phosphorylation-dependent association of the Ras-related GTP-binding protein Rem with 14-3-3 proteins. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, *368*(2), 401-412.
- Finlin, B. S., Crump, S. M., Satin, J., & Andres, D. A. (2003). Regulation of voltage-gated calcium channel activity by the Rem and Rad GTPases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(24), 14469-14474.
- Finlin, B. S., Mosley, A. L., Crump, S. M., Correll, R. N., Ozcan, S., Satin, J., & Andres, D. A. (2005). Regulation of L-type Ca2+ channel activity and insulin secretion by the Rem2 GTPase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(51), 41864-41871.

- Finnerup, N. B., Attal, N., Haroutounian, S., McNicol, E., Baron, R., Dworkin, R. H., . . . Wallace, M. (2015). Pharmacotherapy for neuropathic pain in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Neurology*, *14*(2), 162-173. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70251-0
- Fischer, J. A., Giniger, E., Maniatis, T., & Ptashne, M. (1988). GAL4 activates transcription in *Drosophila*. *Nature*, *332*(6167), 853-856.
- Fischer, M. J., Mak, S. W., & McNaughton, P. A. (2010). Sensitisation of Nociceptors–What are Ion Channels Doing? *The Open Pain Journal*, *3*(1).
- Fischer, R., Wei, Y., Anagli, J., & Berchtold, M. W. (1996). Calmodulin binds to and inhibits GTP binding of the ras-like GTPase Kir/Gem. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *271*(41), 25067-25070.
- Follansbee, T. L., Gjelsvik, K. J., Brann, C. L., McParland, A. L., Longhurst, C. A., Galko, M. J., & Ganter, G.
 K. (2017). *Drosophila* nociceptive sensitization requires BMP signaling via the canonical SMAD pathway. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 37(35), 8524-8533.
- Frankl, V. E. (1984). *Man's search for meaning*. Simon and Schuster.
- Freeman, M. R. (2015). *Drosophila* central nervous system glia. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, 7(11), a020552.
- Freynhagen, R., Strojek, K., Griesing, T., Whalen, E., & Balkenohl, M. (2005). Efficacy of pregabalin in neuropathic pain evaluated in a 12-week, randomised, double-blind, multicentre, placebocontrolled trial of flexible-and fixed-dose regimens. *Pain*, *115*(3), 254-263.
- Fricker, L. D., Margolis, E. B., Gomes, I., & Devi, L. A. (2020). Five Decades of Research on Opioid Peptides: Current Knowledge and Unanswered Questions. *Molecular pharmacology*, 98(2), 96-108. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.120.119388
- Futaki, N., Takahashi, S., Yokoyama, M., Arai, I., Higuchi, S., & Otomo, S. (1994). NS-398, a new antiinflammatory agent, selectively inhibits prostaglandin G/H synthase/cyclooxygenase (COX-2) activity in vitro. *Prostaglandins*, 47(1), 55-59. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-6980(94)90074-4
- Gallagher, R. M., Moore, P., & Chernoff, I. (1995). The reliability of depression diagnosis in chronic low back pain: a pilot study. *General hospital psychiatry*, *17*(6), 399-413.
- Gao, F. B., Brenman, J. E., Jan, L. Y., & Jan, Y. N. (1999). Genes regulating dendritic outgrowth, branching, and routing in *Drosophila*. *Genes & development*, *13*(19), 2549-2561. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.13.19.2549
- Garcia-Larrea, L., & Bastuji, H. (2018). Pain and consciousness. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology* and Biological Psychiatry, 87, 193-199.
- Garland, E. L., Bryan, C. J., Kreighbaum, L., Nakamura, Y., Howard, M. O., & Froeliger, B. (2018). Prescription opioid misusing chronic pain patients exhibit dysregulated context-dependent
associations: Investigating associative learning in addiction with the cue-primed reactivity task. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, *187*, 13-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.02.014

- Gaskin, D. J., & Richard, P. (2012). The economic costs of pain in the United States. *The Journal of Pain*, 13(8), 715-724.
- Gault, W. J., Olguin, P., Weber, U., & Mlodzik, M. (2012). *Drosophila* CK1-γ, gilgamesh, controls PCPmediated morphogenesis through regulation of vesicle trafficking. *J. Cell Biol*, *196*(5), 605-621.
- Ge, S. X., Jung, D., & Yao, R. (2020). ShinyGO: a graphical gene-set enrichment tool for animals and plants. *Bioinformatics*, *36*(8), 2628-2629.
- Gee, N. S., Brown, J. P., Dissanayake, V. U., Offord, J., Thurlow, R., & Woodruff, G. N. (1996). The Novel Anticonvulsant Drug, Gabapentin (Neurontin), Binds to the α2δ Subunit of a Calcium Channel (*). Journal of Biological Chemistry, 271(10), 5768-5776.
- Ghiretti, A. E., Moore, A. R., Brenner, R. G., Chen, L.-F., West, A. E., Lau, N. C., . . . Paradis, S. (2014). Rem2 is an activity-dependent negative regulator of dendritic complexity in vivo. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(2), 392-407.
- Ghiretti, A. E., & Paradis, S. (2011). The GTPase Rem2 regulates synapse development and dendritic morphology. *Developmental neurobiology*, *71*(5), 374-389.
- Ghiretti, A. E., & Paradis, S. (2014). Molecular mechanisms of activity-dependent changes in dendritic morphology: role of RGK proteins. *Trends in neurosciences*, *37*(7), 399-407.
- Gibson, S., Polak, J., Giaid, A., Hamid, Q., Kar, S., Jones, P., . . . Craig, R. (1988). Calcitonin gene-related peptide messenger RNA is expressed in sensory neurones of the dorsal root ganglia and also in spinal motoneurones in man and rat. *Neuroscience letters*, *91*(3), 283-288.
- Giesler, G. J., Katter, J. T., & Dado, R. J. (1994). Direct spinal pathways to the limbic system for nociceptive information. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *17*(6), 244-250. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(94)90007-8
- Gilbert, P. E., & Martin, W. R. (1976). The effects of morphine and nalorphine-like drugs in the nondependent, morphine-dependent and cyclazocine-dependent chronic spinal dog. *The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics*, *198*(1), 66.
- Gillespie, M., Jassal, B., Stephan, R., Milacic, M., Rothfels, K., Senff-Ribeiro, A., . . . Gong, C. (2022). The reactome pathway knowledgebase 2022. *Nucleic acids research*, *50*(D1), D687-D692.
- Gilpin, N. W., & Koob, G. F. (2008). Neurobiology of alcohol dependence: focus on motivational mechanisms. *Alcohol Research & Health*, *31*(3), 185.
- Gilron, I., Tu, D., Holden, R. R., Jackson, A. C., & DuMerton-Shore, D. (2015). Combination of morphine with nortriptyline for neuropathic pain. *Pain (Amsterdam)*, *156*(8), 1440-1448. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000149

- Giniatullin, R. (2020). Ion Channels of Nociception. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(10), 3553.
- Gjelsvik, K. J., Follansbee, T. L., & Ganter, G. K. (2018). Bone Morphogenetic Protein Glass Bottom Boat (BMP5/6/7/8) and its receptor Wishful Thinking (BMPRII) are required for injury-induced allodynia in *Drosophila*. *Molecular pain*, *14*, 1744806918802703.
- Gold, M. S., & Gebhart, G. F. (2010). Nociceptor sensitization in pain pathogenesis [Review Article]. *Nature Medicine*, *16*, 1248. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2235
- Goldberg, D. S., & McGee, S. J. (2011). Pain as a global public health priority. *BMC public health*, 11(1), 1-5.
- Goodman, C. W., & Brett, A. S. (2017). Gabapentin and Pregabalin for Pain—Is Increased Prescribing a Cause for Concern? *New England Journal of Medicine*, *377*(5), 411-414.
- Gowda, S., Salim, S., & Mohammad, F. (2021). Anatomy and Neural Pathways Modulating Distinct Locomotor Behaviors in *Drosophila* Larva. *Biology*, *10*(2), 90.
- Graham, G. G., Davies, M. J., Day, R. O., Mohamudally, A., & Scott, K. F. (2013). The modern pharmacology of paracetamol: therapeutic actions, mechanism of action, metabolism, toxicity and recent pharmacological findings. *Inflammopharmacology*, *21*(3), 201-232. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10787-013-0172-x
- Graham, G. G., Robins, S.-A., Bryant, K. J., & Scott, K. F. (2001). Inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis in intact cells by paracetamol (acetaminophen). *Inflammopharmacology*, *9*(1), 131-142. https://doi.org/10.1163/156856001300248407
- Griffin, J. W., & Thompson, W. J. (2008). Biology and pathology of nonmyelinating Schwann cells. Glia, 56(14), 1518-1531.
- Groenewald, C. B., Law, E. F., Fisher, E., Beals-Erickson, S. E., & Palermo, T. M. (2019). Associations between adolescent chronic pain and prescription opioid misuse in adulthood. *The journal of pain*, *20*(1), 28-37.
- Grover, C. A., McKernan, M. P., & Close, R. J. H. (2018). Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS) in the Emergency Department for Pain Relief: A Preliminary Study of Feasibility and Efficacy. *The western journal of emergency medicine*, *19*(5), 872-876. https://doi.org/10.5811/westjem.2018.7.38447
- Grueber, W. B., Jan, L. Y., & Jan, Y. N. (2002). Tiling of the *Drosophila* epidermis by multidendritic sensory neurons.
- Grueber, W. B., Ye, B., Yang, C.-H., Younger, S., Borden, K., Jan, L. Y., & Jan, Y.-N. (2007). Projections of *Drosophila* multidendritic neurons in the central nervous system: links with peripheral dendrite morphology.

- Hagihira, S., Senba, E., Yoshida, S., Tohyama, M., & Yoshiya, I. (1990). Fine structure of noradrenergic terminals and their synapses in the rat spinal dorsal horn: an immunohistochemical study. *Brain research*, *526*(1), 73-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(90)90251-6
- Hale, C., Moulton, J. K., Otis, Y., & Ganter, G. (2022). ARMADILLO REGULATES NOCICEPTIVE SENSITIVITY IN THE ABSENCE OF INJURY. Molecular Pain, 17448069221111155.
- Hale, C., Pratt, S., Herbert, J., & Ganter, G. (*in preparation of submission in 2022*). Adult *Drosophila* Infrared Thermonociception Assay and UV injury Induced Nociceptive Sensitization.
- Hamada, F., Tomoyasu, Y., Takatsu, Y., Nakamura, M., Nagai, S.-i., Suzuki, A., . . . Ueno, N. (1999).
 Negative regulation of Wingless signaling by D-axin, a *Drosophila* homolog of axin. *Science*, 283(5408), 1739-1742.
- Han, C., Wang, D., Soba, P., Zhu, S., Lin, X., Jan, Lily Y., & Jan, Y.-N. (2012). Integrins Regulate Repulsion-Mediated Dendritic Patterning of *Drosophila* Sensory Neurons by Restricting Dendrites in a 2D Space. *Neuron*, 73(1), 64-78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.10.036
- Hanada, M., Sugiura, Y., Shinjo, R., Masaki, N., Imagama, S., Ishiguro, N., . . . Setou, M. (2012).
 Spatiotemporal alteration of phospholipids and prostaglandins in a rat model of spinal cord injury. *Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry*, 403(7), 1873-1884.
- Hardin, P. E., Hall, J. C., & Rosbash, M. (1990). Feedback of the *Drosophila* period gene product on circadian cycling of its messenger RNA levels. *Nature*, *343*(6258), 536.
- Hargreaves, K., Dubner, R., Brown, F., Flores, C., & Joris, J. (1988). A new and sensitive method for measuring thermal nociception in cutaneous hyperalgesia. *Pain*, *32*(1), 77-88.
- Hasson, P., Müller, B., Basler, K., & Paroush, Z. e. (2001). Brinker requires two corepressors for maximal and versatile repression in Dpp signalling. *The EMBO journal*, *20*(20), 5725-5736.
- Hay, J. L., White, J. M., Bochner, F., Somogyi, A. A., Semple, T. J., & Rounsefell, B. (2009). Hyperalgesia in Opioid-Managed Chronic Pain and Opioid-Dependent Patients. *The Journal of Pain*, *10*(3), 316-322. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2008.10.003
- Heisel, M. J., & Flett, G. L. (2016). Does recognition of meaning in life confer resiliency to suicide ideation among community-residing older adults? A longitudinal investigation. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 24(6), 455-466.
- Hendershot, C. S., Wardell, J. D., Samokhvalov, A. V., & Rehm, J. (2017). Effects of naltrexone on alcohol self-administration and craving: meta-analysis of human laboratory studies. *Addiction biology*, 22(6), 1515-1527.
- Henderson, G., & McKnight, A. T. (1997). The orphan opioid receptor and its endogenous ligand nociceptin/orphanin FQ. In (Vol. 18, pp. 293-300). England: Elsevier Ltd.
- Henriksen, M., Klokker, L., Graven-Nielsen, T., Bartholdy, C., Schjødt Jørgensen, T., Bandak, E., . . . Bliddal, H. (2014). Association of Exercise Therapy and Reduction of Pain Sensitivity in Patients

With Knee Osteoarthritis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Arthritis care & research (2010)*, *66*(12), 1836-1843. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.22375

- Hermanns, H., Hollmann, M. W., Stevens, M. F., Lirk, P., Brandenburger, T., Piegeler, T., & Werdehausen, R. (2019). Molecular mechanisms of action of systemic lidocaine in acute and chronic pain: a narrative review. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, *123*(3), 335-349. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bja.2019.06.014
- Hirsch, C., Campano, L. M., Wöhrle, S., & Hecht, A. (2007). Canonical Wnt signaling transiently stimulates proliferation and enhances neurogenesis in neonatal neural progenitor cultures. *Experimental cell research*, *313*(3), 572-587.
- Hitchcock, L. S., Ferrell, B. R., & McCaffery, M. (1994). The experience of chronic nonmalignant pain. *Journal of pain and symptom management*, *9*(5), 312-318.
- Ho, K.-Y., Huh, B. K., White, W. D., Yeh, C.-C., & Miller, E. J. (2008). Topical Amitriptyline Versus Lidocaine in the Treatment of Neuropathic Pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 24(1), 51-55. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.0b013e318156db26
- Hoffmann, J. (2011). The Host Defense of Insects: A Paradigm for Innate Immunity. *Nobel Lecture, The Nobel Foundation*.
- Hoshino, H., Obata, H., & Saito, S. (2015). Antihyperalgesic effect of duloxetine and amitriptyline in rats after peripheral nerve injury: Influence of descending noradrenergic plasticity. *Neuroscience letters*, 602, 62-67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2015.06.041
- Houtani, T., Nishi, M., Takeshima, H., Nukada, T., & Sugimoto, T. (1996). Structure and regional distribution of nociceptin/orphanin FQ precursor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 219(3), 714-719. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1996.0300
- Hsu, S.-C., Galceran, J., & Grosschedl, R. (1998). Modulation of transcriptional regulation by LEF-1 in response to Wnt-1 signaling and association with β-catenin. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 18(8), 4807-4818.
- Hu, C., Petersen, M., Hoyer, N., Spitzweck, B., Tenedini, F., Wang, D., . . . Soba, P. (2017). Sensory integration and neuromodulatory feedback facilitate *Drosophila* mechanonociceptive behavior. *Nature Neuroscience*, 20(8), 1085-1095. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4580
- Hu, W., Peng, Y., Sun, J., Zhang, F., Zhang, X., Wang, L., . . . Zhong, Y. (2018). Fan-shaped body neurons in the *Drosophila* brain regulate both innate and conditioned nociceptive avoidance. *Cell reports*, 24(6), 1573-1584.
- Huang, D. W., Sherman, B. T., & Lempicki, R. A. (2009a). Bioinformatics enrichment tools: paths toward the comprehensive functional analysis of large gene lists. *Nucleic acids research*, *37*(1), 1-13.
- Huang, D. W., Sherman, B. T., & Lempicki, R. A. (2009b). Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. *Nature protocols*, *4*(1), 44-57.

- Huang, R.-C. (2018). The discoveries of molecular mechanisms for the circadian rhythm: The 2017 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine. *Biomedical journal*, *41*(1), 5-8.
- Huber, O., Korn, R., McLaughlin, J., Ohsugi, M., Herrmann, B. G., & Kemler, R. (1996). Nuclear localization of β-catenin by interaction with transcription factor LEF-1. *Mechanisms of development*, *59*(1), 3-10.
- Hucho, T., & Levine, J. D. (2007). Signaling pathways in sensitization: toward a nociceptor cell biology. *Neuron*, *55*(3), 365-376.
- Huelsken, J., Vogel, R., Brinkmann, V., Erdmann, B., Birchmeier, C., & Birchmeier, W. (2000).
 Requirement for beta-catenin in anterior-posterior axis formation in mice. *The Journal of cell biology*, *148*(3), 567-578. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.148.3.567
- Huelsken, J., Vogel, R., Erdmann, B., Cotsarelis, G., & Birchmeier, W. (2001). β-Catenin controls hair follicle morphogenesis and stem cell differentiation in the skin. *Cell*, *105*(4), 533-545.
- Hughes, C. L., & Thomas, J. B. (2007). A sensory feedback circuit coordinates muscle activity in Drosophila. Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience, 35(2), 383-396. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2007.04.001
- Hughes, J. (1975). Isolation of an endogenous compound from the brain with pharmacological properties similar to morphine. *Brain research*, *88*(2), 295-308. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(75)90391-1
- Hughes, J., Smith, T.-W., Kosterlitz, H.-W., Fothergill, L. A., Morgan, B.-A., & Morris, H. (1975).
 Identification of two related pentapeptides from the brain with potent opiate agonist activity.
 Nature, 258(5536), 577-579.
- Hummel, T., Attix, S., Gunning, D., & Zipursky, S. L. (2002). Temporal control of glial cell migration in the Drosophila eye requires gilgamesh, hedgehog, and eye specification genes. Neuron, 33(2), 193-203.
- Hunt, S. P., & Rossi, J. (1985). Peptide- and Non-Peptide-Containing Unmyelinated Primary Afferents: The Parallel Processing of Nociceptive Information. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences, 308*(1136), 283-289. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1985.0028
- Hwang, R. Y., Zhong, L., Xu, Y., Johnson, T., Zhang, F., Deisseroth, K., & Tracey, W. D. (2007). Nociceptive Neurons Protect *Drosophila* Larvae from Parasitoid Wasps. *Current Biology*, 17(24), 2105-2116. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2007.11.029
- Häbler, H. J., Jänig, W., & Koltzenburg, M. (1990). Activation of unmyelinated afferent fibres by mechanical stimuli and inflammation of the urinary bladder in the cat. *The Journal of physiology*, 425, 545-562. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1990.sp018117

- Iglesias, J.-M., Morgan, R. O., Jenkins, N. A., Copeland, N. G., Gilbert, D. J., & Fernandez, M.-P. (2002). Comparative genetics and evolution of annexin A13 as the founder gene of vertebrate annexins. *Molecular biology and evolution*, *19*(5), 608-618.
- Im, S. H., & Galko, M. J. (2012). Pokes, sunburn, and hot sauce: *Drosophila* as an emerging model for the biology of nociception. *Developmental Dynamics*, 241(1), 16-26.
- Im, S. H., Takle, K., Jo, J., Babcock, D. T., Ma, Z., Xiang, Y., & Galko, M. J. (2015). Tachykinin acts upstream of autocrine Hedgehog signaling during nociceptive sensitization in *Drosophila*. *Elife*, *4*, e10735.
- Imtiaz, S., Shield, K. D., Fischer, B., Elton-Marshall, T., Sornpaisarn, B., Probst, C., & Rehm, J. (2020). Recent changes in trends of opioid overdose deaths in North America. *Substance abuse treatment, prevention and policy*, *15*(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-020-00308-z
- Inquimbert, P., Moll, M., Latremoliere, A., Tong, C.-K., Whang, J., Sheehan, G. F., . . . Scholz, J. (2018).
 NMDA Receptor Activation Underlies the Loss of Spinal Dorsal Horn Neurons and the Transition to Persistent Pain after Peripheral Nerve Injury. *Cell reports*, 23(9), 2678-2689.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.04.107
- International Association for the Study of Pain Task Force on Taxonomy. (1994). *Classification of Chronic Pain: Descriptions of Chronic Pain Syndromes and Definitions of Pain Terms* (M. Harold & B. Nikolai, Eds. 2nd edition ed.). IASP Press.
- Itokazu, T., Hayano, Y., Takahashi, R., & Yamashita, T. (2014). Involvement of Wnt/β-catenin signaling in the development of neuropathic pain. *Neuroscience research*, *79*, 34-40.
- Iyer, E. P. R., Iyer, S. C., Sullivan, L., Wang, D., Meduri, R., Graybeal, L. L., & Cox, D. N. (2013). Functional genomic analyses of two morphologically distinct classes of *Drosophila* sensory neurons: postmitotic roles of transcription factors in dendritic patterning. *PloS one*, 8(8), e72434.
- Jackson, F. R., Ng, F. S., Sengupta, S., You, S., & Huang, Y. (2015). Glial cell regulation of rhythmic behavior. *Methods in enzymology*, *552*, 45-73.
- JancsÓ, N., JancsÓ-GÁBor, A., & SzolcsÁNyi, J. (1967). DIRECT EVIDENCE FOR NEUROGENIC INFLAMMATION AND ITS PREVENTION BY DENERVATION AND BY PRETREATMENT WITH CAPSAICIN. British Journal of Pharmacology and Chemotherapy, 31(1), 138-151. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.1967.tb01984.x
- Jang, W., Baek, M., Han, Y. S., & Kim, C. (2018). Duox mediates ultraviolet injury-induced nociceptive sensitization in *Drosophila* larvae. *Molecular brain*, 11(1), 1-6.
- Jang, W., Kim, J. Y., Cui, S., Jo, J., Lee, B.-C., Lee, Y., . . . Kim, C. (2015). The anoctamin family channel subdued mediates thermal nociception in *Drosophila*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 290(4), 2521-2528.
- Jansen, E. M., Haycock, D. A., Ward, S. J., & Seybold, V. S. (1992). Distribution of cannabinoid receptors in rat brain determined with aminoalkylindoles. Brain research, 575(1), 93-102. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(92)90428-C

- Jazwinska, A., Rushlow, C., & Roth, S. (1999). The role of brinker in mediating the graded response to Dpp in early *Drosophila* embryos. *Development*, *126*(15), 3323-3334.
- Jensen, T. S. (2002). Anticonvulsants in neuropathic pain: rationale and clinical evidence. *European journal of pain*, *6*(SA), 61-68. https://doi.org/10.1053/eujp.2001.0324
- Jiang, N., Rasmussen, J. P., Clanton, J. A., Rosenberg, M. F., Luedke, K. P., Cronan, M. R., . . . Sagasti, A. (2019). A conserved morphogenetic mechanism for epidermal ensheathment of nociceptive sensory neurites. *Elife*, 8, e42455.
- Jo, J., Im, S. H., Babcock, D. T., Iyer, S. C., Gunawan, F., Cox, D. N., & Galko, M. J. (2017). *Drosophila* caspase activity is required independently of apoptosis to produce active TNF/Eiger during nociceptive sensitization. *Cell death & disease*, *8*(5), e2786-e2786.
- Joseph, D. J., Choudhury, P., & MacDermott, A. B. (2010). An in vitro assay system for studying synapse formation between nociceptive dorsal root ganglion and dorsal horn neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, *189*(2), 197-204. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2010.04.002
- Kajander, K. C., & Giesler Jr, G. J. (1987). Effects of repeated noxious thermal stimuli on the responses of neurons in the lateral cervical nucleus of cats: evidence for an input from A-nociceptors to the spinocervicothalamic pathway. *Brain research*, 436(2), 390-395.
- Kandel, E. R. (2013). Principles of neural science (5th ed.). McGraw-Hill.
- Kanehisa, M. (2019). Toward understanding the origin and evolution of cellular organisms. *Protein Science*, *28*(11), 1947-1951.
- Kanehisa, M., Furumichi, M., Sato, Y., Ishiguro-Watanabe, M., & Tanabe, M. (2021). KEGG: integrating viruses and cellular organisms. *Nucleic acids research*, *49*(D1), D545-D551.
- Kanehisa, M., & Goto, S. (2000). KEGG: kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes. *Nucleic acids research*, *28*(1), 27-30.
- Kaneko, T., Macara, A. M., Li, R., Hu, Y., Iwasaki, K., Dunnings, Z., . . . Shafer, O. T. (2017). Serotonergic modulation enables pathway-specific plasticity in a developing sensory circuit in *Drosophila*. *Neuron*, 95(3), 623-638. e624.
- Katoh, Y., & Katoh, M. (2006). WNT antagonist, SFRP1, is Hedgehog signaling target. *International journal of molecular medicine*, 17(1), 171-175.
- Kellstein, D. E., Price, D. D., Hayes, R. L., & Mayer, D. J. (1990). Evidence that substance P selectively modulates C-fiber-evoked discharges of dorsal horn nociceptive neurons. *Brain Research*, 526(2), 291-298. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(90)91234-8
- Kennerdell, J. R., & Carthew, R. W. (1998). Use of dsRNA-mediated genetic interference to demonstrate that frizzled and frizzled 2 act in the wingless pathway. *Cell*, *95*(7), 1017-1026.

- Kenny, K., Royer, L., Moore, A. R., Chen, X., Marr II, M. T., & Paradis, S. (2017). Rem2 signaling affects neuronal structure and function in part by regulation of gene expression. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 85, 190-201.
- Kenshalo, D. R., Chudler, E. H., Anton, F., & Dubner, R. (1988). SI nociceptive neurons participate in the encoding process by which monkeys perceive the intensity of noxious thermal stimulation. *Brain research*, 454(1), 378-382. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(88)90841-4
- Kenshalo, D. R., Jr., Giesler, G. J., Jr., Leonard, R. B., & Willis, W. D. (1980). Responses of neurons in primate ventral posterior lateral nucleus to noxious stimuli. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 43(6), 1594-1614. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1980.43.6.1594
- Kenshalo Jr, D., & Isensee, O. (1983). Responses of primate SI cortical neurons to noxious stimuli. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *50*(6), 1479-1496.
- Kessler, W., Kirchhoff, C., Reeh, P. W., & Handwerker, H. O. (1992). Excitation of cutaneous afferent nerve endings in vitro by a combination of inflammatory mediators and conditioning effect of substance P. *Experimental brain research*, *91*(3), 467.
- Khramtsov, A. I., Khramtsova, G. F., Tretiakova, M., Huo, D., Olopade, O. I., & Goss, K. H. (2010). Wnt/βcatenin pathway activation is enriched in basal-like breast cancers and predicts poor outcome. *The American journal of pathology*, *176*(6), 2911-2920.
- Khuong, T. M., Hamoudi, Z., Manion, J., Loo, L., Muralidharan, A., & Neely, G. G. (2019). Peripheral straightjacket (α2δ Ca2+ channel subunit) expression is required for neuropathic sensitization in Drosophila. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B, 374(1785), 20190287.
- Khuong, T. M., & Neely, G. G. (2013). Conserved systems and functional genomic assessment of nociception. *The FEBS journal, 280*(21), 5298-5306.
- Khuong, T. M., Wang, Q.-P., Manion, J., Oyston, L. J., Lau, M.-T., Towler, H., . . . Neely, G. G. (2019). Nerve injury drives a heightened state of vigilance and neuropathic sensitization in *Drosophila*. *Science advances*, *5*(7), eaaw4099.
- Kim, B. (2021). Must-access prescription drug monitoring programs and the opioid overdose epidemic: The unintended consequences. *Journal of Health Economics*, *75*, 102408.
- Kim, H. K., Bae, J., Lee, S. H., Hwang, S.-H., Kim, M.-S., Kim, M. J., . . . Back, S. (2021). Blockers of Wnt3a, Wnt10a, or β-Catenin Prevent Chemotherapy-Induced Neuropathic Pain In Vivo. *Neurotherapeutics*, 18(1), 601-614.
- Kim, S. E., Coste, B., Chadha, A., Cook, B., & Patapoutian, A. (2012). The role of *Drosophila* Piezo in mechanical nociception. *Nature*, 483(7388), 209-212.
- Kiselyov, K., Chen, J., Rbaibi, Y., Oberdick, D., Tjon-Kon-Sang, S., Shcheynikov, N., . . . Soyombo, A. (2005). TRP-ML1 is a lysosomal monovalent cation channel that undergoes proteolytic cleavage. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(52), 43218-43223.

- Klibaite, U., & Shaevitz, J. W. (2020). Paired fruit flies synchronize behavior: Uncovering social interactions in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *PLOS Computational Biology*, *16*(10), e1008230. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1008230
- Kliuk-Ben Bassat, O., Brill, S., & Sharon, H. (2019). Chronic pain is underestimated and undertreated in dialysis patients: a retrospective case study. *Hemodialysis International*, *23*(4), E104-E105.
- Knopf, A. (2021). CDC: 93,000 deaths from drug overdoses in the U.S. in 2020. *Alcoholism & drug abuse* week, 33(29), 4-6. https://doi.org/10.1002/adaw.33143
- Kobayashi, M., Honma, T., Matsuda, Y., Suzuki, Y., Narisawa, R., Ajioka, Y., & Asakura, H. (2000). Nuclear translocation of beta-catenin in colorectal cancer. *British journal of cancer*, *82*(10), 1689-1693.
- Koch, C. M., Chiu, S. F., Akbarpour, M., Bharat, A., Ridge, K. M., Bartom, E. T., & Winter, D. R. (2018). A beginner's guide to analysis of RNA sequencing data. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*, 59(2), 145-157.
- Kolde, R. (2019). *pheatmap: Pretty Heatmaps*. In R package https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=pheatmap
- Koltzenburg, M., Kress, M., & Reeh, P. W. (1992). The nociceptor sensitization by bradykinin does not depend on sympathetic neurons. *Neuroscience*, *46*(2), 465-473. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(92)90066-B
- Koltzenburg, M., Stucky, C. L., & Lewin, G. R. (1997). Receptive properties of mouse sensory neurons innervating hairy skin. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *78*(4), 1841-1850.
- Koltzenburg, M., Torebjörk, H., & Wahren, L. (1994). Nociceptor modulated central sensitization causes mechanical hyperalgesia in acute chemogenic and chronic neuropathic pain. *Brain: a Journal of Neurology*, *117*, 579-591.
- Komiya, Y., & Habas, R. (2008). Wnt signal transduction pathways. Organogenesis, 4(2), 68-75.
- Kosek, E., Clauw, D., Nijs, J., Baron, R., Gilron, I., Harris, R. E., . . . Sterling, M. (2021). Chronic nociplastic pain affecting the musculoskeletal system: Clinical criteria and grading system. *Pain*, 162(11), 2629-2634.
- Kosek, E., Cohen, M., Baron, R., Gebhart, G. F., Mico, J.-A., Rice, A. S., . . . Sluka, A. K. (2016). Do we need a third mechanistic descriptor for chronic pain states? *Pain*, *157*(7), 1382-1386.
- Kosten, T. R., & Baxter, L. E. (2019). Effective management of opioid withdrawal symptoms: a gateway to opioid dependence treatment. *The American journal on addictions*, *28*(2), 55-62.
- Koyyada, R., Latchooman, N., Jonaitis, J., Ayoub, S. S., Corcoran, O., & Casalotti, S. O. (2018). Naltrexone reverses ethanol preference and protein kinase C activation in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Frontiers in physiology*, *9*, 175.

- Lam, D. K., & Schmidt, B. L. (2010). Serine proteases and protease-activated receptor 2-dependent allodynia: A novel cancer pain pathway. *PAIN®*, *149*(2), 263-272. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2010.02.010
- Lang, E., Novak, A., Reeh, P., & Handwerker, H. (1990). Chemosensitivity of fine afferents from rat skin in vitro. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *63*(4), 887-901.
- Larkin, A., Marygold, S. J., Antonazzo, G., Attrill, H., Dos Santos, G., Garapati, P. V., . . . Strelets, V. B. (2021). FlyBase: updates to the *Drosophila melanogaster* knowledge base. *Nucleic acids research*, 49(D1), D899-D907.
- Le Merrer, J., Becker, J. A. J., Befort, K., & Kieffer, B. L. (2009). Reward processing by the opioid system in the brain. *Physiological reviews*, *89*(4), 1379-1412. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00005.2009
- Lee, D., & O'dowd, D. K. (1999). Fast excitatory synaptic transmission mediated by nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in *Drosophila* neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *19*(13), 5311-5321.
- Lee, H., Lamb, S. E., Bagg, M. K., Toomey, E., Cashin, A. G., & Moseley, G. L. (2018). Reproducible and replicable pain research: a critical review. *Pain*, *159*(9), 1683-1689.
- Lees, G., & Leach, M. J. (1993). Studies on the mechanism of action of the novel anticonvulsant lamotrigine (Lamictal) using primary neuroglial cultures from rat cortex. *Brain research*, 612(1), 190-199. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(93)91660-K
- Leger, A. J., Covic, L., & Kuliopulos, A. (2006). Protease-activated receptors in cardiovascular diseases. *Circulation*, 114(10), 1070-1077.
- Leon, A., Buriani, A., Dal Toso, R., Fabris, M., Romanello, S., Aloe, L., & Levi-Montalcini, R. (1994). Mast cells synthesize, store, and release nerve growth factor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *91*(9), 3739-3743.
- Lewis, E. B. (1998). The bithorax complex: the first fifty years. Int J Dev Biol, 42(3), 403-415.
- Li, J., Simone, D. A., & Larson, A. A. (1999). Windup leads to characteristics of central sensitization. *Pain*, 79(1), 75-82.
- Li, S., Li, S., Han, Y., Tong, C., Wang, B., Chen, Y., & Jiang, J. (2016). Regulation of smoothened phosphorylation and high-level hedgehog signaling activity by a plasma membrane associated kinase. *PLoS biology*, *14*(6), e1002481.
- Li, S., Tian, A., Li, S., Han, Y., Wang, B., & Jiang, J. (2020). Gilgamesh (Gish)/CK1γ regulates tissue homeostasis and aging in adult *Drosophila* midgut. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *219*(4).
- Li, T., Wang, H., Wang, J., Chen, Y., Yang, C., Zhao, M., . . . Yang, Z. (2019). Annexin 1 inhibits remifentanil-induced hyperalgesia and NMDA receptor phosphorylation via regulating spinal CXCL12/CXCR4 in rats. *Neuroscience Research*, *144*, 48-55. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2018.07.007

- Light, A., Trevino, D., & Perl, E. (1979). Morphological features of functionally defined neurons in the marginal zone and substantia gelatinosa of the spinal dorsal horn. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *186*(2), 151-171.
- Limbäck-Stokin, K., Korzus, E., Nagaoka-Yasuda, R., & Mayford, M. (2004). Nuclear calcium/calmodulin regulates memory consolidation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *24*(48), 10858-10867.
- Limmer, S., Weiler, A., Volkenhoff, A., Babatz, F., & Klämbt, C. (2014). The *Drosophila* blood-brain barrier: development and function of a glial endothelium. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, *8*, 365.
- Link, E., Edelmann, L., Chou, J. H., Binz, T., Yamasaki, S., Eisel, U., . . . Jahn, R. (1992). Tetanus toxin action: inhibition of neurotransmitter release linked to synaptobrevin proteolysis. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, *189*(2), 1017-1023.
- Liu, C., Li, Y., Semenov, M., Han, C., Baeg, G.-H., Tan, Y., . . . He, X. (2002). Control of β-catenin phosphorylation/degradation by a dual-kinase mechanism. *Cell*, *108*(6), 837-847.
- Liu, D., Guest, S., & Finley, R. L., Jr. (2010). Why cyclin Y? A highly conserved cyclin with essential functions. *Fly*, 4(4), 278-282. https://doi.org/10.4161/fly.4.4.12881
- Liu, H., Mantyh, P. W., & Basbaum, A. I. (1997). NMDA-receptor regulation of substance P release from primary afferent nociceptors. *Nature (London)*, 386(6626), 721-724. https://doi.org/10.1038/386721a0
- Liu, X., Zwiebel, L. J., Hinton, D., Benzer, S., Hall, J. C., & Rosbash, M. (1992). The period gene encodes a predominantly nuclear protein in adult *Drosophila*. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *12*(7), 2735-2744.
- Liu, Y., Samad, O. A., Zhang, L., Duan, B., Tong, Q., Lopes, C., . . . Ma, Q. (2010). VGLUT2-dependent glutamate release from nociceptors is required to sense pain and suppress itch. *Neuron*, *68*(3), 543-556.
- Llimargas, M., & Lawrence, P. A. (2001). Seven Wnt homologues in *Drosophila*: a case study of the developing tracheae. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *98*(25), 14487-14492.
- Loh, J., & Gulati, A. (2015). The Use of Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS) in a Major Cancer Center for the Treatment of Severe Cancer-Related Pain and Associated Disability. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 16(6), 1204-1210. https://doi.org/10.1111/pme.12038
- Lopez-Bellido, R., & Galko, M. J. (2020). An Improved Assay and Tools for Measuring Mechanical Nociception in *Drosophila* Larvae. *Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE*(164).
- Lopez-Bellido, R., Himmel, N. J., Gutstein, H. B., Cox, D. N., & Galko, M. J. (2019). An assay for chemical nociception in *Drosophila* larvae. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 374(1785), 20190282.
- Love, M., Anders, S., & Huber, W. (2016). Differential analysis of count data–the DESeq2 package. *Genome Biol*, 15(550), 10-1186.

- Love, M. I., Huber, W., & Anders, S. (2014). Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome biology*, *15*(12), 1-21.
- Lu, T., Wang, S., Gao, Y., Mao, Y., Yang, Z., Liu, L., . . . Xie, T. (2015). COP9-Hedgehog axis regulates the function of the germline stem cell progeny differentiation niche in the *Drosophila* ovary. *Development*, 142(24), 4242-4252.
- Lueptow, L. M., Fakira, A. K., & Bobeck, E. N. (2018). The Contribution of the Descending Pain Modulatory Pathway in Opioid Tolerance [Mini Review]. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *12*(886). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00886
- Lun, A. T., McCarthy, D. J., & Marioni, J. C. (2016). A step-by-step workflow for low-level analysis of single-cell RNA-seq data with Bioconductor. *F1000Research*, *5*.
- Magni, G., Rigatti-Luchini, S., Fracca, F., & Merskey, H. (1998). Suicidality in chronic abdominal pain: an analysis of the Hispanic Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (HHANES). Pain, 76(1-2), 137-144.
- Malek, N., Popiolek-Barczyk, K., Mika, J., Przewlocka, B., & Starowicz, K. (2015). Anandamide, Acting via CB2 Receptors, Alleviates LPS-Induced Neuroinflammation in Rat Primary Microglial Cultures. Journal of neural transplantation & plasticity, 2015, 130639-130639. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/130639
- Manev, H., & Dimitrijevic, N. (2004). *Drosophila* model for in vivo pharmacological analgesia research. *European journal of pharmacology*, 491(2-3), 207-208.
- Manoli, D. S., Foss, M., Villella, A., Taylor, B. J., Hall, J. C., & Baker, B. S. (2005). Male-specific fruitless specifies the neural substrates of *Drosophila* courtship behaviour. *Nature*, *436*(7049), 395-400.
- Mao, J., Sung, B., Ji, R.-R., & Lim, G. (2002). Neuronal apoptosis associated with morphine tolerance: evidence for an opioid-induced neurotoxic mechanism. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(17), 7650-7661.
- Marlier, L., Poulat, P., Rajaofetra, N., Sandillon, F., & Privat, A. (1992). Plasticity of the serotonergic innervation of the dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord following neonatal capsaicin treatment. *Journal of neuroscience research*, *31*(2), 346-358. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.490310217
- Maroon, J. C., Bost, J. W., & Maroon, A. (2010). Natural anti-inflammatory agents for pain relief. *Surgical neurology international*, *1*, 80-80. https://doi.org/10.4103/2152-7806.73804
- Martin, H. A., Basbaum, A. I., Kwiat, G. C., Goetzl, E. J., & Levine, J. D. (1987). Leukotriene and prostaglandin sensitization of cutaneous high-threshold C- and A-delta mechanonociceptors in the hairy skin of rat hindlimbs. *Neuroscience*, *22*(2), 651-659. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(87)90360-5
- Martin, W. R., Eades, C. G., Thompson, J. A., Huppler, R. E., & Gilbert, P. E. (1976). The effects of morphine- and nalorphine- like drugs in the nondependent and morphine-dependent chronic spinal dog. *The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics*, *197*(3), 517.

- Masanori, O., & Mitsuhiko, Y. (1987). Does substance P act as a pain transmitter? In (Vol. 8, pp. 506-510): Elsevier Ltd.
- Masferrer, J. L., Zweifel, B. S., Manning, P. T., Hauser, S. D., Leahy, K. M., Smith, W. G., . . . Seibert, K. (1994). Selective inhibition of inducible cyclooxygenase 2 in vivo is antiinflammatory and nonulcerogenic. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *91*(8), 3228-3232.
- Massingham, J. N., Baron, O., & Neely, G. G. (2021). Evaluating Baseline and Sensitised Heat Nociception in Adult *Drosophila*. *Bio-protocol*, *11*(13), e4079-e4079.
- Matsuda, M., Huh, Y., & Ji, R.-R. (2018). Roles of inflammation, neurogenic inflammation, and neuroinflammation in pain. *Journal of anesthesia*, *33*(1), 131-139. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00540-018-2579-4
- Mauthner, S. E., Fisher, K. H., & Tracey, W. D. (*preprint* 2021). The *Drosophila* gene smoke alarm regulates nociceptor-epidermis interactions and thermal nociception behavior. *bioRxiv* doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.05.12.443649
- Mayer, D. J., & Liebeskind, J. C. (1974). Pain reduction by focal electrical stimulation of the brain: An anatomical and behavioral analysis. *Brain research*, *68*(1), 73-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(74)90534-4
- Mazzola, L., Isnard, J., & Mauguiere, F. (2006). Somatosensory and pain responses to stimulation of the second somatosensory area (SII) in humans. A comparison with SI and insular responses. *Cerebral Cortex*, *16*(7), 960-968.
- McCarberg, B., & Peppin, J. (2019). Pain pathways and nervous system plasticity: learning and memory in pain. *Pain Medicine*, 20(12), 2421-2437.
- McCloy, R. A., Rogers, S., Caldon, C. E., Lorca, T., Castro, A., & Burgess, A. (2014). Partial inhibition of Cdk1 in G2 phase overrides the SAC and decouples mitotic events. *Cell cycle*, *13*(9), 1400-1412.
- McDermaid, A., Monier, B., Zhao, J., Liu, B., & Ma, Q. (2018). Interpretation of differential gene expression results of RNA-seq data: review and integration. *Briefings in Bioinformatics*, 20(6), 2044-2054. https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bby067
- McEwan, J., Larkin, S., Davies, G., Chierchia, S., Brown, M., Stevenson, J., . . . Maseri, A. (1986). Calcitonin gene-related peptide: a potent dilator of human epicardial coronary arteries. *Circulation (New York, N.Y.)*, 74(6), 1243-1247. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.74.6.1243
- McMahon, S. B. (1996). NGF as a Mediator of Inflammatory Pain. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, *351*(1338), 431-440. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1996.0039
- McParland, A., Moulton, J., Brann, C., Hale, C., Otis, Y., & Ganter, G. (2021). The Brinker repressor system regulates injury-induced nociceptive sensitization in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Mol Pain*, *17*, 17448069211037401. https://doi.org/10.1177/17448069211037401

- McParland, A. L., Follansbee, T. L., Vesenka, G. D., Panaitiu, A. E., & Ganter, G. K. (2015). Steroid receptor isoform expression in *Drosophila* nociceptor neurons is required for normal dendritic arbor and sensitivity. *Plos one*, *10*(10), e0140785.
- Meadowcroft, D., & Whitacre, B. (2021). Do prescription drug monitoring programs encourage prescription–or illicit–opioid abuse? *Substance abuse*, *42*(1), 65-75.
- Mendell, L. M. (1966). Physiological properties of unmyelinated fiber projection to the spinal cord. *Experimental neurology*, *16*(3), 316-332. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4886(66)90068-9
- Menétrey, D., Chaouch, A., & Besson, J. M. (1980). Location and properties of dorsal horn neurons at origin of spinoreticular tract in lumbar enlargement of the rat. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 44(5), 862-877. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1980.44.5.862
- Menétrey, D., Chaouch, A., Binder, D., & Besson, J. M. (1982). The origin of the spinomesencephalic tract in the rat: an anatomical study using the retrograde transport of horseradish peroxidase. *Journal* of Comparative Neurology, 206(2), 193-207.
- Meng, I. D., Manning, B. H., Martin, W. J., & Fields, H. L. (1998). An analgesia circuit activated by cannabinoids. Nature, 395(6700), 381-383.
- Merchenthaler, I., Maderdrut, J. L., Altschuler, R. A., & Petrusz, P. (1986). Immunocytochemical localization of proenkephalin-derived peptides in the central nervous system of the rat. *Neuroscience*, *17*(2), 325-348. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(86)90250-2
- Meuser, T., Giesecke, T., Gabriel, A., Horsch, M., Sabatowski, R., Hescheler, J., . . . Palmer, P. P. (2003).
 Mu-Opioid Receptor mRNA Regulation During Morphine Tolerance in the Rat Peripheral
 Nervous System. *Anesthesia and analgesia*, *97*(5), 1458-1463.
 https://doi.org/10.1213/01.ANE.0000081721.75663.87
- Mi, H., Ebert, D., Muruganujan, A., Mills, C., Albou, L.-P., Mushayamaha, T., & Thomas, P. D. (2021). PANTHER version 16: a revised family classification, tree-based classification tool, enhancer regions and extensive API. *Nucleic acids research*, 49(D1), D394-D403.
- Milinkeviciute, G., Gentile, C., & Neely, G. G. (2012). *Drosophila* as a tool for studying the conserved genetics of pain. *Clinical genetics*, *82*(4), 359-366.
- Millan, M. J. (1999). The induction of pain: An integrative review. *Progress in neurobiology*, 57(1), 1-164. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-0082(98)00048-3
- Miller, J. R., & Moon, R. T. (1997). Analysis of the Signaling Activities of Localization Mutants of ß-Catenin during Axis Specification in Xenopus. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *139*(1), 229-243.
- Minami, M., & Satoh, M. (1995). Molecular biology of the opioid receptors: structures, functions and distributions. In (Vol. 23, pp. 121-145). Ireland: Elsevier Ireland Ltd.

- Mitchell, J. A., Akarasereenont, P., Thiemermann, C., Flower, R. J., & Vane, J. R. (1993). Selectivity of Nonsteroidal Antiinflammatory Drugs as Inhibitors of Constitutive and Inducible Cyclooxygenase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS*, *90*(24), 11693-11697. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.90.24.11693
- Miyares, R. L., & Lee, T. (2019). Temporal control of *Drosophila* central nervous system development. *Current opinion in neurobiology*, *56*, 24-32.
- Molinari, H. H. (1982). The cutaneous sensitivity of units in laminae VII and VIII of the cat. *Brain Research*, 234(1), 165-169. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(82)90482-6
- Mollereau, C., Parmentier, M., Mailleux, P., Butour, J. L., Moisand, C., Chalon, P., . . . Meunier, J. C. (1994). ORL1, a novel member of the opioid receptor family. Cloning, functional expression and localization. *FEBS Lett*, 341(1), 33-38. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-5793(94)80235-1
- Molsberger, A. F., Mau, J., Pawelec, D. B., & Winkler, J. (2002). Does acupuncture improve the orthopedic management of chronic low back pain a randomized, blinded, controlled trial with 3 months follow up. *Pain (Amsterdam), 99*(3), 579-587. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(02)00269-5
- Moncada, S., Ferreira, S. H., & Vane, J. R. (1975). Inhibition of prostaglandin biosynthesis as the mechanism of analgesia of aspirin-like drugs in the dog knee joint. *European journal of pharmacology*, *31*(2), 250-260. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2999(75)90047-3
- Moore, A., Derry, S., & Wiffen, P. (2018). Gabapentin for Chronic Neuropathic Pain. JAMA, 319(8), 818-819. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.21547
- Moore, A. R., Ghiretti, A. E., & Paradis, S. (2013). A loss-of-function analysis reveals that endogenous Rem2 promotes functional glutamatergic synapse formation and restricts dendritic complexity. *PloS one*, 8(8), e74751.
- Moore, K. A., Kohno, T., Karchewski, L. A., Scholz, J., Baba, H., & Woolf, C. J. (2002). Partial peripheral nerve injury promotes a selective loss of GABAergic inhibition in the superficial dorsal horn of the spinal cord. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *22*(15), 6724-6731.
- Morgan, T. H. (1916). Sex-linked inheritance in Drosophila. Carnegie institution of Washington.
- Moyers, J. S., Bilan, P. J., Zhu, J., & Kahn, C. R. (1997). Rad and Rad-related GTPases interact with calmodulin and calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(18), 11832-11839.
- Muller, H. J. (1928). The production of mutations by X-rays. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 14(9), 714.
- Mullins, M. W., Ciallella, J., Rangnekar, V., & McGillis, J. P. (1993). Characterization of a calcitonin generelated peptide (CGRP) receptor on mouse bone marrow cells. *Regulatory peptides*, 49(1), 65-72.

- Mundiyanapurath, S., Certel, S., & Kravitz, E. A. (2007). Studying aggression in *Drosophila* (fruit flies). *Journal of Visualized Experiments*(2), 155-155. <u>https://doi.org/10.3791/155</u>
- Munger, B. L. (1965). The intraepidermal innervation of the snout skin of the opossum: A light and electron microscope study, with observations on the nature of Merkel's Tastzellen. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 26(1), 79-97.
- Murakami, S., Minami-Ohtsubo, M., Nakato, R., Shirahige, K., & Tabata, T. (2017). Two components of aversive memory in *Drosophila*, anesthesia-sensitive and anesthesia-resistant memory, require distinct domains within the Rgk1 small GTPase. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *37*(22), 5496-5510.
- Nagarkar-Jaiswal, S., Lee, P.-T., Campbell, M. E., Chen, K., Anguiano-Zarate, S., Gutierrez, M. C., . . . Schulze, K. L. (2015). A library of MiMICs allows tagging of genes and reversible, spatial and temporal knockdown of proteins in *Drosophila*. *elife*, *4*, e05338.
- Nagel, G., Szellas, T., Huhn, W., Kateriya, S., Adeishvili, N., Berthold, P., . . . Bamberg, E. (2003). Channelrhodopsin-2, a directly light-gated cation-selective membrane channel. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *100*(24), 13940-13945.
- Nagy, J., & Hunt, S. (1983). The termination of primary afferents within the rat dorsal horn: evidence for rearrangement following capsaicin treatment. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 218(2), 145-158.
- Nahman-Averbuch, H., Schneider, n. V. J., Chamberlin, L. A., Kroon Van Diest, A. M., Peugh, J. L., Lee, G. R., . . . King, C. D. (2021). Identification of neural and psychophysical predictors of headache reduction after cognitive behavioral therapy in adolescents with migraine. *Pain (Amsterdam)*, 162(2), 372-381. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000002029
- Nakamura, T., Aikawa, T., Iwamoto-Enomoto, M., Iwamoto, M., Higuchi, Y., Maurizio, P., . . . Kurisu, K. (1997). Induction of osteogenic differentiation by hedgehog proteins. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 237(2), 465-469.
- Narita, M., Kaneko, C., Miyoshi, K., Nagumo, Y., Kuzumaki, N., Nakajima, M., . . . Suzuki, T. (2006). Chronic pain induces anxiety with concomitant changes in opioidergic function in the amygdala. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *31*(4), 739-750.
- Necker, R., & Hellon, R. F. (1977). Noxious thermal input from the rat tail: Modulation by descending inhibitory influences. *Pain (Amsterdam), 4*(3), 231-242. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(77)90135-X
- Needleman, P., Minkes, M. S., & Douglas, J. R. (1974). Stimulation of Prostaglandin Biosynthesis by Adenine Nucleotides: Profile of Prostaglandin Release by Perfused Organs. *Circulation research*, 34(4), 455-460. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.34.4.455
- Neely, G. G., Hess, A., Costigan, M., Keene, A. C., Goulas, S., Langeslag, M., . . . Smith, S. B. (2010). A genome-wide *Drosophila* screen for heat nociception identifies α2δ3 as an evolutionarily conserved pain gene. *Cell*, *143*(4), 628-638.

- Neely, G. G., Keene, A. C., Duchek, P., Chang, E. C., Wang, Q.-P., Aksoy, Y. A., . . . Garrity, P. A. (2011). TrpA1 regulates thermal nociception in *Drosophila*. *PloS one*, *6*(8), e24343.
- Nicholas, M., Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Rief, W., Barke, A., Aziz, Q., Benoliel, R., . . . Treede, R. D. (2019). The IASP classification of chronic pain for ICD-11: chronic primary pain. *Pain*, *160*(1), 28-37. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000001390
- Nicholls, J. G., Martin, A. R., Wallace, B. G., & Fuchs, P. A. (2001). *From neuron to brain* (Vol. 271). Sinauer Associates Sunderland, MA.
- Nichols, C. D. (2006). *Drosophila melanogaster* neurobiology, neuropharmacology, and how the fly can inform central nervous system drug discovery. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, *112*(3), 677-700.
- Nijs, J., Lahousse, A., Kapreli, E., Bilika, P., Saraçoğlu, İ., Malfliet, A., . . . Roose, E. (2021). Nociplastic pain criteria or recognition of central sensitization? Pain phenotyping in the past, present and future. *Journal of clinical medicine*, *10*(15), 3203.
- Noordermeer, J., Klingensmith, J., Perrimon, N., & Nusse, R. (1994). dishevelled and armadillo act in the wingless signalling pathway in *Drosophila*. *Nature*, *367*(6458), 80-83.
- Noori, S. A., Aiyer, R., Yu, J., White, R. S., Mehta, N., & Gulati, A. (2019). Nonopioid versus opioid agents for chronic neuropathic pain, rheumatoid arthritis pain, cancer pain and low back pain. *Pain management*, *9*(2), 205-216.
- North, R. A., Williams, J. T., Surprenant, A., & Christie, M. J. (1987). Mu and delta receptors belong to a family of receptors that are coupled to potassium channels. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *84*(15), 5487-5491.
- Nothacker, H. P., Reinscheid, R. K., Mansour, A., Henningsen, R. A., Ardati, A., Monsma, F. J., Jr., . . . Civelli, O. (1996). Primary structure and tissue distribution of the orphanin FQ precursor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(16), 8677-8682. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.16.8677
- Nystedt, S., Emilsson, K., Wahlestedt, C., & Sundelin, J. (1994). Molecular cloning of a potential proteinase activated receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *91*(20), 9208-9212.
- Ogawa, A., & Meng, I. D. (2009). Differential effects of the cannabinoid receptor agonist, WIN 55,212-2, on lamina I and lamina V spinal trigeminal nucleus caudalis neurons. Pain, 141(3), 269-275.
- Ohashi, H., & Sakai, T. (2018). Leucokinin signaling regulates hunger–driven reduction of behavioral responses to noxious heat in *Drosophila*. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 499(2), 221-226.
- Ohyama, T., Schneider-Mizell, C. M., Fetter, R. D., Aleman, J. V., Franconville, R., Rivera-Alba, M., . . . Truman, J. W. (2015). A multilevel multimodal circuit enhances action selection in *Drosophila*. *Nature*, *520*(7549), 633-639.

- Okamoto, M., Udagawa, N., Uehara, S., Maeda, K., Yamashita, T., Nakamichi, Y., . . . Takahashi, N. (2014). Noncanonical Wnt5a enhances Wnt/β-catenin signaling during osteoblastogenesis. *Scientific reports*, *4*(1), 1-8.
- Okifuji, A., & Benham, B. (2011). Suicidal and self-harm behaviors in chronic pain patients. *Journal of Applied Biobehavioral Research*, *16*(2), 57-77.
- Olave, M. J., & Maxwell, D. J. (2004). Axon terminals possessing alpha sub(2C)-adrenergic receptors densely innervate neurons in the rat lateral spinal nucleus which respond to noxious stimulation. Neuroscience, 126(2), 391-403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.03.049</u>
- Oliveira, M. C. G., Pelegrini-da-Silva, A., Parada, C. A., & Tambeli, C. H. (2006). 5-HT acts on nociceptive primary afferents through an indirect mechanism to induce hyperalgesia in the subcutaneous tissue. *Neuroscience*, *145*(2), 708-714. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.12.021
- Ong, C., Yung, L.-Y. L., Cai, Y., Bay, B.-H., & Baeg, G.-H. (2015). *Drosophila melanogaster* as a model organism to study nanotoxicity. *Nanotoxicology*, *9*(3), 396-403.
- Orsulic, S., & Peifer, M. (1996). An in vivo structure-function study of armadillo, the beta-catenin homologue, reveals both separate and overlapping regions of the protein required for cell adhesion and for wingless signaling. *The Journal of cell biology*, *134*(5), 1283-1300.
- Owusu Obeng, A., Hamadeh, I., & Smith, M. (2017). Review of Opioid Pharmacogenetics and Considerations for Pain Management. *Pharmacotherapy*, *37*(9), 1105-1121. https://doi.org/10.1002/phar.1986
- Packard, M., Koo, E. S., Gorczyca, M., Sharpe, J., Cumberledge, S., & Budnik, V. (2002). The *Drosophila* Wnt, wingless, provides an essential signal for pre-and postsynaptic differentiation. *Cell*, 111(3), 319-330.
- Pai, L.-M., Kirkpatrick, C., Blanton, J., Oda, H., Takeichi, M., & Peifer, M. (1996). Drosophila α-catenin and E-cadherin bind to distinct regions of Drosophila Armadillo. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 271(50), 32411-32420.
- Pai, L.-M., Orsulic, S., Bejsovec, A., & Peifer, M. (1997). Negative regulation of Armadillo, a Wingless effector in *Drosophila*. *Development*, *124*(11), 2255-2266.
- Pang, R.-P., Xie, M.-X., Yang, J., Shen, K.-F., Chen, X., Su, Y.-X., . . . Zhou, J.-G. (2016). Downregulation of CIC-3 in dorsal root ganglia neurons contributes to mechanical hypersensitivity following peripheral nerve injury. *Neuropharmacology*, *110*, 181-189.
- Papathanasiou, I., Malizos, K. N., & Tsezou, A. (2012). Bone morphogenetic protein-2-induced Wnt/βcatenin signaling pathway activation through enhanced low-density-lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5 catabolic activity contributes to hypertrophy in osteoarthritic chondrocytes. *Arthritis research* & *therapy*, *14*(2), 1-14.

- Parnavelas, J. G., Kelly, W., & Burnstock, G. (1985). Ultrastructural localization of choline acetyltransferase in vascular endothelial cells in rat brain. *Nature (London)*, *316*(6030), 724-725. https://doi.org/10.1038/316724a0
- Pasternak, G. W., & Pan, Y.-X. (2013). Mu opioids and their receptors: evolution of a concept. *Pharmacological reviews*, 65(4), 1257-1317. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.112.007138
- Patel, N. H., Snow, P. M., & Goodman, C. S. (1987). Characterization and cloning of fasciclin III: a glycoprotein expressed on a subset of neurons and axon pathways in *Drosophila*. *Cell*, 48(6), 975-988.
- Patrignani, P., & Patrono, C. (2015). Cyclooxygenase inhibitors: From pharmacology to clinical read-outs. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids, 1851(4), 422-432. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2014.09.016
- Pei, L., Zhang, J., Zhao, F., Su, T., Wei, H., Tian, J., . . . Shi, J. (2011). Annexin 1 exerts anti-nociceptive effects after peripheral inflammatory pain through formyl-peptide-receptor-like 1 in rat dorsal root ganglion. *British journal of anaesthesia*, 107(6), 948-958.
- Peifer, M., McCrea, P. D., Green, K. J., Wieschaus, E., & Gumbiner, B. M. (1992). The vertebrate adhesive junction proteins beta-catenin and plakoglobin and the *Drosophila* segment polarity gene armadillo form a multigene family with similar properties. *The Journal of cell biology*, *118*(3), 681-691.
- Peifer, M., Pai, L.-M., & Casey, M. (1994). Phosphorylation of the *Drosophila* adherens junction protein Armadillo: roles for wingless signal and zeste-white 3 kinase. *Developmental biology*, *166*(2), 543-556.
- Peifer, M., Sweeton, D., Casey, M., & Wieschaus, E. (1994). wingless signal and Zeste-white 3 kinase trigger opposing changes in the intracellular distribution of Armadillo. *Development*, 120(2), 369-380.
- Peifer, M., & Wleschaus, E. (1990). The segment polarity gene armadillo encodes a functionally modular protein that is the *Drosophila* homolog of human plakoglobin. *Cell*, *63*(6), 1167-1178.
- Pergolizzi, J. V., Rosenblatt, M., & LeQuang, J. A. (2019). Three years down the road: the aftermath of the CDC guideline for prescribing opioids for chronic pain. *Advances in therapy*, *36*(6), 1235-1240.
- Perkins, L. A., Holderbaum, L., Tao, R., Hu, Y., Sopko, R., McCall, K., . . . Shim, H.-S. (2015). The transgenic RNAi project at Harvard Medical School: resources and validation. *Genetics*, 201(3), 843-852.
- Perrimon, N. (1994). The genetic basis of patterned baldness in Drosophila. Cell, 76(5), 781-784.
- Perrot, S., Cohen, M., Barke, A., Korwisi, B., Rief, W., & Treede, R.-D. (2019). The IASP classification of chronic pain for ICD-11: chronic secondary musculoskeletal pain. *Pain*, *160*(1), 77-82.

- Pert, C. B., & Snyder, S. H. (1973). Opiate Receptor: Demonstration in Nervous Tissue. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science), 179(4077), 1011-1014. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.179.4077.1011
- Pertovaara, A., Wei, H., & Hämäläinen, M. M. (1996). Lidocaine in the rostroventromedial medulla and the periaqueductal gray attenuates allodynia in neuropathic rats. *Neuroscience letters*, *218*(2), 127-130. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(96)13136-0
- Peru, R. L., Ojelade, S. A., Penninti, P. S., Dove, R. J., Nye, M. J., Acevedo, S. F., . . . Rothenfluh, A. (2014). Long-lasting, experience-dependent alcohol preference in *Drosophila*. *Addiction biology*, 19(3), 392-401.
- Peyron, R., García-Larrea, L., Grégoire, M.-C., Costes, N., Convers, P., Lavenne, F., . . . Laurent, B. (1999). Haemodynamic brain responses to acute pain in humans. *Brain (London, England : 1878)*, 122(9), 1765-1780. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/122.9.1765
- Poirot, O., Vukicevic, M., Boesch, A., & Kellenberger, S. (2004). Selective regulation of acid-sensing ion channel 1 by serine proteases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *279*(37), 38448-38457.
- Prato, V., Taberner, F. J., Hockley, J. R., Callejo, G., Arcourt, A., Tazir, B., . . . Smith, E. S. (2017). Functional and molecular characterization of mechanoinsensitive "silent" nociceptors. *Cell reports*, *21*(11), 3102-3115.
- Price, J. L., Blau, J., Rothenfluh, A., Abodeely, M., Kloss, B., & Young, M. W. (1998). double-time is a novel *Drosophila* clock gene that regulates PERIOD protein accumulation. *Cell*, *94*(1), 83-95.
- Price, T. J., Basbaum, A. I., Bresnahan, J., Chambers, J. F., De Koninck, Y., Edwards, R. R., . . . Dworkin, R. H. (2018). Transition to chronic pain: opportunities for novel therapeutics. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*, *19*(7), 383-384. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-018-0012-5
- Przybyła, G. W., Szychowski, K. A., & Gmiński, J. (2021). Paracetamol An old drug with new mechanisms of action. *Clinical and experimental pharmacology & physiology*, *48*(1), 3-19. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1681.13392
- Puhl III, H. L., Lu, V. B., Won, Y.-J., Sasson, Y., Hirsch, J. A., Ono, F., & Ikeda, S. R. (2014). Ancient origins of RGK protein function: modulation of voltage-gated calcium channels preceded the protostome and deuterostome split. *PLoS One*, *9*(7), e100694.
- Purves, D., Augustine, G., Fitzpatrick, D., Katz, L., LaMantia, A., McNamara, J., & Williams, S. (2001). Neuroscience 2nd edition. sunderland (ma) sinauer associates. *Types of Eye Movements and Their Functions*.
- Qi, Y., Mair, N., Kummer, K. K., Leitner, M. G., Camprubí-Robles, M., Langeslag, M., & Kress, M. (2018). Identification of chloride channels CLCN3 and CLCN5 mediating the excitatory Cl– currents activated by sphingosine-1-phosphate in sensory neurons. *Frontiers in molecular neuroscience*, *11*, 33.

- Qiao, H., Foote, M., Graham, K., Wu, Y., & Zhou, Y. (2014). 14-3-3 proteins are required for hippocampal long-term potentiation and associative learning and memory. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(14), 4801-4808.
- Quinn, W. G., Harris, W. A., & Benzer, S. (1974). Conditioned behavior in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 71(3), 708-712.
- R Core Team. (2021). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. In R Foundation for Statistical Computing http://www.R-project.org/
- Racine, M. (2018). Chronic pain and suicide risk: A comprehensive review. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, *87*, 269-280.
- Racine, M., Tousignant-Laflamme, Y., Kloda, L. A., Dion, D., Dupuis, G., & Choinière, M. (2012). A systematic literature review of 10 years of research on sex/gender and experimental pain perception—part 1: are there really differences between women and men? *Pain*, *153*(3), 602-618.
- Rahman, M. S., Akhtar, N., Jamil, H. M., Banik, R. S., & Asaduzzaman, S. M. (2015). TGF-β/BMP signaling and other molecular events: regulation of osteoblastogenesis and bone formation. *Bone research*, *3*(1), 1-20.
- Rainville, P., Duncan, G. H., Price, D. D., Carrier, B., & Bushnell, M. C. (1997). Pain Affect Encoded in Human Anterior Cingulate but not Somatosensory Cortex. *Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science)*, *277*(5328), 968-971. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.277.5328.968
- Raja, S. N., Carr, D. B., Cohen, M., Finnerup, N. B., Flor, H., Gibson, S., . . . Sluka, K. A. (2020). The revised International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. *Pain*, 161(9), 1976-1982.
- Rao, Q., Zeng, J., Wang, S., Hao, J., & Jiang, M. (2022). Chronic Pain and Quality of Life in Maintenance Hemodialysis Patients in China: A Multicenter, Cross-Sectional Study. *Journal of Pain Research*, 15, 147.
- Ratcliffe, G. E., Enns, M. W., Belik, S.-L., & Sareen, J. (2008). Chronic pain conditions and suicidal ideation and suicide attempts: an epidemiologic perspective. *The Clinical journal of pain*, *24*(3), 204-210.
- Reichling, D. B., & Levine, J. D. (2009). Critical role of nociceptor plasticity in chronic pain. *Trends in neurosciences*, *32*(12), 611-618.
- Reinscheid, R. K., Nothacker, H.-P., & Civelli, O. (2000). The orphanin FQ/nociceptin gene: structure, tissue distribution of expression and functional implications obtained from knockout mice. *Peptides*, *21*(7), 901-906.
- Reiter, L. T., Potocki, L., Chien, S., Gribskov, M., & Bier, E. (2001). A systematic analysis of human disease-associated gene sequences in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Genome Res*, 11(6), 1114-1125. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.169101

- Richardson, J. D., & Vasko, M. R. (2002). Cellular Mechanisms of Neurogenic Inflammation. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *302*(3), 839-845. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.102.032797
- Riggleman, B., Schedl, P., & Wieschaus, E. (1990). Spatial expression of the *Drosophila* segment polarity gene armadillo is posttranscriptionally regulated by wingless. *Cell*, *63*(3), 549-560.
- Ringnér, M. (2008). What is principal component analysis? *Nature biotechnology*, *26*(3), 303-304.
- Ritz, L. A., & Greenspan, J. D. (1985). Morphological features of lamina V neurons receiving nociceptive input in cat sacrocaudal spinal cord. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 238(4), 440-452.
- Rodríguez, L. A. G., & Hernández-Díaz, S. (2001). Relative risk of upper gastrointestinal complications among users of acetaminophen and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. *Epidemiology*, 570-576.
- Rosso, S. B., Sussman, D., Wynshaw-Boris, A., & Salinas, P. C. (2005). Wnt signaling through Dishevelled, Rac and JNK regulates dendritic development. *Nature neuroscience*, 8(1), 34-42.
- Roth, G. J., Stanford, N., & Majerus, P. W. (1975). Acetylation of prostaglandin synthase by aspirin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 72(8), 3073-3076.
- RStudio Team. (2021). *RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R*. In *Boston, MA* (Version 2021.9.1.372) RStudio, PBC. http://www.rstudio.com/
- Rudrappa, G. H., Chakravarthi, P. T., & Benny, I. R. (2020). Efficacy of high-dissolution turmeric-sesame formulation for pain relief in adult subjects with acute musculoskeletal pain compared to acetaminophen: A randomized controlled study. *Medicine*, *99*(28).
- Russell, F. A., Veldhoen, V. E., Tchitchkan, D., & McDougall, J. J. (2010). Proteinase-activated receptor-4 (PAR4) activation leads to sensitization of rat joint primary afferents via a bradykinin B2 receptor-dependent mechanism. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *103*(1), 155-163.
- Réthelyi, M., Light, A. R., & Perl, E. R. (1982). Synaptic complexes formed by functionally defined primary afferent units with fine myelinated fibers. *Journal of comparative neurology (1911), 207*(4), 381.
- Safieh-Garabedian, B., Poole, S., Allchorne, A., Winter, J., & Woolf, C. J. (1995). Contribution of interleukin-1β to the inflammation-induced increase in nerve growth factor levels and inflammatory hyperalgesia. *British journal of pharmacology*, *115*(7), 1265-1275. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.1995.tb15035.x
- Saller, E., Kelley, A., & Bienz, M. (2002). The transcriptional repressor Brinker antagonizes Wingless signaling. *Genes & Development*, *16*(14), 1828-1838.
- Salvaterra, P. M., & Kitamoto, T. (2001). *Drosophila* cholinergic neurons and processes visualized with Gal4/UAS–GFP. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 1(1), 73-82.

- Salzer, I., Ray, S., Schicker, K., & Boehm, S. (2019). Nociceptor Signalling through ion Channel Regulation via GPCRs. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 20(10), 2488. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20102488
- Sandkühler, J., Stelzer, B., & Fu, Q. G. (1993). Characteristics of propriospinal modulation of nociceptive lumbar spinal dorsal horn neurons in the cat. *Neuroscience*, *54*(4), 957-967. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(93)90587-6
- Sar, M., Stumpf, W. E., Miller, R. J., Chang, K.-J., & Cuatrecasas, P. (1978). Immunohistochemical localization of enkephalin in rat brain and spinal cord. *Journal of comparative neurology (1911)*, 182(1), 17-37. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901820103
- Scamps, F., Sangari, S., Bowerman, M., Rousset, M., Bellis, M., Cens, T., & Charnet, P. (2015). Nerve injury induces a Gem-GTPase-dependent downregulation of P/Q-type Ca 2+ channels contributing to neurite plasticity in dorsal root ganglion neurons. *Pflügers Archiv-European Journal of Physiology*, *467*(2), 351-366.
- Schaefer, K. N., Bonello, T. T., Zhang, S., Williams, C. E., Roberts, D. M., McKay, D. J., & Peifer, M. (2018).
 Supramolecular assembly of the beta-catenin destruction complex and the effect of Wnt signaling on its localization, molecular size, and activity in vivo. *PLoS genetics*, *14*(4), e1007339.
- Schaible, H.-G., Ebersberger, A., & Natura, G. (2011). Update on peripheral mechanisms of pain: beyond prostaglandins and cytokines. *Arthritis research & therapy*, *13*(2), 1-8.
- Schatz, A. R., Lee, M., Condie, R. B., Pulaski, J. T., & Kaminski, N. E. (1997). Cannabinoid receptors CB1 and CB2: a characterization of expression and adenylate cyclase modulation within the immune system. Toxicology and applied pharmacology, 142(2), 278-287.
- Schindelin, J., Arganda-Carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., . . . Schmid, B. (2012). Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nature methods*, *9*(7), 676-682.
- Schmidt, R., Schmelz, M., Forster, C., Ringkamp, M., Torebjork, E., & Handwerker, H. (1995). Novel classes of responsive and unresponsive C nociceptors in human skin. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *15*(1), 333-341.
- Scholz, A., Kuboyama, N., Hempelmann, G., & Vogel, W. (1998). Complex blockade of TTX-resistant Na+ currents by lidocaine and bupivacaine reduce firing frequency in DRG neurons. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 79(4), 1746-1754.
- Scholz, J., Finnerup, N. B., Attal, N., Aziz, Q., Baron, R., Bennett, M. I., . . . Davis, K. D. (2019). The IASP classification of chronic pain for ICD-11: chronic neuropathic pain. *Pain*, *160*(1), 53.
- Schroll, C., Riemensperger, T., Bucher, D., Ehmer, J., Völler, T., Erbguth, K., . . . Buchner, E. (2006). Lightinduced activation of distinct modulatory neurons triggers appetitive or aversive learning in *Drosophila* larvae. *Current biology*, *16*(17), 1741-1747.

- Schug, S. A., Lavand'homme, P., Barke, A., Korwisi, B., Rief, W., & Treede, R.-D. (2019). The IASP classification of chronic pain for ICD-11: chronic postsurgical or posttraumatic pain. *Pain*, 160(1), 45-52.
- Sears, J. C., & Broihier, H. T. (2016). FoxO regulates microtubule dynamics and polarity to promote dendrite branching in *Drosophila* sensory neurons. *Developmental biology*, *418*(1), 40-54.
- Seibert, K., Zhang, Y., Leahy, K., Hauser, S., Masferrer, J., Perkins, W., . . . Isakson, P. (1994).
 Pharmacological and biochemical demonstration of the role of cyclooxygenase 2 in inflammation and pain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *91*(25), 12013-12017.
- Sherrington, C. S. (1903). Qualitative difference of spinal reflex corresponding with qualitative difference of cutaneous stimulus. *The Journal of physiology*, *30*(1), 39-46. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1903.sp000980
- Shimono, K., Fujimoto, A., Tsuyama, T., Yamamoto-Kochi, M., Sato, M., Hattori, Y., . . . Uemura, T. (2009). Multidendritic sensory neurons in the adult *Drosophila* abdomen: origins, dendritic morphology, and segment-and age-dependent programmed cell death. *Neural development*, 4(1), 1-21.
- Shin, M., Copeland, J. M., & Venton, B. J. (2018). Drosophila as a Model System for Neurotransmitter Measurements. ACS chemical neuroscience, 9(8), 1872-1883. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.7b00456
- Sholl, D. A. (1953). Dendritic organization in the neurons of the visual and motor cortices of the cat. *Journal of anatomy*, 87(Pt 4), 387.
- Simcha, I., Shtutman, M., Salomon, D., Zhurinsky, J., Sadot, E., Geiger, B., & Ben-Ze'ev, A. (1998). Differential nuclear translocation and transactivation potential of β-catenin and plakoglobin. *The Journal of cell biology*, 141(6), 1433-1448.
- Simon, E. J., Hiller, J. M., & Edelman, I. (1973). Stereospecific binding of the potent narcotic analgesic (3H) Etorphine to rat-brain homogenate. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 70(7), 1947-1949. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.70.7.1947
- Simonetti, M., Agarwal, N., Stösser, S., Bali, K. K., Karaulanov, E., Kamble, R., . . . Niehrs, C. (2014). Wnt-Fzd signaling sensitizes peripheral sensory neurons via distinct noncanonical pathways. *Neuron*, *83*(1), 104-121.
- Simões, J. M., Levy, J. I., Zaharieva, E. E., Vinson, L. T., Zhao, P., Alpert, M. H., . . . Gallio, M. (2021). Robustness and plasticity in *Drosophila* heat avoidance. *Nature communications*, *12*(1), 1-15.
- Sites, B. D., Beach, M. L., & Davis, M. A. (2014). Increases in the use of prescription opioid analgesics and the lack of improvement in disability metrics among users. *Regional Anesthesia & Pain Medicine*, 39(1), 6-12.

- Sivilotti, L., & Woolf, C. J. (1994). The contribution of GABAA and glycine receptors to central sensitization: disinhibition and touch-evoked allodynia in the spinal cord. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 72(1), 169-179.
- Siviter, R. J., Coast, G. M., Winther, Å. M., Nachman, R. J., Taylor, C. A., Shirras, A. D., . . . Nässel, D. R. (2000). Expression and functional characterization of a *Drosophila* neuropeptide precursor with homology to mammalian preprotachykinin A. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(30), 23273-23280.
- Siwicki, K. K., Eastman, C., Petersen, G., Rosbash, M., & Hall, J. C. (1988). Antibodies to the period gene product of *Drosophila* reveal diverse tissue distribution and rhythmic changes in the visual system. *Neuron*, 1(2), 141-150.
- Smart, D., Gunthorpe, M., Jerman, J., Nasir, S., Gray, J., Muir, A., . . . Davis, J. (2000). The endogenous lipid anandamide is a full agonist at the human vanilloid receptor (hVR1). *British journal of pharmacology*, *129*(2), 227-230.
- Smedley, D., Haider, S., Durinck, S., Pandini, L., Provero, P., Allen, J., . . . Barbiera, G. (2015). The BioMart community portal: an innovative alternative to large, centralized data repositories. *Nucleic acids research*, *43*(W1), W589-W598.
- Smith, W. L., DeWitt, D. L., & Garavito, R. M. (2000). Cyclooxygenases: structural, cellular, and molecular biology. Annual review of biochemistry, 69(1), 145-182.
- Smith, E. S. J., & Lewin, G. R. (2009). Nociceptors: a phylogenetic view. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, *195*(12), 1089-1106.
- Sorg, M. H. (2021). Maine Drug Death Report for 2020.
- Spreafico, R., Hayes, N. L., & Rustioni, A. (1981). Thalamic projections to the primary and secondary somatosensory cortices in cat: Single and double retrograde tracer studies. *Journal of comparative neurology (1911), 203*(1), 67-90. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902030107
- Stamos, J. L., & Weis, W. I. (2013). The β-catenin destruction complex. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, *5*(1), a007898.
- Stanko, J. P., Easterling, M. R., & Fenton, S. E. (2015). Application of Sholl analysis to quantify changes in growth and development in rat mammary gland whole mounts. *Reproductive Toxicology*, *54*, 129-135.
- Steen, K. H., Reeh, P. W., Anton, F., & Handwerker, H. O. (1992). Protons selectively induce lasting excitation and sensitization to mechanical stimulation of nociceptors in rat skin, in vitro. *The Journal of neuroscience*, 12(1), 86-95. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.12-01-00086.1992
- Steen, K. H., Steen, A. E., & Reeh, P. W. (1995). A dominant role of acid pH in inflammatory excitation and sensitization of nociceptors in rat skin, in vitro. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *15*(5), 3982-3989.

- Steinhoff, M., Vergnolle, N., Young, S., Tognetto, M., Amadesi, S., Ennes, H., . . . Caughey, G. (2000).
 Agonists of proteinase-activated receptor 2 induce inflammation by a neurogenic mechanism.
 Nature medicine, 6(2), 151-158.
- Stevens, R. T., London, S. M., & Vania Apkarian, A. (1993). Spinothalamocortical projections to the secondary somatosensory cortex (SII) in squirrel monkey. *Brain research*, 631(2), 241-246. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(93)91541-Y
- Stowers, R. S., Garza, D., Rascle, A., & Hogness, D. S. (2000). The L63 gene is necessary for the ecdysoneinduced 63E late puff and encodes CDK proteins required for *Drosophila* development. *Developmental biology*, 221(1), 23-40.
- Städeli, R., Hoffmans, R., & Basler, K. (2006). Transcription under the Control of Nuclear Arm/β-Catenin. *Current Biology*, *16*(10), R378-R385. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2006.04.019
- Ständer, S., Gunzer, M., Metze, D., Luger, T., & Steinhoff, M. (2002). Localization of μ-opioid receptor 1A on sensory nerve fibers in human skin. *Regulatory peptides*, *110*(1), 75-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-0115(02)00159-3
- Sugiuar, T., Bielefeldt, K., & Gebhart, G. (2004). TRPV1 function in mouse colon sensory neurons is enhanced by metabotropic 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor activation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(43), 9521-9530.
- Sugiura, T., Kondo, S., Sukagawa, A., Nakane, S., Shinoda, A., Itoh, K., . . . Waku, K. (1995). 2-Arachidonoylgylcerol: a possible endogenous cannabinoid receptor ligand in brain. Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 215(1), 89-97.
- Sugiura, Y., Lee, C. L., & Perl, E. R. (1986). Projections of identified, unmyelinated afferent fibers innervating mammalian skin. Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science), 234, 358.
- Sulkowski, M. J., Kurosawa, M. S., & Cox, D. N. (2011). Growing pains: development of the larval nocifensive response in *Drosophila*. *The Biological Bulletin*, 221(3), 300-306.
- Svendsen, K. B., Sørensen, L., Jensen, T. S., Hansen, H. J., & Bach, F. W. (2010). MRI of the central nervous system in MS patients with and without pain. *European journal of pain*, 15(4), 395-401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2010.09.006
- Sweeney, S. T., Broadie, K., Keane, J., Niemann, H., & O'Kane, C. J. (1995). Targeted expression of tetanus toxin light chain in *Drosophila* specifically eliminates synaptic transmission and causes behavioral defects. *Neuron*, 14(2), 341-351.
- Szuperak, M., Churgin, M. A., Borja, A. J., Raizen, D. M., Fang-Yen, C., & Kayser, M. S. (2018). A sleep state in *Drosophila* larvae required for neural stem cell proliferation. *eLife*, 7, e33220. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.33220

- Tajerian, M., Hung, V., Nguyen, H., Lee, G., Joubert, L.-M., Malkovskiy, A. V., . . . Clark, J. D. (2018). The hippocampal extracellular matrix regulates pain and memory after injury. *Molecular psychiatry*, *23*(12), 2302-2313.
- Talagas, M., Lebonvallet, N., Leschiera, R., Elies, P., Marcorelles, P., & Misery, L. (2020). Intra-epidermal nerve endings progress within keratinocyte cytoplasmic tunnels in normal human skin. Experimental Dermatology, 29(4), 387-392.
- Talbot, J. D., Marrett, S., Evans, A. C., Meyer, E., Bushnell, M. C., & Duncan, G. H. (1991). Multiple Representations of Pain in Human Cerebral Cortex. *Science (American Association for the Advancement of Science)*, 251(4999), 1355-1358. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2003220
- Tang, N. K., & Crane, C. (2006). Suicidality in chronic pain: a review of the prevalence, risk factors and psychological links. *Psychological medicine*, *36*(5), 575-586.
- Tenenbaum, C. M., Misra, M., Alizzi, R. A., & Gavis, E. R. (2017). Enclosure of dendrites by epidermal cells restricts branching and permits coordinated development of spatially overlapping sensory neurons. *Cell reports*, *20*(13), 3043-3056.
- Therneau, T. (2020). A package for survival analysis in R. R package version 3.1-12.)^(eds) Book A Package for Survival Analysis in R. R package version, 3.1-12.
- Thomas, A., Lee, P.-J., Dalton, J. E., Nomie, K. J., Stoica, L., Costa-Mattioli, M., . . . Dierick, H. A. (2012). A versatile method for cell-specific profiling of translated mRNAs in *Drosophila*. *PloS one*, *7*(7).
- Thomas, D. A., Navarrete, I. M., Graham, B. A., McGowan, M. K., & Hammond, D. L. (1996). Antinociception produced by systemic R (+)-baclofen hydrochloride is attenuated by CGP 35348 administered to the spinal cord or ventromedial medulla of rats. *Brain research*, *718*(1-2), 129-137.
- Todd, A. J. (2010). Neuronal circuitry for pain processing in the dorsal horn. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *11*(12), 823-836.
- Tolwinski, N. S. (2017). Introduction: *Drosophila*—A model system for developmental biology. In (Vol. 5, pp. 9): Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute.
- Tolwinski, N. S., Wehrli, M., Rives, A., Erdeniz, N., DiNardo, S., & Wieschaus, E. (2003). Wg/Wnt signal can be transmitted through arrow/LRP5, 6 and Axin independently of Zw3/Gsk3β activity. *Developmental cell*, *4*(3), 407-418.
- Tolwinski, N. S., & Wieschaus, E. (2001). Armadillo nuclear import is regulated by cytoplasmic anchor Axin and nuclear anchor dTCF/Pan.
- Toyooka, H., Kitahata, L. M., Dohi, S., Ohtani, M., Hanaoka, K., & Taub, A. (1978). Effects of morphine on the Rexed lamina VII spinal neuronal response to graded noxious radiant heat stimulation. *Experimental Neurology*, 62(1), 146-158. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4886(78)90047-X

- Tracey, I. (2005). Nociceptive processing in the human brain. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *15*(4), 478-487. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2005.06.010
- Tracey Jr, W. D., Wilson, R. I., Laurent, G., & Benzer, S. (2003). painless, a *Drosophila* gene essential for nociception. *Cell*, *113*(2), 261-273.
- Treede, R.-D., Rief, W., Barke, A., Aziz, Q., Bennett, M. I., Benoliel, R., . . . First, M. B. (2015). A classification of chronic pain for ICD-11. *Pain*, *156*(6), 1003.
- Treede, R.-D., Rief, W., Barke, A., Aziz, Q., Bennett, M. I., Benoliel, R., . . . First, M. B. (2019). Chronic pain as a symptom or a disease: the IASP Classification of Chronic Pain for the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11). *Pain*, *160*(1), 19-27.
- Tsubouchi, A., Caldwell, Jason C., & Tracey, W. D. (2012). Dendritic Filopodia, Ripped Pocket, NOMPC, and NMDARs Contribute to the Sense of Touch in *Drosophila* Larvae. *Current Biology*, 22(22), 2124-2134. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2012.09.019
- Tsuda, M., Kamimura, K., Nakato, H., Archer, M., Staatz, W., Fox, B., . . . Kaluza, V. (1999). The cellsurface proteoglycan Dally regulates Wingless signalling in *Drosophila*. *Nature*, 400(6741), 276-280.
- Turner, H. N., Patel, A. A., Cox, D. N., & Galko, M. J. (2018). Injury-induced cold sensitization in Drosophila larvae involves behavioral shifts that require the TRP channel Brv1. PLOS ONE, 13(12), e0209577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0209577</u>
- Uchida, N., Honjo, Y., Johnson, K. R., Wheelock, M. J., & Takeichi, M. (1996). The catenin/cadherin adhesion system is localized in synaptic junctions bordering transmitter release zones. The Journal of cell biology, 135(3), 767-779.
- van Amerongen, R., Fuerer, C., Mizutani, M., & Nusse, R. (2012). Wnt5a can both activate and repress Wnt/β-catenin signaling during mouse embryonic development. *Developmental Biology*, *369*(1), 101-114. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2012.06.020
- Van de Wetering, M., Cavallo, R., Dooijes, D., van Beest, M., van Es, J., Loureiro, J., . . . Bejsovec, A. (1997). Armadillo coactivates transcription driven by the product of the *Drosophila* segment polarity gene dTCF. *Cell*, *88*(6), 789-799.
- Vasko, M. R., Campbell, W. B., & Waite, K. J. (1994). Prostaglandin E2 enhances bradykinin-stimulated release of neuropeptides from rat sensory neurons in culture. *The Journal of neuroscience*, 14(8), 4987-4997. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.14-08-04987.1994</u>
- Vearrier, D., & Grundmann, O. (2021). Clinical Pharmacology, Toxicity, and Abuse Potential of Opioids. *Journal of clinical pharmacology*, *61*(S2), S70-S88. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcph.1923
- Venkatasubramanian, L., & Mann, R. S. (2019). The development and assembly of the *Drosophila* adult ventral nerve cord. *Current opinion in neurobiology*, 56, 135-143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2019.01.013

- Verheyen, E. M., & Gottardi, C. J. (2010). Regulation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling by protein kinases. Developmental dynamics: an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists, 239(1), 34-44.
- Vernon, M. K., Reinders, S., Mannix, S., Gullo, K., Gorodetzky, C. W., & Clinch, T. (2016). Psychometric evaluation of the 10-item Short Opiate Withdrawal Scale-Gossop (SOWS-Gossop) in patients undergoing opioid detoxification. *Addictive behaviors*, 60, 109-116.
- Versteven, M., Broeck, L. V., Geurten, B., Zwarts, L., Decraecker, L., Beelen, M., . . . Callaerts, P. (2017). Hearing regulates *Drosophila* aggression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(8), 1958-1963.
- Viswanath, V., Story, G. M., Peier, A. M., Petrus, M. J., Lee, V. M., Hwang, S. W., . . . Jegla, T. (2003). Opposite thermosensor in fruitfly and mouse. *Nature*, *423*(6942), 822-823.
- Vosshall, L. B., Price, J. L., Sehgal, A., Saez, L., & Young, M. W. (1994). Block in nuclear localization of period protein by a second clock mutation, timeless. *Science*, *263*(5153), 1606-1609.
- Vowles, K. E., McEntee, M. L., Julnes, P. S., Frohe, T., Ney, J. P., & van der Goes, D. N. (2015). Rates of opioid misuse, abuse, and addiction in chronic pain: a systematic review and data synthesis. *Pain*, 156(4), 569-576.
- Waddell, S., & Quinn, W. G. (2001). What can we teach *Drosophila*? What can they teach us? *TRENDS in Genetics*, *17*(12), 719-726.
- Waghmare, I., & Page-McCaw, A. (2018). Wnt signaling in stem cell maintenance and differentiation in the *Drosophila* germarium. *Genes*, *9*(3), 127.
- Wagner, R., & Myers, R. R. (1996). Schwann cells produce tumor necrosis factor alpha: expression in injured and non-injured nerves. *Neuroscience*, 73(3), 625-629. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(96)00127-3
- Wang, J.-Y., Huang, J., Chang, J.-Y., Woodward, D. J., & Luo, F. (2009). Morphine modulation of pain processing in medial and lateral pain pathways. *Molecular Pain*, *5*, 1744-8069-1745-1760.
- Wang, R. N., Green, J., Wang, Z., Deng, Y., Qiao, M., Peabody, M., . . . Denduluri, S. (2014). Bone Morphogenetic Protein (BMP) signaling in development and human diseases. *Genes & diseases*, 1(1), 87-105.
- Wang, X., Arcuino, G., Takano, T., Lin, J., Peng, W. G., Wan, P., . . . Goldman, S. A. (2004). P2X7 receptor inhibition improves recovery after spinal cord injury. *Nature medicine*, *10*(8), 821-827.
- Ward, Y., Spinelli, B., Quon, M., Chen, H., Ikeda, S., & Kelly, K. (2004). Phosphorylation of critical serine residues in Gem separates cytoskeletal reorganization from down-regulation of calcium channel activity. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 24(2), 651-661.
- Webster, N., Jin, J. R., Green, S., Hollis, M., & Chambon, P. (1988). The yeast UASG is a transcriptional enhancer in human HeLa cells in the presence of the GAL4 trans-activator. *Cell*, *52*(2), 169-178.

- Welsh, G. I., Wilson, C., & Proud, C. G. (1996). GSK3: a SHAGGY frog story. *Trends in Cell Biology*, *6*(7), 274-279. https://doi.org/10.1016/0962-8924(96)10023-4
- Werz, M. A., & Macdonald, R. L. (1983). Opioid peptides selective for mu- and delta-opiate receptors reduce calcium-dependent action potential duration by increasing potassium conductance. *Neuroscience letters*, 42(2), 173-178. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(83)90402-0
- Wesson, D. R., & Ling, W. (2003). The clinical opiate withdrawal scale (COWS). *Journal of psychoactive drugs*, *35*(2), 253-259.
- White, P., Aberle, H., & Vincent, J.-P. (1998). Signaling and adhesion activities of mammalian β-catenin and plakoglobin in *Drosophila*. *The Journal of cell biology*, *140*(1), 183-195.
- Wiffen, P. J., Derry, S., Bell, R. F., Rice, A. S., Tölle, T. R., Phillips, T., & Moore, R. A. (2017). Gabapentin for chronic neuropathic pain in adults. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 6, CD007938. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD007938.pub4
- Wilke, B. U., Kummer, K. K., Leitner, M. G., & Kress, M. (2020). Chloride–the underrated ion in nociceptors. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 14, 287.
- Willis, W. D., Kenshalo Jr, D. R., & Leonard, R. B. (1979). The cells of origin of the primate spinothalamic tract. *Journal of comparative neurology (1911)*, 188(4), 543-573. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901880404
- Woolf, C. J., & Ma, Q. (2007). Nociceptors—Noxious Stimulus Detectors. *Neuron*, 55(3), 353-364. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2007.07.016
- Woolf, C. J., Shortland, P., & Coggeshall, R. E. (1992). Peripheral nerve injury triggers central sprouting of myelinated afferents. *Nature*, *355*(6355), 75-78.
- Wu, Q., Wen, T., Lee, G., Park, J. H., Cai, H. N., & Shen, P. (2003). Developmental control of foraging and social behavior by the *Drosophila* neuropeptide Y-like system. *Neuron*, *39*(1), 147-161.
- Xie, G., Wang, Y., Sharma, M., Gabriel, A., Mitchell, J., Xing, Y., . . . Pierce Palmer, P. (2003). 5 Hydroxytryptamine-induced plasma extravasation in the rat knee joint is mediated by multiple prostaglandins. *Inflammation Research*, 52(1), 032-038.
- Xie, W. L., Chipman, J. G., Robertson, D. L., Erikson, R. L., & Simmons, D. L. (1991). Expression of a mitogen-responsive gene encoding prostaglandin synthase is regulated by mRNA splicing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 88(7), 2692-2696. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.7.2692
- Xu, J., Sornborger, A. T., Lee, J. K., & Shen, P. (2008). Drosophila TRPA channel modulates sugarstimulated neural excitation, avoidance and social response. Nature neuroscience, 11(6), 676-682.

- Xu, S., Cang, C., Liu, X., Peng, Y., Ye, Y., Zhao, Z., & Guo, A. (2006). Thermal nociception in adult Drosophila: behavioral characterization and the role of the painless gene. Genes, Brain and Behavior, 5(8), 602-613.
- Yam, M. F., Loh, Y. C., Tan, C. S., Khadijah Adam, S., Abdul Manan, N., & Basir, R. (2018). General Pathways of Pain Sensation and the Major Neurotransmitters Involved in Pain Regulation. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 19(8), 2164. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19082164
- Yanagawa, S.-i., Lee, J.-S., Matsuda, Y., & Ishimoto, A. (2000). Biochemical characterization of the Drosophila axin protein. FEBS letters, 474(2-3), 189-194.
- Yanagawa, S. i., Matsuda, Y., Lee, J. S., Matsubayashi, H., Sese, S., Kadowaki, T., & Ishimoto, A. (2002). Casein kinase I phosphorylates the Armadillo protein and induces its degradation in *Drosophila*. *The EMBO journal*, *21*(7), 1733-1742.
- Yang, T., Puckerin, A., & Colecraft, H. M. (2012). Distinct RGK GTPases differentially use α 1-and auxiliary β -binding-dependent mechanisms to inhibit CaV1. 2/CaV2. 2 channels. *PLoS One*, 7(5).
- Yang, T., Xu, X., Kernan, T., Wu, V., & Colecraft, H. M. (2010). Rem, a member of the RGK GTPases, inhibits recombinant CaV1. 2 channels using multiple mechanisms that require distinct conformations of the GTPase. *The Journal of physiology*, 588(10), 1665-1681.
- Yong, R. J., Mullins, P. M., & Bhattacharyya, N. (2021). Prevalence of chronic pain among adults in the United States. *Pain*.
- Yong, R. J., Mullins, P. M., & Bhattacharyya, N. (2022). Prevalence of chronic pain among adults in the United States. *Pain*, *163*(2), e328-e332.
- Yoshimura, M., & Furue, H. (2006). Mechanisms for the Anti-nociceptive Actions of the Descending Noradrenergic and Serotonergic Systems in the Spinal Cord. *Journal of pharmacological sciences*, 101(2), 107-117. https://doi.org/10.1254/jphs.CRJ06008X
- Yoshino, J., Morikawa, R. K., Hasegawa, E., & Emoto, K. (2017). Neural circuitry that evokes escape behavior upon activation of nociceptive sensory neurons in *Drosophila* larvae. *Current Biology*, 27(16), 2499-2504. e2493.
- Young, R. F., & Chambi, V. I. (1987). Pain relief by electrical stimulation of the periaqueductal and periventricular gray matter. Evidence for a non-opioid mechanism. *J Neurosurg*, *66*(3), 364-371. https://doi.org/10.3171/jns.1987.66.3.0364
- Yu, X., & Malenka, R. C. (2003). β-catenin is critical for dendritic morphogenesis. Nature Neuroscience, 6(11), 1169-1177. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1132
- Yu, X., Waltzer, L., & Bienz, M. (1999). A new *Drosophila* APC homologue associated with adhesive zones of epithelial cells. *Nature cell biology*, 1(3), 144-151.
- Yuan, S., Shi, Y., & Tang, S.-J. (2012). Wnt signaling in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis-associated chronic pain. *Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology*, 7(4), 904-913.

- Zarrindast, M.-R., Dinkoub, Z., Homayoun, H., Bakhtiarian, A., & Khavandgar, S. (2002). Dopamine receptor mechanism(s) and morphine tolerance in mice. *Journal of psychopharmacology* (*Oxford*), *16*(3), 261-266. https://doi.org/10.1177/026988110201600312
- Zehring, W. A., Wheeler, D. A., Reddy, P., Konopka, R. J., Kyriacou, C. P., Rosbash, M., & Hall, J. C. (1984).
 P-element transformation with period locus DNA restores rhythmicity to mutant, arrhythmic Drosophila melanogaster. Cell, 39(2), 369-376.
- Zeidan, F., Martucci, K. T., Kraft, R. A., Gordon, N. S., McHaffie, J. G., & Coghill, R. C. (2011). Brain mechanisms supporting the modulation of pain by mindfulness meditation. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 31(14), 5540-5548. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5791-10.2011
- Zelaya, C. E., Dahlhamer, J. M., Lucas, J. W., & Connor, E. M. (2020). Chronic pain and high-impact chronic pain among US adults, 2019.
- Zhang, L., Hoff, A. O., Wimalawansa, S. J., Cote, G. J., Gagel, R. F., & Westlund, K. N. (2001). Arthritic calcitonin/α calcitonin gene-related peptide knockout mice have reduced nociceptive hypersensitivity. Pain, 89(2), 265-273. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(00)00378-X
- Zhang, L., Jia, J., Wang, B., Amanai, K., Wharton Jr, K. A., & Jiang, J. (2006). Regulation of wingless signaling by the CKI family in *Drosophila* limb development. *Developmental biology*, 299(1), 221-237.
- Zhang, Y., Zhao, D., Li, X., Gao, B., Sun, C., Zhou, S., . . . Xu, D. (2021). The Wnt/β-Catenin Pathway Regulated Cytokines for Pathological Neuropathic Pain in Chronic Compression of Dorsal Root Ganglion Model. *Neural Plasticity*, 2021.
- Zhang, Y.-K., Huang, Z.-J., Liu, S., Liu, Y.-P., Song, A. A., & Song, X.-J. (2013). WNT signaling underlies the pathogenesis of neuropathic pain in rodents. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *123*(5), 2268-2286.
- Zhang, Z.-L., Yu, G., Peng, J., Wang, H.-B., Li, Y.-L., Liang, X.-N., . . . Gong, Z.-H. (2020). Wnt1/β-catenin signaling upregulates spinal VGLUT2 expression to control neuropathic pain in mice. *Neuropharmacology*, *164*, 107869.
- Zhao, M., Qiao, M., Harris, S. E., Chen, D., Oyajobi, B. O., & Mundy, G. R. (2006). The zinc finger transcription factor Gli2 mediates bone morphogenetic protein 2 expression in osteoblasts in response to hedgehog signaling. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 26(16), 6197-6208.
- Zhao, Y., & Yang, Z. (2018). Effect of Wnt signaling pathway on pathogenesis and intervention of neuropathic pain. *Experimental and therapeutic medicine*, *16*(4), 3082-3088.
- Zhong, L., Bellemer, A., Yan, H., Honjo, K., Robertson, J., Hwang, R. Y., . . . Tracey, W. D. (2012).
 Thermosensory and nonthermosensory isoforms of *Drosophila melanogaster* TRPA1 reveal heatsensor domains of a thermoTRP Channel. *Cell reports*, 1(1), 43-55.

- Zhong, L., Hwang, R. Y., & Tracey, W. D. (2010). Pickpocket Is a DEG/ENaC Protein Required for Mechanical Nociception in *Drosophila* Larvae. *Current Biology*, *20*(5), 429-434. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2009.12.057
- Zirin, J., Hu, Y., Liu, L., Yang-Zhou, D., Colbeth, R., Yan, D., . . . VanNest, S. (2020). Large-scale transgenic *Drosophila* resource collections for loss-and gain-of-function studies. *Genetics*, 214(4), 755-767.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1



*** indicates *p* < 0.001

APPENDIX 2





GO Biological Process



APPENDIX 3



GO Cellular Compartment

KEGG Pathway


BIOGRAPHY OF THE AUTHOR

Christine Hale was born in Newport News, Virginia where she spent the early years of her life before moving to the beautiful state of Tennessee. It was in Tennessee that she completed her high school degree in December 2002 and then also completed massage therapy school in 2007. After having worked full-time as a licensed massage therapist for many years, a period of time she was very grateful to have spent with clients, learning, and growing as a skilled professional in treating pain relief through massage and bodywork, she decided to go back to school to further her education. She first attended Jackson State Community College for her Associate of Science degree, where she was inspired by her encouraging Organic Chemistry professor, Dr. Karen Carey, to contemplate a life in scientific research. Following graduation in 2015, she continued her education at the University of Tennessee at Chattanooga (UTC) where she obtained a BS degree in Preprofessional Biology with Honors. It was at UTC where she experienced her first role in conducting independent, scientific research in the genetics laboratory of her former mentor and current friend, Dr. Margaret Kovach. She graduated from UTC in the summer of 2017 and within the same month had travelled to Maine to become part of the Graduate School of Biomedical Science and Engineering (GSBSE) program at The University of Maine. She made a comfortable home for herself to diligently explore the questions she had in scientific research in the welcoming laboratory of her current mentor, Dr. Geoff Ganter, at the University of New England. Christine is a candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Biomedical Science from the University of Maine in August 2022.

196